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MONDAY, JANUARY 23, 1995

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT,
Washington, D.C.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:04 a.m., in room
B-318, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Nancy L. Johnson
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.
[The press release announcing the hearing follows:|




ADVISORY

FROM THE COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT

FOR INMEDIATL RELEASK CONTACT. (202} 225-7601
January 13, 1995
No OV.1

JOHNSON ANNOUNCES HEARING ON CHILD WELFARE PROGRAMS

Congresswoman Nancs 1. Johnson (R-CT). Chairman of the Subcommittee on Oversight of
the Committee on Ways and Mcans, today announced that the subcommittee will hold a hearing 1o
examine whether federal child welfare programs could be streamlined to better help children. This
hearing will supplenient the Subcommitiee on Human Resources’ weifare reform responsibilitics
under the Contract with America  The hearing will be held on Monday, January 23, 1995, in
roum B-318 of the Rayburn Housc Office Building, beginning at 10:00 a.m.

In view of the Imited time available 1o hear witnesses. the subcommittee will receive
testimony from invited witnesses only.

BACKGROUND:

Child welfare services are intended 1o help improve the conditions of children and their
familics or 10 provide substitutes for functions parents have difficnlty performing. The primary
responsibility for child welfare services rests with the states. Fach state has its own legal and
admimstrative structures and programs that address the needs of children. and there are many
differences among the states.

The Federal Government also provides funding to the states for a broad range of child wclfare
serviees. For example, the Federal Government provides funds to states for. amaong other things,
family preservation and family support services. foster care, independent living, and adoption
assistance programs. Federal child welfare and foster care programs are intended to operate in
concert to help prevent the need for out-of-home placement of children and, in cases where such
placement is necessary, to provide protection and permanent placement of the children invatved.

Cangress enacted legislation in 1980 (Public | aw 96-272) designed 1o encourage states o use
child welfare funds 1o help keep tamilies together and prevent the placement of children in substitute
care  The 1980 Iegislation required that it the federal appropriation for the child welfare prograsn
ereeeds a setamount in any year, states would lose funds above this amount if they failed to put into
rlace a number af child protections. Over time, these “incentive funds” have grown in importance.

In response to Public Law 90-272, the Departiment of Health and Human Services (HHS)
identified a total of 18 c¢hild protections required by section 427 of the act. Under what came to be
kaown as "427 reviews.” the caseload of each state receiving incentive funds is exanined to
determine complianee with these child protections  Among the reviews HES requires states to
pertorm tor cach cnld are

(1} a desenpuion of the type of hame or mstution e which the child is o be placed,

(0 g disenssion of the appropriateness of the placement.

€3 a plan 1o achieve placement inthe least restoictive (most fanuly-hkey setting,

tdya plan for placement i clase proximity to the parents’ home, consistent with
the hest iterest and special needs of the elald,




(51 a statement of how the responsible ageney plans to carry out the voluntary
placement agreement or judicial determination:

(o1 a plan for ensurmg that the child will receve proper care: and

(71 a plan tur providing services to the parents, child. and foster Parents to improve
conditians in the parents” home and lacshitate the return of the clnld o the home. or
it i permanent placement

The heanng will focus on our natien™s 14 vears of experience with "427 reviews” to
determuine whether they have served w improve the lives of children. Over the past several years,

LG
consensus has been developing that the 427 reviews impose a costly and burdensome workload on
the states without providing any discermble benefit o the children i need of child welfare and foster
care services. The subcommitiee will hear testtmony from state child wellare administrators and
other miterested parties to examine whether climination of 427 reviews and block granting rederal
child weltare servaces and foster care programs back 1o the states will strengthen the states™ abilites
W deliver these impartant services to children,

Ay persan o organization wishing to subnut a written statement tor the printed recod of the
hearmg should submit at least sis (01 copres of their statement by the ¢lese of business on Tuesdas .
Febiuary 7. 1995, 10 Phillip 1D Mosetey. Chiel of Staff. Commitiee on Ways and Means. U 8. House
of Representatives. 1102 T ongwerth House Otfice Building, Washngton, 1D C 20515 1f those fiiing
written statements wish to have their statements distributed o the press and interested public at the
heaniag. they may deliver 200 ahlitional copies tor this purpose to the Subcommitiee on Oversiglt
effice. raom 136 1 oangworth House Office Bmlding, at least one hour before the hearing begms

FORMATLING REQUIREM

Eacb sutement presented for printfog to the Committer by $ wilarss, a0y writlen siatement or e3hIbil submitied for the printed record or aDy
wrilted comments la respoass (o a request lor writteo rommentls must conform Lo the guidellnes fisted beiow Any siatement or ezhibit oot In
tompllance wily these guldelires will wat be priated. but will te malntalned In the Commiuee files for roviow and use by the Commxities

1 Al clatements and kny accompanying ethibits for priatng must be typed In sia|
10 pages

opace on legal size paper and may not exceed a Lotal of

2 Coples of whole documerir submitled &S r2hiblt material will wol be accepled fnt prindng fasiead. r2hibil mat*rial should b® tefersnced and
guoled or parmpbrased Al exhibil material nol mestng thess specifications will be mainlained In the Commitiee Mres for roview knd ase by e
Commiure

3 Salemeats must contalo the .ame a5d eapacity (0 which Lh# witness will appear or, ror WTi'ien comments Lre pame end capaciiy of the
perion submiiting the w'stemnant a3 well A8 &AY ctlants of persoaa or any crganiratios for wbom the wimsss appears o for whom the siatement 13
submiuted

4 A supplemeutal sheel meel accompany each siatemenl l1sdag the name full address. a telephone Bumber Where the witness of the desiguated
Tepreseaiause may be reacned and a topleal outline of summary ol the comments and recommendatoas (n the full ~iatement. This aupplemental sbeet
wll pot b¢ lacluded (v the pricied record

The abore restricdons and limiatons apely only (0 material beiog subalitied for prinUdg  Stalements and exhibits or supplementary mairrinl
submitied solely Tor disuribution Lo the Members the press and the public during the course of a public bearing may be subaitied Ip other forms
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Chairman JOHNSON. Good morning. It is a pleasure to have you
all here today for the initial hearing of the Oversight Subcommit-
tee. The Oversight Subcommittee operates as a watchdog to ensure
that the laws and programs which Congress has enacted are being
carried out properly. While Congress passes laws, it is the execu-
tive branch that carries them out. Thus, one goal of congressional
oversight is to ensure that the executive branch is administering
the laws in a way that Congress intended.

Another goal is to review whether or not the original law is still
relevant to today’s problems. I can think of no other area where
this oversight role is more critically important than in reviewing
the effectiveness of Federal child welfare and foster care programs.
The children served by Federal and State welfare programs are the
most vulnerable members of our society. All too often they are the
victims of neglect, abandonment, and physical and sexual abuse.
No other segment of our society needs the protection of vigilant
oversight more than these children.

Under our system of government, the primary responsibility for
ﬁroviding child welfare services rests with the States. Each State

as its own legal and administrative structures and programs to
address the needs of abused and neglected children and there are
significant differences among the States. However, the Federal
Government also has provided funds to the States for a broad
range of child welfare services, including family preservation and
family support services, foster care, independent living, and adop-
tion assistance services, and this subcommittee has a long and hon-
orable history in helping to develop those Federal programs that
are then implemented through a partnership of enormons impor-
tance to the well-being of the children of America.

In 1980, Congress enacted the Adoption Assistance and Child
Welfare Act, which was designed to encourage States tc use child
welfare funds to help keep families together and prevent the place-
ment of children in substitute care. After the legislation’s passage,
the Department of Health and Human Services identified a total
of 18 separate child protections required by section 427 of the act.
Under what became known as the 427 reviews, the foster care
caseload of each State is examined to determine whether the State
has complied with these child protections.

Our hearing today will focus on our Nation’s 14 years of experi-
ence with section 427 reviews. Clearly, there was some improve-
ment in State child welfare and foster care programs in the years
immediately following passage of the 1980 act. By 1983, foster care
caseloads had dropped to 262,000 children from an estimated high
in 1977 of almost 500,000 children. However, that progress has re-
versed and in recent years the number has been on the rise again.
Many child welfare experts attribute this increase to the crack co-
caine epidemic which began in the mideighties and the rapid
growth of out-of-wedlock births over the past decade.

One of the fundamental underpinnings of the 1980 act was fam-
ily preservation. In other words, the act was premised on the belief
that it is generally in the best interest of children to live with their
own famiﬁes. To ensure that the States were using Federal funds
as Congress intended, tight strings were attached to their receipt,
including the possible loss of so-called “incentive funds” if the

8]
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States failed to put into place the child protections created under
section 427 of the act.

While family preservation is certainly a worthwhile goal, we
must also recognize that in too many cases today there is no family
left to be preserved. A large percentage of the c]zulildren now in sub-
stitute care in the United States have been neglected, physically or
sexually abused, or abandoned by drug addicted parents. We need
only recall the horrible pictures we saw on our television sets last
year of the 18 children found abandoned in a roach-infested Chi-
cago apartment—crawling in dog feces, many were in diapers that
hadn’t been changed for gays—to understanti, that family preserva-
tion isn’t always in the child’s best interest.

The question we must ask today is whether the structure of cur-
rent Federal child welfare programs and regulations continues to
best serve the interests of abused and neglected children or, as
some believe, has it evolved into a system which merely protects
growth in the welfare bureaucracy?

Over the past several years, a consensus has begun emerging
that while section 427 reviews impose a costly and burdensome
workload on the States, they do not provide any discernible benefit
to the children in need of child welfare and foster care services.
The irony is that a State may pass its section 427 reviews with
HHS but a court still may rule that its child welfare programs are
so mismanaged that it will place the programs under court receiv-
ership and that is exactly what is happening around the country
in many States today. Sadly, this is happening even in my own
State of Connecticut, which has been a leader in children’s services.

This naturally leads to the question if a State’s child welfare pro-
grams are to be found in compliance with Federal child protections
yet the programs are mismanaged and aren’t protecting the chil-
dren, what steps should be taken to improve the situation?

For years, the States have been telling Congress they need more
flexibility to decide how to target Federal child welfare funds to
where their particular needs are greatest. The time has come to lis-
ten to what the States have been telling us. Child welfare re-
sources must be refocused to serve the fundamental purposes of
protecting children.

Today, the subcommittee will consider whether elimination of the
427 reviews and block granting Federal child welfare services in
foster care programs back to the States will strengthen the States’
abilities to serve children in crisis.

We also want to hear the witnesses’ reviews about whether cer-
tain Federal standards and data gathering and reporting require-
ments will be necessary to ensure that the States use Federal block
grant funds to serve the best interests of America’s children.

We will receive testimony from the administration, from State
and child welfare administrators, and from advocacy groups and in-
dividuals on the frontline helping to serve abused and neglected
children.

I want to welcome all the members to our first Oversight Sub-
committee hearing, all the members of the committee, as well as
the witnesses and others who have joined us today. Our first wit-
ness is Mary Jo Bane, Assistant Secretary for Children for the De-
partment of Health and Human Services.
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Before I welcome Ms. Bane, let me yield to my ranking member,
the gentleman from California, Mr. Matsui.

Mr. Matsul. Thank you very much, Madam Chairwoman. I ap-
preciate very much the fact that you are yielding to me for an
opening statement.

I would like to commend you on the chairmanship on this very
important Oversight Subcommittee. Many of you may not know
this, but Chairwoman Johnson chaired the oversight subcommittee
in the Connecticut Legislature and did a great job, from what I un-
derstand, in talking to other people in terms of the oversight of
many of the programs. We look forward to working with you and
obviously the other members of the subcommittee, as well.

If 1 may just be very brief in my remarks, some are talking at
this time about block granting many of the child welfare and AFDC
and other social programs of the Federal Government. There is just
no question that the child welfare programs themselves, IV-E,
IV-B and others, are probably the ultimate safety net for our
ounfg children in America. If we block grant, for example, AFDC
enefits and we have very strict time limits in those benefits and

if, in fact, they are discretionary programs rather than entitlement
programs, this will undoubtedly put many young women and chil-
dren at-risk in America. We will then need a safety net. And of
course that safety net will become and always has been the child
welfare system. To block grant those programs and put those under
a discretionary program would even create more danger to our chil-
dren. So we, obviously, must look at these programs very carefully.

And we appreciate the fact that Mrs. Johnson 1is calling these hear-
ings today for that purpose.

I would like, if I may, just to make a couple more observations.
We must make sure that these hearings, and this hearing today in
particular, are not the basis legislating a block granting of these
programs. It is my hope that the Human Resources Subcommittee
will also conduct hearings on these issues since it is primarily in
their jurisdiction. And I would not want any of the members on our
side of the aisle to lead anyone to believe that we will be satisfied
with marking up legislation in this area just on the basis of the
hearings we are holgi‘ng today and perhaps subsequent hearings as
well.

This is an oversight subcommittee. It is not one with substantive
legislative jurisdiction. So it is my hope and understanding that we
will have further hearings in the appropriate legislative sub-
committee.

Second, I think what we need to do is not only discuss block
granting and possible savings to the State and Federal Govern-
ment, but also we need to talk about minimum national standards
that will be conveyed along with whatever moneys the Federal
Government sends to the States under any kind of program, wheth-
er it is block granting or whether it is an entitlement program.

We also need to continue to talk about State maintenance of ef-
fort. As you know, in times of recession, it is the States that have
been the ones to cut back, and obviously their programs are coun-
tercyclical. In times of recession, they need more of an effort for
their social programs.
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States being so close to their constituents, there is no question
that the legislature and the Governors have a tendency to go with
public opinion rather than go with what is right. Public opinion af-
fects the local government most greatly and State government sec-
ond and the Federal Government usually can sit back and make in-
formed judgments. It is very, very dangerous to put these programs
in the hands of States in times of recessions because normally they
will make decisions based upon what is popular, what gets votes,
rather than what is in the right interest of the American public,
particularly the children of America who don’t vote.

And I might just point out, this has been demonstrated recently
in the discussions about entitlement programs. We talk about
eliminating the entitlement status of AFDC, of social welfare pro-
grams, but no one talks about eliminating the entitlement status
of Social Security. Well, it is obvious, senior citizens vote and chil-
dren and poor people don’t vote.

I might also mention, too, we need to talk about quality assur-
ance. When money goes to the States, the Federal Government,
those of us who are legislators, have an absolute responsibility that
the money of the taxpayers is used efficiently. And we have to
make sure we maintain quality assurance. We have to make sure
we maintain standards. We have to make sure that there are re-
views to make sure the States are not misusing our money.

Let me just conclude by making an observation about the state
of children in America. There is no question, the Chairwoman men-
tioned the Chicago situation where 18 children were left abandoned
and discussed the problems with the family preservation programs
in America. I wouldn't call that family preservation.

When we passed the family preservation legislation in 1993,
there were a number of components. One was early intervention,
early intervention into that family to make sure that the child and
the mother, particularly the mother, understood how to care for
that child, how to nurture that child. In fact, we tried to pattern
it after a program in Hawaii where the intervention occurs upon
the birth of that child.

We also had in that legislation originally programs for the courts
so that the judges would learn what is necessary in making sure
that the juvenile justice system worked. We went to Chicago, Il1.,
and we found that the judge, the juvenile court judge was listening
to cases every 5 minutes. It is pretty obvious in that kind of a situ-
ation the judge was not able to decide what was in the best interest
of that child with the 5-minute review. But unfortunately, that pro-
gram was cut back.

We only have under $1 billion over the next 5 years, $200 million
a year for all 50 States. We can’t do it with those kinds of re-
sources. So we are not really talking about family preservation. We
are basically talking about giving some limited assistance to
States. But if you really want to do family preservation, 1you are
going to have to be willing to put the resources in to do early inter-
vention, making sure the justice system works and making sure
that ultimately, and I conclude with this, the best interest, the best
interest of that child is in the minds of the legislatures when we
take action.
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Thank you, Madam Chairwoman, for this opportunity.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Matsuu.

Mr. Ramstad, a new member of the Ways and Means Committee,
and a valued member of this subcommittee, isn’t able to join us at
the very beginning of our hearing but would like his opening state-
ment submitted for the record, and it will so be done.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ramstad follows:]




PAruntext providea by eric |+,

STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE JIM RAMSTAD
WAYS AND MEANS OVERSIGHT SUBC)MMITTEE
HEARING ON CHILD WELFARE PROGRAMS
January 23, 1994

Madame Chairworian, I appreciate you holding this oversight hearing on federz: child
welfare programs, their effectiveness and how they might be reformed.

Recently, some rather outlandish and inaccurate charges have been made about the Contract
with America’s welfare reform legislation.

But it should be made clear that it is the states -- not the federal government -- that have
primary responsibility for child welfare services. In fact, state and local authorities make
the decision thousands of times each year to remove children from their families and place
them in foster care or group homes because of abuse and neglect.

The federal government has steadily increased its financial support for a broad range of
child welfare services, particularly through the use of “incentive funds.” But with this rise
in funding has also come more and more federal regulations.

These regulations, known as "427 reviews,” require states to report on 18 child protections.
While they may be well-intentioned, it is not clear they have improved the quality of child
welfare services. What is clear s that compliance with the "427 reviews" has become a real
burden on state and local administrators of child welfare programs, diverting needed
resources.

By one count, thzre are currently 38 federal child welfare and child abuse programs for low-
income people, with a total of more than $4.3 billion in funding this year, As we explore
ways to reform the complex web of federal welfare programs, one of our top priorities must
be “3 give states the flexibility to more efficiently and effectively meet the needs of their
residents.

I hope the witnesses before us today -- Administration officials, state child welfare providers
and administrators and child welfare advocates -- will offer some valuable suggestions and
proposals that will help us meet this goal and betier serve the children in these programs.

I thank all of the witnesses for being here today and look forward to their testimony.
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Chairman JOHNSON. Are there other members of the committee
who would like to make a comment before we proceed with the As-
sistant Secretary’s testimony?

If not, Secretary Bane. Welcome. It is a pleasure to have you.

STATEMENT OF HON. MARY JO BANE, ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Ms. BANE. Good morning, Madam Chairman and members of the
committee. | have submitted a lunger statement for the record and
I would like to summarize my testimony at this point.

I am the Assistant Secretary for Children and Families in the
Department of Health and Human Services. My agency has respon-
sibility for the range of child welfare programs that serve the most
vulnerable children and families in this Nation, often at times of
terrible crisis.

It is a real pleasure to be testifying before you this morning at
this very important hearing—I am so pleased you are having it—
because of your long history of working for the betterment of child
welfare programs. I would like to take advantage of this oppor-
tunity to share our vision for strengthening anf reforming child
welfare services by establishing a strong national leadership role,
combined with increased State flexibility. As part of this discus-
sion, I will address the protections under section 427.

A very large and growing number of children have some contact
with the child welfare system. In 1992, almost 3 million children
were involved in reports of child abuse or neglect. Of these reports,
about 40 percent, involving almost 1 million children, were sub-
stantiated, that is, found to have some basis. About 17 percent of
the children found to be abused and neglected required placement
outside their homes in order to assure their protection.

How well we respond to the unigue needs and circumstances of
these children and their families has enormous consequences for
children’s satety and for their future development. We believe that
there is an emerging consensus in States and communities across
the country that child welfare services need dramatic improvement.
Ours is a vision where the first priority of child welfare services is
to ensure the safety of children and of all family members, where
all services build on the resources and strengths of families to help
support children’s healthy development, where the community is
the first line of support for families, and where all communities
offer a continuum of services, from informal support services to
early prevention, to foster care, reunification, and adoption. To
achieve this vision will require both strong national leadership and
increased State flexibility.

As a former State child welfare commissioner and now as a Fed-
eral official in regular contact with the States, I am personally
committed to ensuring that we at the Federal level concentrate our
energies where we can have the most effect on high-quality services
and outcomes for children and families, rather than on the more
narrowly focused enforcement actions of past years.

As you noted, Madam Chairman, I believe that we have in fact
made progress since the passage of the landmark Adoption Assist-
ance and Child Welfare Kct of 1980, but we still have a long way

14
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to go. One major problem is that the past Federal approach to en-
forcing the protections under section 427 of the Social Security Act
has not been fully effective or fully desirable. Although States
made significant progress in the early years after the protections
were required, the approach to monitoring has focused both the
States and the Department on the literal compliance with proce-
dural requirements, with the content of the paper found in case
folders, rather than on the intent of the provisions and the attain-
ment of quality outcomes for children.

Provisions that Congress enacted last year give us new and more
flexible tools for working with the States to improve the child wel-
fare system by realizing the vision behind the protections embodied
in section 427. We are currently reengineering our approach to
monitorin% and reviewing State programs, as well as to determin-
ing eligibility and assessing the quality of outcomes and practice in
State programs.

We wilﬂ)e focusing in new ways on partnerships with the States
in development of review plans and protocols; on support for
change through technical assistance and corrective action plans; on
self-assessment by the States; on the use of automated data and in-
formation systems; and on outcomes. We plan to conduct the first
pilot tests of these new approaches in the spring and will issue reg-
ulations for public comment as required by the legislation in the
summer of 1995. We will also be also working in the spring with
the States as they develop innovative projects under the new dem-
onstration authority.

We are very eager to work with you as you move forward to con-
sider a variety of approaches to improve program consistency and
coherence. As you review approaches involving spending caps, block
grants or consolidations, we would like to raise some difficult is-
sues about the potential effects of these proposals that we think we
all need to consider. They deal with ensuring basic care and protec-
tion for vulnerable children; cushioning the States against unpre-
dictable increases in demand; and achieving national goals for the
child welfare system.

Between 1988 and 1993, the rate of reported child abuse and ne-
glect rose 25 percent, partly because of deterioration of the commu-
nities where many vulnerable children and families live. The foster
care caseload during that period rose by almost 50 percent, reflect-
ing an increased need to ensure the safety of children from the
most troubled families, and the numbers of families receiving adop-
tion subsidies nearly tripled.

Chairman JOHNSON. Excuse me, Madam Secretary. I didn’t mean
for the bell to govern your testimony.

Ms. BanNe. I will talk faster.

Chairman JOHNSON. Go ahead.

Ms. BANE. These increases that I have just noted are illustra-
tions of some of the trends that contributed to a tripling of spend-
ing on foster care, adoption assistance, and child welfare services
over the 1988-93 period. These funds provided basic protections
and services t: the most vulnerable children in this country. Had
a cap on spending becn imposed in 1988, these children are likely
to have been left at considerable risk, especially since the needs of

.
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these families and children for services are unpredictable and may
not diminish.

Federal spending plays an important role in helping States cope
with increased demands on their child welfare systems, which vary
dramatically across the States. Any block grant that you consider
wévould require the construction of a formula to allocate funds across

tates.

We did an illustration of the effect that a block grant might have
on States by looking at what would have happeneﬁrif’ a block grant
had been put in place in 1988 using a base of 1987 spending and
an allocation formula based on spending in that year. If this type
of block grant had been in place, in the aggregate States would
have lost two-thirds of what they actually claimed in 1993. Con-
necticut would have lost 67 percent; California would have lost 66
percent. Only one State would have received more than it actually
claimed. The results for all the States are shown in the table at-
tached to my full testimony.

There are, of course, many ways of establishing a level of aggre-
gate spending and many possible ways of distributing it. This illus-
tration is not meant to suggest that that is what this committee
or any committee would recommend. But it does illustrate two
things. First, it illustrates that demand is unpredictable and States
could be seriously disadvantaged by a block grant or spending cap
approach. Second, it shows that there are enormous variations
among the States which no allocation formula is likely to be able
to cope with fully.

Finally, as we consider how best to achieve our national goals for
the child welfare system, it is essential to consider the con-
sequences of any proposal in terms of the safety of children and the
sta%ility of families, as well as the ability of foster and adoptive
families to nurture and raise the children who need them. Given
the critical nature of these child welfare services, we must be very
careful to construct an approach to change that balances flexibility
for the States and communities with the need for a national frame-
work, for accountability for outcomes, and for effective protections
for the children and families. We must also assess carefully the
likely impact of each approach on States, communities, and fami-
lies.

We look forward to working with the committee, the Congress,
and the States to revitalize these essential services to support the
safety and healthy development of children.

Thank you. I am happy to answer any questions at this time.

[The prepared statement and attachments follow:|




TESTIMONY OF MARY JO BANE
ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR CHIL.DREN AND FAMILIES
US. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Good morning, Madame Chair and members of the Committee. I
am the Assistant Secretary for Children and Families in the
Department of Health and Human Services, with responsibility for
the range of child welfare programs. These programs are
extremely important because they serve the most vulnerable
children and families in our nation, often at times of terrible
crisis.

1t is a pleasure to be testifying before you, Madame Chair,
because of your long history of working for the betterment of
child welfare programs. I would like to take advantage of this
opportunity to share our vision for strengthening and reforming
child welfare services by establishing a strong national
leadership role combined with increased state flexibility to meet
their particular needs. As paxrt of this discussion, I will also
address the protections under section 427 of the Social Security
Act, which I understand is of particular interest to this
Committee today.

Background

A very large and growing number of children have some
contact with the child welfare system. In 1992, almost 3
million children were involved in reports of child abuse or
neglect. Of these reports, about 40%, involving almost 1 million
children, were substantiated. About 17% of the children found to
be abused or neglected required placement outside their homes to
assure their protection.

How well we respond to the unique needs and circumstances of
these children and their families has enormous consequences for
children’s safety and for their future development. Let me
illustrate with the story of three young siblings, James, Sara,
and Mary. They were removed from their birth family duc to
severe physical abuse and neglect at ages 3 years, 2 years, and 2
months respectively and placed with two separate foster families.
Four years later, after placements with three or more families
each- the siblings were finally reunited and placed with an
a2uptive family in another state, identified through an extensive
recruitment campaign. The placement is going well, but the
children and their new family are coping with the effects of
years of disruption on these young lives. By the time of the
adoption, James was described as defiant, acting out, and having
delayed speech; at least one of the children had been sexually
abused; and a psychiatrist had indicated his grave concerns about
Mary’s future abilities.

James, Sara, and Mary are lucky in the permanent family they
found, but they are far from unusual in their unrecessarily long
and difficult path getting there. What are the flaws in the
current child welfare system?

[} Public ciiild welfare systems have been overwhelmed by
recent increases in the number of abuse and neglect
reports as well as the increasing complexity and
severity ot tamily and community problems such as
violence, homelessness, and drug abuse. Too otten,
despite the best cfforts of states and communities,
child weltare workers are undertrained and stretched
tar too thin, particularly given the life and death
decisions we ask them to make.

o In part as a consequence of this overburdened systenm,
many children - like James, Sara, and Mary - spend too
many years in limbo between permanent homes. Two-

thirds of the children in foster care in FY 1990 had
been away from their home for one year or more, and 10
percent for five years or more. Almost 60 percent had
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been placed in more than one setting during their stay
in foster care and almost one-guarter in three or more.

often, the child welfare system is isolated from the
communities and neighborhoods families live in and from
the services that are critically needed by families -
such as mental health and substance abuse services,
health care, and housing.

And far too few resources are devoted to prevention,
meaning that families often don’t get help until after
children have been wbused or neglected.

We believe thet there is an emerging consensus in states and
communities across the country that child welfare services should
work very differently. 1In many communities and many states, this
new vision is emerging bit by bit. It is a vision where:

o The first priority of child welfare services is to
cnsure the safety of children and all family mecmbers.

All services build on the resources and strengths of
families to support children’s hecalthy development.

The community is the first line of support for
families. while a strong public child welfare system
exists, families have access to all kinds of informal
tamily support services in ncighborhoods and secttings
that feel comfortable and arc easily accessible.

All communities offer a continuum of child welfare
services, from carly prevention to foster care,
reunification, and adoption. Because children’s
healthy development is at the center of all decisions,
children spend as little time as possible between
permanent settings, returning home or to a loving
adoptive family as quickly as possible.

To achieve this vision will require both strong national
leadership and increased state flexibility. As a former state
child welfare Commissioner and now a Federal official in contact
with the states, I am personally committed to ensuring that we,
at the federal level, concentrate our encrgy where we can have
the most effecct on high quality services and outcomes for
children and families, rather than on the more narrowly focused
enforcement actions of pust years.

‘The I'ederal Role

As ~e move ahcad together to reform child welfare services,
I would like to reflect briefly on the history of the federal
role in protecting vulnerable children and families. Until the
nid-1970’s, states provided the largest share of resources in the
child welfare system, and the federal government largely funded
foster care for the poorest children in the system. In 1980,
through the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act (AACWA),
Congress significantly rcoriented federal involvement to direct
resources and decisionmaking toward preventing inappropriate
removal of children from their homes and providing services that
promote rcunification of children with their families or
identification of other permanent homes as quickly as possible.
In addition, Congress recently provided new tools and resources
for states to use tcward preserving families and preventing
children from unnccessarily entering the child welfare system.
We share the view held broadly by child welfare professionals in
the ficld that implementation of this vision, and the protecticns
for all children which are at its core, fell far short of its
promise.
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As we focus anew on how to enable the child welfare system
to meet the needs of society’s most troubled families, we must
balance the need for state flexibility with the Federal role of
ensuring accountability for high quality outcomes for children
and families. On the one hand, I saw during my years in New York
how state and local leaders have often brought an extraordinary
commitment of resources, creativity, and innovation to child
welfare services. Yet at the same time, there is a widespread
consensus that performance in today’s child welfare systems isn’t
good enough, that the consequences for children are untenable,
and that performance by individual states varies widely.

The failures of some state systems have been so marked that
courts in more than 20 percent of the states have found that the
state systems violate the constitutional or statutory rights of
the children the systems are supposed to protect. In places like
Connecticut, Utah, and the District of Columbia monitors have
been appointed for the systens.

I believe that the federal government has a very important
role in bringing about changes in these systems. 1In fact, it is
widely accepted that the passage by Congress of the AACWA of 1980
served as a major impetus for many of the efforts at state reform
that have occurred in the past 12 years. The law required that
children receive basic federally mandated child protections
(known as "Section 427 requirements") such as: regular case
reviews to determine the appropriateness of service and the
progress of families and children: a tracking system to identify
the number of children in care and their progress toward
permanency; and an up-to-date case plan, which is goal oriented,
for each child in foster care. There have been strong, positive
results. More children are being adopted more quickly, more
efforts are being made to prevent unnecessary removails, and
states have implemented procedures to improve case planning and
to monitor the status of children in foster care.

Yet, as I have indicated, we still have a long way to go.
One major problem is, I believe, that the past Federal approach
to enforcing these protections has not been fully effective or
desirable. Although states made significant progress in the
early years after the protections under section 427 of the Social
Security Act were required, the approach to monitoring has
focused both the states and the Department on literal compliance
with procedural requirements - with the content of the paper
found in case folders - rather than on the intent of the
provisions and the attainment of quality outcomes for children.

The provisions Ccngress enacted last year separated
implementation of the section 427 provisions from the states’
receipt of title Tv-B funds under the Social Security Act. We are
currently reengineering our approach to monitoring and reviewing
state programs. as well as determining eligibility and assessing
the quality of outcomes and practice in state programs. Regular
review of children’s cases is vital to the effort to ensure the
safety and health of children in the system. We will be focusing
in new ways on partnership vith states in the development of
review plans and protocols; on support for change through
technical assistance and the development o) corrective action
plans; on self-assessment by states: on the use of automated data
and information systems: and on outcomes. We plan to conduct the
first pilot tests of these new approaches in the spring, and
issue regulations for public comment, as required by the
Congress, in the summer of 1995.

In addition to this reengineered role in support of quality
outcomes for children, three other important Federal roles have
erierged from our consultations over the past two years with
states, county and local officials, and community lecaders:




Helping state and local programs gucceed through
training, technical assistance, and dissemjpnatjon of
ideas and models, State and local leaders do not want
to have to reinvent the wheel each time they come upon
a problem that scmeone else has encountered and solved,
and they want access to the best national expertise.

To meet that need, we have revamped and expanded our
system of National Resource Centers, sharply increasing
funding and reshaping their mandate in response to
concerns and suggestions from child welfare
practitioners, including state officials. The five
Centers, all operated by nationally recognized experts,
are required to provide up-to-date on-site
consultation, develop resource and training materials,
and conduct resecarch and evaluation in response to the
particular needs of states.

Supporting the development and jmplementation of
automated inforration systems. State officials have
repeatedly told us that both funding and technical
assistance from the Federal government are critical to
the automation of state child welfare service systems.

stoctive automation in turn reduces paperwork, frees
si;r workers, and allows states to Xeep track of child

4 .amily needs, services, and flow through the
»v-lei..  We have been active in providing technical
ansistance, including an innovative partnership with
five states, a non-profit organization an.l two
foundations to produce a prototype vaseworker-driven
autormated system. Through this activity we are working
with the states to design and develop a system which
gives states flexibility and reflects their need and
priorities, while e¢nsuring performance and
accountability.

Promoting knowledge and improved results thi uoh
research, demonstration, and evaluation, 2he Tederas
government has a unique role to play in supporting and
disseminating research and evaluation, so that states
can benefit from the best available knowledge in making
their individual policy choices. One recent example of
the effective use of research is the Multistate Foster
Care Data Archive, a federally funded collaboration
with federal, state and university partners located at
the University of chicago, which has compiled and
analyzed administrative data from seven large states
regarding children’s entries, exits and stays in foster
care as well as the characteristics of children in the
system. The information has becen useful to the seven
states and has provided key national data on nearly
tifty percent of the children in foster care in the
nation.

Challenges Posed by Consolidation and Block Grants in Child
Weltare

We in the Administration share your beljef that child
welfare programs nmust be consistent and coherent rather than
fragmented. States and communities must be free to respond
flexibly to children’s and families’ needs rather than being
harstrung by narrow cateqorical programs and rigid tunding

slreams.

We are cager to work with ycu as you move forward to
contider a variety of approaches to improve program ceonsistency
and coherence. We understand that among the approaches under
discussion are spending caps, block grants and consolidations ot
various sorts. As you review these approaches, we would like to
raise a nurber of difficult issues about the potential cffects of
these prorosals that should Yo considered.  They deal with
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ensuring basic care and protection for vulnerable children:
cushioning states against unpredictable increases in demwand: and
achieving national goals for the child welfare system.

Between 1988 and 1993, the rate of reported child abuse and
neglect rose almost 25 percent, partly because of deterioration
of the communities where many vulnerable children and families
live. The foster care caseload during that period rose by almost
50 percent, reflecting an increased need to ensure the sarety of
children from the most troubled families, and the number of
families receiving adoption cubsidies nearly tripled.

These increases are an illustration of what contributed tc a
tripling of federal spending on foster care, adoption assistance
and child welfare services over the 1988-93 period. These funds
provided basic protections and services to the most vulnerable
children in our country. Had a cap on spending been imposed in
1988, these children are likely to have been left at considerable
risk. We all hope that the family and community circumstances
that result in increased numbers of children in the child welfare
system will be alleviated. And we hope that increased use by
states and communities of preventive services, family
reunification services, and adoption will allow a slowing of the
growth in foster care spending. But the needs of families and
children for these services are unpredictable, and may not
diminish. Spending caps have the potential for imposing
considerable harm.

Federal spending plays an important role in helping states
cope with increased demands on their child welfare systenm, which
vary dramatically across the states. Any block grant requires
the construction of a formula to allocate funds across states.
As an illustration of the effect a block grant might have on
states, we looked at what would have happened if a block grant
had been put in place in 1988, using a base of 1987 spending and
the block grant parameters described for AFDC and other welfare
programs in H.R. 4. If this type of block grant had been in
place, in the aggregate, states would have lost about two-thirds
of what they actually claimed in 1993. Connecticut would have
lost 67 percent of what it actually claimed; California would
have lost 66 percent; lew Jersey would have lost 34 percent.
Only west virginia would have received more than it actually
claimed. Results for all the states are shown in the attached
table.

There are of course many other ways of establishing a2 level
of aggregate spending and many possible ways of distributing it.
This example is not meant to suggest that this particular
proposal or any other is on the table., But it illustrates two
things. First, it illustrates that demand is unpredictalile and
that states could be seriously disadvan -aged by a block grant
approach. Second, it shows that there is enormous variation
among the states, which no allocation fornula is likely to be
able to cope with fully. It is important to think very carefully
about the potential implications of any spending cap or block
grant formula that might be devisecd.

It is also important to think very carefully about which
programs are combined into any block grant, to cnsure that our
national goals for the child welfare system are promoted. OQur
vision for child welfare includes a continuum of high quality
services, from services that help familics deal with their
problems before they become abusive or neglectful, to residential
care for the most seriously troubled children.

A rational funding mechanism should encourage states to
continuc making improvements in their child welfare scrvices,
without penalizing states that are slower than others to begin
these eftorts. A rational funding mechanism should slso neither
skew the financial incentives toward out of home care, nor deny
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states the funds they need to ensure safe placements for children
who need them. The Congress last summer authorized a limited
number of state demonstrations to use child welfare and foster
care funds more flexibly. These demonstrations, with careful
evaluations, should provide a good deal of information and

experience useful in designing a funding mechanism best suited to
the vision.

Finally, as we consider how to best achieve our national
goals for the child welfare system, it is essential to consider
the consequences of any proposal in terms of the safety of
children and the stability of families, as well as the ability of
foster and adoptive families to nurture and raise the children
who need them. For example, under the Adoption Assistance
program, states currently provide support to families who adopt
children meeting the criteria developed by that state for special
needs, until the child is 18; the Federal government is obligated
to provide reimbursement for those expenditures. If adoption
assistance were to be blended into a block grant, ctates could be
forced to choose whether to continue payments to current adoptive
families or to enroll new ones, and families who had chosen to
give their love and support to a child on the expectation that
they could receive some modest help in paying for services
required to meet the child’s need would face a painful dilemma.

Conclusion

Given the critical nature of these child welfare services,
we must be careful to construct an approach to change that
balances flexibility for states and communities with the need for
a national framework, accountability for outcomes, and effective
protections for children and families. We must also assess
carefully the likely impact of each approach on states,
communities, and families. We look forward to working with this
Committee, the Congress, and the states to revitalize these

essential services to support the safety and healthy development
of children.

I'd be happy to answer any questions at this time.
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Hypothetical Impact in FY 1993 it a Child Welfare Block Grant
Similar to the PRA Weltare Block Grant Had Been Adopted
In FY 1888, Using FY 1987 Levels

= (Dollars in Millions)
] [T FY1993. | BlockGrant: ; Difference | Percent Change
{
|

t Actual State ¢+ 103 percent of i b/
Claimsa/ | FY1987level | L

Alabama $12 -34 -38%%
Alaska 6 -5 —83%i
Arizona 26 -19 -72%;
Arkansas 14 -10 -70%)
California 545 -358 -66%
Colorado 26 -15 -58%)
Connecticut 22 -14 -67%
Delaware 3 -1 -57%;
Dist. of Col. 13 -7 -55%
Florida 67 -74%
Georgia 36 -52%;
(Hawaii 4 -83%;
lidaho 4 -62%:
{illinois -70%;
‘Indiana 50 -85%
jlowa 20 -64%)
Kansas 24 -73%
Kentucky 42 -72%)
Louisiana 43 -54%)
Maine 14 -55%
Maryland 51 -62%)
Massachusetts 69 -88%
Michigan -44%
Minnesota 42 -64%,
Mississippi 9 -46%
Missouri ~48%)
Montana -60%
Nebraska . -60%
Nevada
New Hampshire
New Jarsey
New Mexico

PAFullToxt Provided by ERIC
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Hypothetical Impact in FY 1993 if a Child Welfare Block Grant
Similar to the PRA Weltare Block Grant Had Been Adopted
In FY 1988, Using FY 1987 Levels

.. .(DotarsinMilions)
FY1993:  TBlock Grant:  Difference
" Actual State : 103 percent of b/
.. Caimsa__ _FY1987level
‘New York ) 852 277 TTIEis
\North Carolina 28 10 -18
‘North Dakota 7 2 -5
Onio 39 -89
‘Oklahoma 15 8 -7
‘Oregon 20 12 -9
.Pennsylvania 55
‘Rhode Island 14 5 -9
:South Carofina 16 -8
South Dakota 4 -3
-Tennessee 26
‘Texas
-Utah 10
Vermont 9
Vuginia
:‘Washington 28
{West Virginia 7
‘Wisconsin 55
iWyoming 2
‘Terntories 9

-

Percent Change |

:
;
i
N

w
[0 -2 V)

-69
-6
-5

2
-32
-2
-4

4
5
9
9
9
23
0
4

Us. TOTAL = $3.092 $1.039  -$2,053

NOTES:

Programs in the Hypothetical Block Grant Include Foster Care (Maintenence,
Adminstration, and Training). Adoption Assistance (Maintenence, Administration
and Training), and Title IV-B Child Welfare Services.

a/ Dollar amounts reflect state claims, adjusted for disallowances.

b/ May not add due to rounding.

PAFulToxt Provided by ERIC
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Madam Secretary.

There certainly is a lot of common ground between us, and I am
pleased that your testimony does recognize the difficulties of the
current system and the degree to which valuable resources are
steered into unproductive avenues. Certainly, to redefine a new
partnership between the Federal Government and State govern-
ment in regard to the management of moneys available for child
welfare purposes is a challenge that I think we must not fail to
meet and it is one that you are well prepared to work with us on
and I believe we are well prepared and willing to work with you
on.

I do regret your example of the impact on States of a capped
block grant, starting with 1987, going back some years. First of all,
no one, no one, no Republican has proposed capping spending with-
out any regard for inflation or numbers or institutional care, no
one. And I want the record and the audience to understand that.
Because if we are going to work together fruitfully to make the
very kinds of changes that interest you and that have long inter-
ested me, we have to be absolutely clear that we will destroy our-
selves, this Congress and our form of government if we can’t do pol-
itics a little better than that. And I am dead serious about this.

You will remember that I proposed a bill when Tom Downey and
I were working on this very subject which would have capped
spending in a way that, frankly, States would have more money
now than they do because while it would have become a capped en-
titlement, every year the baseline would have risen for inflation
and numbers o cf‘;ildren and, frankly, at the time the States would
have gotten both flexibility and money. So I just want it absolutely
clear that no one is talking in those terms, that what we are talk-
ing about is looking at a system that has all too often looked at
paper, not children’s lives, that has thousands of State employees
doing reports when they don’t have time to tend to families. So
that is our common ground and I am very pleased that your testi-
mony so clearly delineates that common ground.

I want to start with a couple of questions and then I will yield
to my colleagues and come back later for those that haven’t been
covered.

First of all, if we eliminate rigid Federal procedural requirements
and reduce the paperwork burden and administrative costs nec-
essary to comply, won't this free up significant resources that the
States could use for services and won’t it also free up resources in
your own department, and have you done any analysis of what that
impact would be on either your department or the States?

Ms. BANE. We have done some analyses and are obviously doing
more, Madam Chairman.

I know that you have been concerned about the paperwork issue,
and when I was commissioner in New York, caseworkers always
yelled at me about paperwork. And I, when I was a commissioner,
spent a fair amount of time with caseworkers, «itting with them,
going through their days and so on to see what we could do about
the paperwork. And as best I could tell, there were three types of
paperwork that the caseworkers were complaining about.

The first had to do with doing case plans, that is, with writing
up their notes, with writing up what they had done and what they

it
la
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were planning for the children. And although I was sympathetic to

the fact that we might be able to do our forms better and that we

might be able to make it easier for them to do that paperwork, I

was actually convinced that what they were calling paperwork real-

hy was an important part of service provision, an important part of
ealing with families and children.

A second part of the paperwork that they complained the most
about to me and that I ogserved them doing as I sat with them was
the paperwork related to court appearances. It depended a lot on
jurisdictions obviously, but caseworkers had to spend a fair amount
of time preparing papers for courts and sitting in courts and goin
through those things, and again, it seemed to me that we coul
work on ways of doing that more effectively and efficiently. But
again, the core of what they were doing was really quite important.

The third thing they complained about was the paperwork that
was involved in meeting Federal requirements for eligibility deter-
mination and Federal requirements for reporting. That, frankly,
was way down on their list of paperwork requirements. And again,
we want to work on how to do those more effectively.

But my sense was that we needed to help caseworkers do their
jobs more effectively but that it really wasn't in fact either the Fed-
eral protection requirements or our State regulations—they, by the
way, saw it all as a State problem, not as a Federal problem, which
I thought was interesting. We can certainly make some improve-
ments, but it didn’t look to me like it was a real large amount of
resources.

Chairman JOHNSON. That is interesting, because the last time we
held hearings on this subject when Mr. Downey was chairman of
this subcommittee, we had testimony from socialworkers that they
were using 80 percent of their time on paper with only 20 percent
of their time for families. And while that may be an exaggeration,
my own experience with the amount of time my own department
has spent making reports to the Federal Government, arguing
about reimbursement rates, fighting and negotiating, is simply ex-
traordinary. And so I think we do need to find some way to get a
more precise and honest understanding of the degree to which the
mechanism has become the object. An§ if you care to submit later
on any more precise information by lookin& at your department,
what would happen, whose jobs would be affected, what resources
would be freed up, we are at some point going to need that infor-
mation. I know that is hard to do.

I remember specifically holding these kinds of hearings at the
State level and being told afterward by some administrator, I
couldn’t possibly tell you that and run my department, too. So I un-
derstand there is some conflict of interesc there.

But we are going to be able to determine that more accurately.
Maybe not for our own bureaucracy. But for those kinds of reasons
but certainly at other levels sc that we can make a mcre honest
determination at-uut. what kinds of moneys this will free up.

Ms. BANE. May I speak to that, Madam Chairman?

Chairman JOHNSON. Yes.

Ms. BANE. On the Federal l¢ -el, we have slightly fewer than 100
Federal employees involved in the child welfare srstem. And you
know, it is hard to make estimates, but the total administrative
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budget for my agency is $164 million. I can’t imagine that more

than a quarter—and I suspect quite a lot less than that, is involved

in the child welfare area. So that gives you some idea of the order

of magnitude. The resources and personnel involved at the Federal

level are a tiny fraction of the total work force in child welfare.

S Chairman JonnsoN. Certainly, when you multiply it by the 50
tates.

Last, let me just say if we do pursue a block grant of child wel-
fare and foster care programs, what minimal standards would you
recommend accompany those or would you like to get back to that
subject? Perhaps you can talk about it generally and then in the
course of events get back to that more specifically.

Ms. BANE. I think maybe I could tal genera{]y now and then I
hope that we will have opportunities to continue this conversation.
It does seem to me that any approach to a Federal-State partner-
ship would involve somre Federal standards and Federal protec-
tions—

Chairman JOHNsSON. Of course.

Ms. BANE [continuing]. To ensure the safety of children, to be
sure they are oriented toward permanence and to assure they are
looking out for the well-being of children. I would hope that we
could gormulate those more as results and outcomes for the system
than as processes, though I think we will always have to have
some procedure.

Chairman JOHNSON. Have you begun thinking about those?

Ms. BANE. We have. We have also been working with the States
in ways that we are very excited about to try to see if we can’t
focus those protections more on outcomes and results.

I would also suspect that any approach to child welfare services
would want accountability for Federal money to ensure that it was
being spent for the purposes and for the children that the Federal
money was meant to serve and, finally, that it was being used in
very efficient ways. I think that we can work with you, we can
work with the State. o develop effective approaches in that regard.

[The following was subsequently receiveg:]

In the last session, the Congress changed the section 427 dollars from incentive
funds to an allocation based on State assurances that the essential protections were
in place. This was a major step toward reducing the time spent in resolving disputes
over disallowances. in the future, HHS plans to monitor the State’s provision of the
protections and to provide technical assistance in those instances where the protec-
tions are missing. The time spent documenting, negotiating, and appealing our fiscal

decisions will be significantly reduced. That time will be used to develop corrective
action plans and provide technical assistance.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. And I will yield to my colleague,
Mr. Matsui, from California.

Mr. MATsul. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

In terms of the issue of flexibility, under current law, do you
have the ability to waive requiremrnts under child welfare pro-
grams IV-E, IV-B, and others

Ms. BANE. Mr. Matsui, we don’t have general authority to waive
requirements as we do for the AFDC program. What we do have
as a result of the legislation that was passed last summer is the
authority to put in place 10 State demonstrations where we can
waive many of the requirements of IV-B and IV-E. I am really ex-
cited about that. I think that is going tc give us and the States the
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opportunity to explore some veally creative approaches, and I think
that by having a limited number of them we can make sure that
the demonstrations that do in fact take place will help us learn and
will help children and families.

Mr. MaTsul In fact, that is Chairwoman Johnson’s suggestion,
I think, in the legislation, her amendment.

Ms. BANE. I am delighted.

Mr. MaTsul. Let me ask you with respect to that program, obvi-
ously it was October I guess of last year so, the implementation
is—you are working on that now, is that right’?

Ms. BANE. That is correct.

Mr. MaTtsul. And identifying some of the potential participants?

Ms. BANE. That is correct.

Mr. MATSUL And without obviously being too specific, what areas
are you looking at? I mean, where are some of the needs that need
to be—or problems that need to be addressed?

Ms. BANE. Well, different States, I am sure, are going to come
in with different kinds of approaches. I know that some gtates are
looking at ways to have some flexibility in the funding stream so
that they can give the agencies that actually deal with children a
wider range of approaches. And I think that is the thing that we
are going to be looking at, ways that the States can figure out how
to use the total amount of funds that are available to them in more
creative ways.

Mr. MaTsulL I would imagine some of the administrative cost is-
sues will come up in this as well; is that right? In other words, how
you can reduce costs and use the Jollars more efficiently.

Ms. BANE. I assume so.

Mr. MATsSUL Let me ask you, last, about the paperwork issue, be-
cause obviously that is one that will be discussed more and more,
I believe.

I have reviewed the court system in California. I visited our juve-
nile court system a number on times and have even been to Los An-
geles and talked to some of the judges there over the years. And
obviously the paperwork involved when the caseworker presents
the case—not presents the case, but when the attorney as guardian
presents the case, they have to have the backup information.

In your role as commissioner, I guess in New York and also here
as the Assistant Secretary, is there some way to find efficiency? Be-
cause that seems to be the largest paperwork burden, if you want
to call it that, that the caseworker has. We need—they need to
make sure the record is complete. They need to make sui¢ their al-
legations, whatever they may be, are complete.

Ms. BANE. 1 think the trick here, Mr. Matsui, is to try to distin-
guish the necessary, useful, and heipful paperwork from the paper-
work that we can try to streamline. I believe that using case plan-
ning tools and service provision tools is really very important, and
that it is important to have written records of contacts with chil-
dren because caseworkers turn over and need to be able to share
with other caseworkers that work.

I do think, though, that we can streamline the process. The fam-
ily preservation and support legislation that was passed a year ago
last summer included some funds and a mandate for grants to the
States to try to improve and streamline their court systems. And
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again, I think this is a very exciting opportunity for us to see what
we can do.

Mr. MATSUL The reason I asked this line of questioning is be-
cause I think what you say, the turnover issue, you see, is a pretty
difficult issue to deal witﬁ'. I mean, it sounds easy when you are
sitting here, well, you don’t need much paperwork. But the case-
worker may change.

I think it was 4 or 5 years ago, the medical records of young chil-
dren in the foster care system were not transferred from placement
to placement. That was a big fight. I think the advocacy groups
were very helpful. I didn’t even realize medical records weren't
transterred with the child. But when the child goes from State to
State, five to six foster care families over a 5- to 10-year period,
those records don’t usually go with the child, or education records.
And so you need—you need to make sure that there is an adequate
paper trail behind that child because the child usually doesn’t have
one custodian.

My child—our only son or only child, 22 years old, my wife and
I know everything about him. We think we do. We don't anymore
but we used to. But the fact is if that child were in the foster care
system when he was 2 years old, I don’t think anybody would real-
ly understand that child’s history. And I think we need to make
sure we understand that.

So when we complain about paperwork and the bureaucracy,
there is another element to it. These kids need a file because most
peo;;lle won’t be with that child for an indefinite period of time.

I have no further questions.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you and I will recognize now Mr.
Hancock.

Mr. HANCOCK. There is just one question that I would like for
you to explain for me on page 3 of your testimony. You state that
20 percent of the States have found that State systems violate the
constitutional rights of children. Would you define exactly what you
mean by “constitutional rights of children” in your testimony?

Ms. BANE. I believe that in most of the cases, they were findings
that related to State statute rather than necessarily to the Con-
stitution, though I think there were some equal protection claims
explored in some of the cases. In many of the cases, the ﬁndinF of
the court was that the system, the child welfare system, was failing
to provide basic physical care, safe care to the children in custody
of the State.

Mr. HANCOCK. But you are defining that as a statutorial right
rather than a constitutional right.

Ms. BANE. As I say, in some of the cases it was done on statutory
grounds, in others it was done on equal protection grounds, and in
some it was done on State constitutional grounds. We can get

ou—

Y Mr. HaNcoOCK. Primarily under the equal protection law, the
equal protection of the

Ms. BANE. Mostly under the due process clause, I am told.

Mr. HaNcock. Under which?

Ms. BANE. Under the due process clause, that is, the children
and their families weren't afforded due process. We can get you an
analysis, if that would be helpful.




26

Mr. HAaNcocK. I would like to have more information on that, the
determination of your department of just what constitutes constitu-
tional rights. I would appreciate it if you would get me some infor-
mation on that.

Ms. BANE. We certainly will. These were, of course, court deter-
minations, not ours.

Mr. HANcock. Thank you, Miss Chairwoman. Thank you.

[{The following was subsequently received:]

Litigations have been brought by advocates for children based on State law, Fed-
eral law, and the U.S. Constitution. The constitutional grounds have been based on
substantive due process rights—specifically the right to freedom from harm while
in State custody.

Chairman JOHNSON. Mr. Herger.

Mr. HERGER. Thank you very much, Madam Chair. And it is
good to have you with us, Secretary Baue.

My question, you state in your written testimony that Federal
funding for child welfare increased by 300 percent since 1987, yet
I see on page 5—and I believe you mentioned in your oral testi-
mony the reports of child abuse and neglect increased only 25 per-
cent and foster care placement increased by only 50 percent, indi-
cating that factors otﬁer than increase in caseload have resulted in
increased Federal spending. :

What, in your opinion, were these other factors, the difference
between the 300 percent and——

Ms. BANE. Mr. Herger, I think there were a number of things
going on and I actual?y don’t think we understand them all fully
and we do need to understand them better.

Caseloads were goin%\ up. The difficulty and complexity of the
cases also appeared to have been going up in many, many States.
Madam Chairman mentioned the increase in crack cocaine, along
with the increase in the number of children who were coming into
the system as infants. So it was not only the increase in caseload
but the increase in the complexity of the caseload.

A second thing that was going on was that States were involved
in trying to improve the quality of their child welfare systems.
They were trying to improve their preplacement services. They
were trying to improve their case management services, and they
were able to claim Federal funds for that, quite rightly.

A third thing that was going on—and I know this has been a
topic of some concern, is that the States were taking advantage of
the opportunities in Federal law to claim Federal funding for many
of their costs, quite legitimately, I must say.

One thing I think a lot of people don't realize is that the Federal
Government funds only about 40 percent of the child welfare sys-
tem and the child welfgre services in this country. And as the Fed-
eral spending was increasing, I know for a fact for New York, and
I assume this is true in other places as well, that State spending
was also going up a lot. So both the States and the Federal Govern-
ment were responding, I believe, to a tremendous increase in need,
as well as an impetus to try to improve the services that they were
offering to children and families.

Mr. HERGER. You also state that States and communities should
not be hamstrung by narrow categorical programs and rigid fund-
ing streams. Specifically, could you tell us what programs and

Ju
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funding streams you consider too narrow? Which ones you would
recommend to be combined?

Ms. BANE. I don’t think I am in a position at this point to make
any specific recommendations to you. I know that many people are
proposing that we look at a number of the programs that deal with
child welfare to see if there can’t be some flexibility, and as I said
to Mr. Matsui, I think the opportunity that is afforded us by the
demonstration authority last summer will allow us to work with
the States to identify those places where flexibility will be the most
useful and helpful in improving the system.

Mr. HERGER. OK. Thank you.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. I would like to emphasize,
though, that being more specific about rigid funding streams and
narrow categorical programs now is really important, because as
important as those demonstration projects were—and I fought
many years to get them in line, they will take awhile to put in
place. It will be awhile before we understand them.

I don’t know whether the teen suicide prevention money is still
a separate line item, but that is exactly the kind of thing that is
driving my agencies absolutely crazy, because it prevents a holistic
approach to %amily problems. So we really do want to make sure
1:haEi as we make change, we address some of the very specific
needs.

I also would want to point out in followup to Mr. Herger’s com-
ment about the chart and about claims, there is a big difference be-
tween claims made and claims received, as you in New York know
very well. I think your difference one year was $178 million. And
your chart does deal with claims made. And that is a problem that
I have with it and I would hope that the information that we pass
between your department and this committee or other subcommit-
tees of Ways and Means will be a little bit more realistic, because
I think it will enable us to work together more fruitfully.

Ms. BaNE. I think we did take account of disallowed claims. I
will check on that for you and get back.

Chairman JOHNSON. Do check on that. Because the way it is
worded both in your testimony and on the chart, it implies that
that i1s not the case.

Ms. BaNk. I think we did take account of that. You are quite
right that we need to.

Chairman JoHNSON. Thank you.

[The following was subsequently received:]

The answer is correct. We did take into account the claims which were disallowed.

Chairman JOHNSON. Mr. Levin, please.

Mr. LEvVIN. Thank you.

Let me pick up on the discussion about the chart, because I think
the Chairwoman’s discussion provides some ray of hope that we
can find some common ground. And I would like to talk to you
about the general underpinnings of this discussion. The last couple
of weeks, Nancy, actually there have been some proposals Lo block
grant at a set level without regard to inflation or caseload. That
came up in the AFDC discussion.

Chairman JoHNSON. If the gentleman would yield. I don't think
it has been clear in those discussions exactly what the block grant
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cap would be tied to because there is no agreement yet on that
issue and there certainly is no legislative language.

Mr. LEVIN. No. Governors were asked w etEer they would be
willing essentially to take the provision in the Contract which is
103 percent of the total amount for each fiscal year for the next 5
years. The response from several Governors was that they would
take that bargain, and a number of our colleagues indicated that
a block grant might look like that.

I am very much in favor of much, much more State flexibil-
ity. I would have us move to a different kind of Federal-State rela-
tionship. But the question is whether there will be any Federal role
whatsoever, whether there is room for a Federal role, whether we
want to essentially partnership or we want total State responsibil-
ity with the only State-Federal function being funding, which even-
tually might be phased out and replaced Wiﬁ'l a lower rate of tax-
ation federally and let the States pick that up. That is the con-
sequence, I think, of one position, just block grant it at an abso-
lutely straight level.

So your resistance to that idea I find encouraging, though others
have said the block grant might look like that. So I want to ask
you

Chairman JOHNSON. I am merely pointing out in the technical
language of the Contract bil), the capped entitlement is adjusted
both for numbers and inflation. While there have been conversa-
tions with the government, there is no proposal on the table that
doesn’t allow significant adjustment.

Mr. LEVIN. Vs:;]l, let me just read to you the option in the Con-
tract. It says in lieu of any payment under any other subsectiori—
this is AFDC—the Secretary shall name payments to the State
under this subsection for each fiscal year in an amount equal to
103 percent of the total amount to which the State was entitled
under this section for fiscal year 1992. And what this chart said,
and a similar chart was presented at the hearing on AFDC, if that
system had been in existence in 1988, this would have been the im-
pact in the year 1993. That is what it says.

Now, I am trying to agree with you in your resistance to that
idea. I just think it is not fair to say that no one has proposed this
approach. And what I am in favor of is a very candid, forthright
discussion of Federal-State relationships in AFDC and in the child
welfare area.

As someone who for years has been in favor of much more State
flexibility, the question is whether you are going to take it to the
point where several Governors and others who testified a few
weeks ago want to go, that is, the only Federal function is to get
out of tﬁe way. And [ asked the Secretary this question about
AFDC last week so I won't ask you the same question here. Be-
cause in your testimony, you say—I will quote just a couple por-
tions;

On page 3, the need for State flexibility with the Federal role—
excuse me, of ensuring accountability for high-quality outcomes for
children and families. And then on page 3, “I believe the Federal
Government has a very important role in bringing about changes
in these systems.” And then on the last page, you suggest “an ap-
proach to change that balances flexibility for States and commu-
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nities with the need for a national framework, accountability for
outcomes, and effective protections for children and families.”

So I think this is the question and you bring the experience not
only of your role here but your role in New York. Why should the
Federal Government be involved at all except perhaps to be a con-
tinuing funding source until perhaps that is phased out? But why
should there be any balance at all?

Ms. BANE. Mr. Levin, I think the best way to respond to that
question may be to think back to the situations in the States that
%enerated the impetus for the Adoption Assistance and Child Wel-
are Act of 1980.

That act was developed and passed by Congress because of pretty
terrible things that were going on in the States and that were com-
ing into public view. I think that act was generated and passed be-
cause many States didn’t have the capacity to deal with the needs
that were being generated by their children and families and the
sense that we, indeed, did have a national duty to the children that
were involved.

And I think that legislation, although it has not been imple-
mented perfectly and I don't want to defend everything about that
legislation, I think the concepts and the ideas behind that legisla-
tion—to ensure children were being dealt with in ways that en-
sured their safety, that State systems were focused on permanence,
not on letting kids drift around from one foster care home to an-
other, and that States were pushed to put in place a continuum of
services so that they could deal with the needs of families and chil-
dren—I think that legislation had big effects and I think that we
still need that kind of national commitment and national help to
the States.

Mr. LEVIN. And you think we still need it because?

Ms. BANE. Because I think the children and families are still in
trouble. Because I think the States vary enormously in their capac-
ity for dealing with these problems, and to some extent, in their
will for dealing with these problems. And so I think that both na-
tional leadership and national funding is real important.

I also think, Mr. Levin, that the States are not in a position each
and every time to create everything anew. I think there is a very
important role for helping to provide some experience, some infor-
mation, some national leadership in these really important areas.

Mr. LEVIN. Thank you.

Chairman JOHNSON. I do want to just clarify for the record, Mr.
Levin's statement about the 103-percent increase, because the Con-
tract bill has not been widely read. The Contract bill does block
grant a lot of programs together, and allows that capped entitle-
ment to grow and accommogate for both inflation and numbers.

There is within the Contract bill an option for States to com-
pletely take over just their AFDC program. It is for those States
that completely take over their program, remember, thus freeing
themselves from all Federal constraints, that would be subject to
the 103 percent, the theory being that if they were running this
program themselves much more flexibly—in a way that got women
into the work force in a much more flexible fashion, that being
guaranteed that their grant would grow by 3 percent was really
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quite generous, if in fact they were able to do the better job than
they say they are able to do.

So the 103 percent does not honestly quote what the bill does in
regard to its larger capped entitlement approach, which it does
allow to grow for both numbers and for inflation. So I wanted to
get that clearly on the record. And I will then—

Mr. LEVIN. Will the gentlelady yield just for 1 second?

Chairman JOHNSON. Yes.

Mr. LEVIN. So there is no misunderstanding, I read and said it
was an option. But——

Aggéiman JOHNSON. It is also in regard to only one program,

Mr. LEVIN. That is true, that is true. But in fairness to what
went on the last couple of weeks here, this issue of converting to
a block grant at a set figure became the focal point of discussion
on welfare reform. And a number of people expressed a belief that
the option that is in the Contract might well become the model for
block granting. And some concerns were expressed, some questions
were raised by myself and others, including the issue of what is the
national interest.

And so I think it is accurate to say that in the last several weeks
we have had a discussion during which one idea has been to essen-
tially turn the option in the Contract into a basic approach for
bloc anting. And I—I am encouraged by your statement that as
we look at block granting, we need to look at issues like inflation,
like caseload, like needs.

Chairman JOHNSON. I certainly appreciate your concern with
how block grants would have to be adjusted in the future. And I
also certainly recognize the vitality of the discussion that is going
on between the Governors and members of the Human Resources
Subcommittee. But I did want to make clear that in the Republican
proposal, in the Contract, which is far more conservative, if you
will, than the Republican proposal approved by the Republican
Conference, that even in that proposal there is no provision for
freezing. And that is what the chart that has been presented to us
is based on, and I regret that very much.

But I also wanted to make clear that even in that narrow portion
of the bill that uses the 103 percent, that is only the part of the
bill where the States get to opt, if they choose, to completely take
over their AFDC program. So I wanted that clear.

I also want to make clear that in no form of any bill has anyone
proposed capping foster care maintenance payments, which of
course are the largest dollar amounts of the Federal contributions
to the child support programs that we are discussing here today.

Mr. LEVIN. We will be discussing that. If you look at the capping
provision in the Contract, it doesn’t take into account a number of
the factors that you have referred to. It talks about the change in
the poverty population. But my point was not to be critical of what
you said, gut to be encouraged by it, and to say that I think the
chart that was presented by HHS does have some relevance and
to suggest, further, that as we look at this whole issue of a re-
worked State-Federal relationship, that we keep in mind what was
testified to in the last few weeks.

Thank you.

Jik
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thark you, Mr. Levin.

Mr. Zimmer.

Mr. ZiIMMER. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I think that the
discussion that has gone on between you and Mr. Levin is very
helpful. It may seem technical, may seem abstruse, but it is impor-
tant that we discuss policy initiatives on the common basis of fact.
And I think we are struggling toward that common basis of fact.
I don’t think we have reached closure on that.

But there is no way we are going to have a useful policy discus-
sion if we continue to deal with strawmen and misleading and
sometimes downright phony figures and assumptions. Along that
line, I would like to go back to the chart that you presented us.

You used a deﬁneg period from 1988 to 1993 as the base for your
chart, and could it not be that that time period, which was a period
of enormous growth in title IV-E, administrative costs, would dis-
tort the picture?

As I understand it, the growth in the title IV-E administrative
costs program in the late eighties and the early nineties was due
to the fact that the States were aggressively pursuing claims for
IV-E administrative cost matching funds for preventive services
that should have been covered by IV-B, child welfare program
funds.

Ms. BANE. Let me just speak of the chart for 1 minute, and then
try to speak to that again.

We did about, I don’t know, 25 versions of this chart, you will
not be surprised to learn. And my advisers said that we could only
submit one with the testimony or it would be too confusing. We
picked this one for the reason that Mr. Levin noted, that it was
analogous to the one we had presented on AFDC 1 week ago, and
the one on AFDC we built from the block grant provision in the
Contract bill. Obviously there are many other ways.

We did do one that adjusted for inflation. The State patterns
looked the same. It shows in aggregate that the States would have
been only 40 percent worse off than they would have been, instead
of 60 percent worse off, but shows the same kind of things.

We would be happy to do any other analyses that would be use-
ful for you. In terms of your question, the 1988-93 period was in-
deed a period of great growth in the foster care caseloads. In the
AFDC caseloads it was also a time of growth.

Again, if I might speak back to my experience in New York on
this, I was worried about these programs in 1987; I was working
in New York at that time. At that point, we were enormously re-
lieved that the foster care caseload and our foster care spending
had finally leveled off, and believed that we were actually in a
quite good position to face the future.

So I think if I go back and put myself in that position in 1988,
I did not in fact predict what was going to happen between 1988
and 1993. I think the thing to keep in mind as we do any of these
simulations or look at these is that it really is very hard to predict
what is going to happen, and all that says 1s, let’s just be real care-
ful as we try to think about how to construct these.

Mr. ZIMMER. I am all in favor of being careful, but I think we
ought to deal from the top of the deck.
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Isn’t it true that one of the underlying purposes of the Family
Preservation Act of 1992 was to restrict the rate of growth of title
IV-E administrative costs?

Ms. BANE. The hope of the family preservation and family sup-
Fort approach was that by the provision of services to families be-
ore and during placement, States could develop a system in which
there would be less need for out-of-home placement, and that there
might, as a result, therefore, be less need for maintenance pay-
ments in the foster care system and payments to institutions.

I think that there was also some hope that family preservation
and support would contribute to the services that the States were
able to provide. I don’t remember it being specifically focused on
administrative costs, but I could be——

Mr. ZiIMMER. Well, isn’t it a historical fact that there has been
a leveling off of the rate of growth of the IV-E administrative costs
program in the last few years?

Ms. BANE. Actually, what is interesting about that is that—we
looked at it State by State. And what happens is that for each
State, there tends to be a 2- to 3-year period wher2 what they are
claiming under the preplacement administrative and services piece,
that is, the nonmaintenance piece goes up very sharply. And that
is the period at which they are expanding their system or realizing
that they can éet more Federal money. And you see that, and then
it does level off.

Not all the States have been through that period, however. Not
all the States are yet at a point with their child welfare systems
where they are taking full advantage of the opportunities they
have for Federal participation. So I frankly would continue to an-
ticipate some growth, although perhaps in the future we will see
some leveling off.

Mr. ZmMMER. Nationally, since the passage of the 1992 act, has
there been a leveling off?

Ms. BANE. I am sorry. We have a chart which I should probably
submit for the record, rather than trying to show it to you. It shows
continuing growth since 1992 in the nonmaintenance piece, and
also continuing growth in the maintenance piece. It is not quite as
sharp as in some of the earlier years. I think also, though, that al-
though the Family Preservation and Family Support Act was
passed in 1992, the first year was basically a planning year. So we
haven’t seen any results from that act yet reflected in the operation
of State systems or in their claims.

[The following was subsequently received:]
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TITLE IV-E FOSTER CARE
Funds can be used for:

Payments (FMAP): Benefits paid on behalf of the child to a foster
parent or institution.

Child Placement Services and Administration (50% FFP):
o) Recruiting foster homes
c Licensing foster homes

Preplacement activities:
(prior to a child being placed in foster care)

Placing child in home

- Preparing case plan

During placement—Case management activities:
revising case plan
preparing for and appearing in court

arranging for and getting child treatment
services

working with child’s parents and foster
parents on current and planned future steps
and problems

Computer systems (75% FFP enhanced match is
available through FY 1996)

o] Normal Administration

Training (75% FFP): State agency staff—related to Title IV-E
Foster parents and adoptive parents
Member of State-staffed or State-approved
institutions

ERIC)

PAFullToxt Provided by ERIC
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Mr. ZIMMER. So that ought to make an even stronger case for the
fact that we ought to expect the growth to be slower in the future,
if it hasn’t had 1ts full impact yet.

Ms. BaNE. Oh, I hope and pray the growth will be slower.

Mr. ZIMMER. So it is very difficult to make predictions on the
basis of extrapolation?

Ms. BANE. That is correct.

Mr. ZiMmMER. But do you really believe that we are going to see
growth in the future at the same rate that we saw it between 1988
and 19937

Ms. BANE. As [ say, | hope and pray that we won't.

%\:}i?r. ZIMMER. Do you expect that we won't or do you expect we
will?

Ms. BANE. I think we are going to continue——

Mr. ZIMMER. You are the professional here.

Ms. BANE. I know. As I say, I am thinking back to sitting in front
of a New York State Legislature in 1988 and confidently predictin
that foster care and child welfare expenditures were going to leve
off, and being Eroved wrong. So I have become slightly more cau-
tious about making predictions.

As I say, we hope that it will level off. We hope that States will
be able to make the improvements that will bring it about. But I
am going to be cautious about making predictions.

Mr. ZIMMER. Well, obviously you should be cautious, but I think
there is good reason not o use cthe worst-case time period, with the
period of steepest growth, to predict the terrible catastrophe that
would happen if there was a freeze of the sort that we have already
learned was not proposed.

Thank you very much.

Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Zimmer.

We will go now to Mr. Johnson.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

I have been told that child welfare block grants to States, or
grants that are made to States at this time, that we authorize 75-
percent Federal matching grants, and according to our information,
they are distributed to the States on the basis of their under-21
population and per capita income. Is that correct?

Ms. BANE. That is correct, as it——

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEexas. Well, I am also told that the reporting
requirements are minimal, and there are absolutely no reliable na-
tional or State-by-State data on the exact number of children
served, their characteristics or the services provided. Furthermore,
that?there are no Federal income eligibility requirements. Is that
true’

Ms. BANE. It is partly true and it is partly not true. The formula
to which you refer is the formula by which $300 million in IV-B
child welfare money is distributed to the States.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Last year I was told $294 million. Is
that right?

Ms. BaNk. Yes, that is correct, $294 million.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Let’s use real numbers. That is what
Mr. Zimmer was talking about.

Ms. BaNE. I just was rounding up.
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Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. There is a lot of difference between 294
and 300.

Ms. BANE. Thank you.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Go ahead.

Ms. BANE. I am sorry, reporting requirements. It actually has
been the case, Mr. Johnson, that we have had very little and not
very good information about child welfare systems in the States
and about the effectiveness of programs. That is one of the reasons
that Congress both required a new reporting system and author-
ized funding to the States for computerized systems, so that they
would be aEle to do a better job of managing their child welfare
systems. All the States now are engaged in computerizing their
systems and developing an automated case management approach,
and in using those automated systems to meet not only their own
but Federal reporting requirements.

So we are coming to be in a position where we will have a lot
more information and States will be able to manage their programs
much better, because of automation.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Well, I am not sure computerizing is the
absolute answer, because you don’t always get good input. But con-
cerning section 427, do you favor forgiving States who fail those
past reviews?

Ms. BANE. We are actually very pleased that Congress last sum-
mer made changes in the legislation so that we would have a more
flexible approach for working with States. What you passed last
summer allows us to develop corrective action plans with the
States, to do periodic reviews and to make sure that any penalty
that we assess is commensurate with the degree of failure. And I
think that is a more sensible approach than the all-or-nothing ap-
proach that was in the earlier legislation.

Mr. JOHNSON OF Tkxas. Well, are you assessing penalties on the
States now?

Ms. BANE. We are assessing a set of penalties now for failures
which took place in a previous period.

As you know, Congress put a moratorium on our taking disallow-
ances for a couple of years, but last October removed the morato-
rium. We were told that those disallowances now constitute debts
to the Federal Government, which we are required under prudent
financial management to collect. And we are proceeding to collect
those debts which have been firmly established as being owed. We
are trying to do very carefully what the law requires.

Mr. JOHNSON or TEXAS. So what you are saying is, you are pun-
ishing the States and the kids because there is not going to be that
money there for them. And you are answering my question that
you are not forgiving the States for past reviews.

Ms. BANE. We are not forgiving the States for the past debts that
were incurred as a result of those reviews. As I say, our legal anal-
ysis is that the law required us to do this.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. So you are punishing the States and
punishing the kids. That is all I wanted to know.

Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Mr. McDermott.

Mr. McDeRMOTT. Thank you, Madam Chair.
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Dr. Bane, we appreciate your coming up here and testifying. You
share with us, I think, the same difficulty; that is, it is very hard
to come up and react to legislation by press release, because there
is nothing on paper.

I know why you had to do 25 charts. We hope there is going to
be some kind of bill available on February 6 when they start to
mark up welfare reform, so we can actually look at some real fig-
ures.

But I am mindful of your history, and I thought of George Santa-
yana, who said those who fail to learn from history are doomed to
repeat it. And my own career was 15 years in the State legislature
before I got to Congress.

Where were you from 1980 to 1985? What was your professional
responsibility at that point?

Ms. BANE. That is a good question. From 1980 to 1983, I was at
the Kennedy School of Government being an academic; from 1984
to 1987, I was at the New York State Department of Social Se:v-
ices as the number two person.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. OK, good, that is what I want to know.

I was down at the State level as ways and means chairman in
the State legislature the last time this government went through
the block grant business. We called it “block and chop,” because
when they blocked, they always chopped off some. And we always
wound up with less.

Can you talk a little bit about the history of why the Federal
Government first got involved in welfare. Mr. Levin's question
prompted you a little bit, but the Federal Government didn’t run
out there to get involved in the States’ business because the States
were doing it so well?

Ms. BANE. I believe that is correct, yes.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. I would like to hear a little of the history, so
that people understand that we have been through this block and
chop busiress, and anybody who thinks this is going to be just
block and not chop simply doesn’t understand what the history has
been in the past.

Ms. BANE. Right, right. I assume you are referring, Mr.
McDermott, to the block granting of the social services block grant
and the community services block grant in the early eighties. There
were virtually no requirements, including, unfortunately, no report-
ing requirements, so we have very little information on what actu-
ally happened as a result of those.

gut it was certainly very clear to us in New York during the pe-

riod of the eighties that we were spendin§ a good deal more of our
ly

State money for those purposes, especia or the purposes that
were pulled together under the social services block grant, having
to do with day care and child welfare and so on; and that at least
from that one State’s point of view at that one time, it did seem
like the Federal Government was pulling back pretty badly.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Let me ask you another question, because it
seems to me that one of the things that our discussion about var-
ious programs is that v e act as though they are sort of sitting out
there all alone by themselves, no. connected to anything else on the
horizon. But I really look at this as kind of like a spider web. If
you touch it in one place, it moves everywhere.
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There is a proposal on the Hill here to reduce or to kick people
off AFDC and to do a number of things in that area. Are you will-
ing to talk a little bit about what you Ehink will happen to the child
welfare caseloads if you knock all the kids off the AFDC rolls?

Ms. BANE. Well, we all hope that reform of the welfare system
will be done in such a way that children will be protected, that
there will be a focus on work and parental responsibility and that
children will be able to remain with their families and remain in
good situations. I think many of us worry that some of the propos-
als being talked about—and again, I know that the committee has
not agreed on a proposal, but that some of the propocsals being
talked about would indeed deprive AFDC benefits to large numbers
of children for pretty long periods of time. And I think we all worry
that under those circumstances, there would be more children who
come under the child welfare system and come into the custody of
the State.

And I think that as we think about that kind of a situation, we
really want to be careful because the child welfare system is al-
ready terribly strained. It is already struggling with the needs of
vulnerable children and families. To soon have to deal with more
children, because their families are poorer because their mom can’t
get a job, seems to us to be a terrible mistake.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Would you tell me about the turnover rate of

our caseworkers? I know this is hard maybe, to remember back,
gut what was your caseworker turnover rate at the lowest level;
that is, the entryworkers who are dealing with welfare cases and
with child welfare cases and child abuse and CPS, those various
programs?

Ms. BaNE. Oh, in general, it was very high. Child protective
workers probably had the highest turnover rate; they probably
turned over every 2 or 3 years. I think they may have the hardest
job that we ask anybody to do in this country, and we pay them
terribly and we blame them when anything goes wrong. So I could
understand why.

It was a tragedy, though, because, you know, the most important
part of this system is a concerned caseworker who is able to make
good decisions for children, and I think the extent to which we can
put some investment into training for caseworkers, into support for
c?fseworkers, into making their lives easier, is really going to pay
off.

Mr. McCDERMOTT. Are you talking about 2 to 3 years as an aver-
age, or are you talking, tze longesi anybody lasted at it?

Ms. BaNE. I think it was probably an average. It varied from
State to State. It depended on whether there were any alternative
employment opportunities as well.

Mr. McDERMOTT. My experience is that that is true. I think it
needs to be emphasized that paperwork, it is easy to rail against
paperwork, but when cases are turning over rapidly, from case-
worker to caseworker to caseworker every 2 or 3 years, if there is
not an adequately done record, there is no way anybody can deal
with these.

I, in my professional life, dealt with these cases in court and re-
viewed records of kids who had been in foster care for 10 years.
And it was very often almost impossible to put together what had
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actually happened to that kid because people had not recorded
what the reasons were why he left one foster placement to go to
another foster placement, how he failed, where he succeeded, and
all those kinds of issues that are absolutely critical to making any
kind of sensible judgment for a kid.

And I think that people need to understand, the paperwork isn’t
just something you say to people, well, sit over there and write a
bunch of stuff down. It really is for the next person who is coming
in in a couple of years, who has no idea where this kid came from
and is usually handed it in a critical situation when the child’s sit-
uation has al{ fallen to pieces. It comes back up on somebody’s desk
and they go to the file and it is 3 or 4 inches thick, and there is
still stuff left out. I think that it is really important to say that.

I appreciate your testimony. Thank you. We will talk to you some
more.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. McDermott.

Mr. Portman.

Mr. PORTMAN. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I thank you for
your testimony. This has been a very interesting discussion, wide
ranging. I appreciate Mr. Levin’s candid and forthright assessment
of the Federalism issues here. I think that is exactly what is at
stake, and I would like to pursue that a little further, and just
make a couple of comments.

One, I think it needs to be underlined that part of what we are
discussing as a Congress this year is the reality that being $4.7
trillion in debt and having a general consensus that we need to re-
duce our spending, I think on both sides of the aisle, and specifi-
cally facing a likely balanced budget amendment within 7 years,
that there will naturally be cuts in all programs, all services on the
Federal level, if we are to achieve those very significant cuts, and
that the block grant program is in part a response to that.

We have been hearing from members of State legislatures, as Mr.
McDermott was and many others on this panel, from Governors
and so on, that they would prefer the block grant approach. Part
of the reason they are saying that is, they want to keep current
services and it is the Federal requirements and the paperwork and
so on which takes an increasingly large part of the—of the dollar
that they are able to provide for services. And what we are saying
here in Congress and what they are saying to us is that there may
be a ketter way to do this, a way to have current services main-
tained with the Federal budget imperative, which is to cut our
spending here, and one way to do that might be to increase flexibil-
ity through block grants.

So that has a larger context that I think maybe hasn’t been dis-
cussed adequately t%is morning.

I think Mr. Levin is right on target that this is really a much
larger issue than just chﬁd welfare or just AFDC, and it goes to
the role of the States and Federal Government. And maybe at some
point we do have a shift back, in a sense reversing the trend of the
last century of increasing Federal responsibility, back to more
State responsibility.

In that context, I would ask you, we have learned about what
you did between 1980 and 1985, but how long have you been in-
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volved in child welfare programs in one way or another, either as
an academic or as a person involved directly with programs?

Ms. BANE. Oh, longer than I am willing to admit. I don’t know,
15 years, 20 years.

Mr. PORTMAN. In those 15 years, you have then seen how the
States handle child welfare caseload, foster children, adoptions,
and so on; you have seen how the Federal Government has reacted;
you followed the developments Mr. McDermott pointed out where
we have gone to block grants and back from block grants.

Would you say, in your judgment, that the States are doing a
better or a worse job in that decade or two, in terms of providing
child welfare services?

Ms. BANE. I am not sure I can speak for all the States. I mean,
my perception certainly is that New York is doing a better job now
than it was 10 or 15 years ago in providing child welfare services.
And it also appears as though the 1980 legislation was a prod, if
you will, to the States to make some improvements in their child
welfare system; and most especially, to focus more on achieving
permanent outcomes for children. Tl?;at was really the focus of the
legislation and the issue that was very much before people.

And I think that we have seen since that time in virtually all the
States an improvement in the system so that the States are indeed
keeping track of the children in their system, that they are in fact
doing some planning aimed at permanence and really trying to
achieve that.

Mr. PORTMAN. Is it your view that if we were to change the re-
quirements at the Federal level, vis-a-vis New York State, as an
example which you referred to, that New York State would shift
back to less permanent solutions? In other words, is it necessary
to have the Federal gun, so to speak, at the head of the States, in
order to keep them on what you and I think most child welfare ex-
perts would agree is a proper course?

Ms. BANE. I think it is very hard to make a prediction about
that. My sense is that some States would and some States
wouldn’t, and that in many States—and I think it would be fair to
say that this was true in New York at some points in its history,
too—that the fact that there are Federal guidelines and that there
is Federal money was an incentive for the State to keep moving in
the right direction.

I think it is also fair to say, though, that there are many other
States where it appears that it really was the existence of tge Fed-
eral legislation and it really was the existence of the Federal push
that led to some improvements in the system.

Mr. PORTMAN. Earlier you mentioned that we don’t have all the
answers here in Washington, and I think, given your oral state-
ment, you have a proper attitude with regard to flexibility, that the
States are imporiant laboratories of experimentation and that
maybe there is a certain advantage to giving States that flexibility
beyond all the budget issues we discussed, which is to say that
they have got some pilot programs and some ideas that we haven’t
thought of.

Wouldn't you see that as an advantage to a block grant type pro-
gram?
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Ms. BANE. Oh, absolutely, it seems to me that State flexibility
and State creativity are very important; and States have most of
the responsibility for the child welfare program even now. I think
that we can assess how we deal with the States, I think we can
assess our accountability mechanisms. I think that we need to
make some dramatic improvements there because our accountabil-
ity mechanisms need to be oriented to results and they need to be
oriented toward genuinely improving performance. There is no
question about that.

And as I say, I think the ability of the States to try some things
out is really very important. I guess we are all trying to struggle
with this question of the proper balance between State flexibility
and national leadership. That is the crux of the question that we
are going to be going back and forth on as we have this conversa-
tion.

Mr. PORTMAN. If I could close, Madam Chairwoman, with one
specific question along those lines—and I realize that there are lots
of different specific proposals we are going to be hearing about over
the next several months, but one in particular would be the sepa-
rate program for abandoned infants for adoption opportunities.

Does that make sense, to have a separate program for that, or
wouldn’t it make more sense to block grant that program and give
it to the States specifically to give them the flexibility you are talk-
ing about?

Ms. BaNE. Those are two programs for adoption opportunities
and abandoned infants. I think the discretionary grants that have
been given under that program have allowed some very interesting
things to go on that we have learned from. I think that they have
done some good services. I think that may be one you want to look
at.

Mr. POrRTMAN. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Portman.

And thank you very much, Secretary Bane, for your comments.

The Ways and Means Committee has always operated through
legislation that has been introduced, reviewed at hearings, and
then the chairman submits a mark that reflects not only the legis-
lation that has been introduced and the concerns that it has raised
but the input of the hearings. We are not, we never have and we
don’t intend to legislate by press release. We are proceeding as we
always have through the submission of substantive, thoughtful pro-
posals.

Fundamentally, the proposals that we are considering are going
in exactly the same direction that your department is considering
going; that is, toward reevaluating and rebalancing the relation-
ship between Federal direction ang State authority, assuring that
together we carry out our responsibilities to the children of Amer-
ica.

There is, however, a sense of urgency; there is no question about
that. Whether you vote for the balanced budget amendment or
whether you don’t vote for the balanced budget amendment, no na-
tion can continue to spend more than it cohects decade after dec-
ade. So we are now going to take our responsibility seriously, to
bring these things back into line. We have given ourselves a time-
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frame of 7 years, which is better than our normal 5-year view in
this place.

And so there is a sense of urgency, and we are going to need your
help and your sharp focus on the issue of, what programs can be
appropriately brought together? How can they be governed in a
way from Washington that we assure that children’s interests will
be addressed? How can we move the issue of accountability away
from reports and toward the kind of data that we see not only in
the private business sector but in the private human service sector
doing a far better job of dealing with the issue of accountability
and effectiveness than our old way of many, many levels of bureau-
cratic entanglement that in the end diverts us from the real issue?

So we share the goals that are really important to America’s chil-
dren. And I hope that you will work closely with us as we prepare
materials for the committee, that then eventually we'll have con-
crete hearings on a concrete proposal. But the purpose of this Over-
sight hearing is to try to draw, as Oversight ought, from our expe-
rience, to try to chart a more enlightened path into the future. And
I look forward to working with you as we try to chart that path.

And I appreciate the indulgence of the committee in allowing the
Secretary to answer fully the members’ questions. And I thank you
very much.

Mr. MaTsul. Will the gentlelady yield?

Chairman JoHNSON. I will be happy to.

Mr. MATSUL. Are you say:i;g that HHS has been in discussions
with the Governors and v.ith the appropriate Republican chairs on
this issue?

Chairman JOHNSON. No, no, I am not saying that.

Mr. MaTsul. Well, how do we propose that they get input? Be-
cause you were suggesting that suggestions and input be part of
this process. I am wondering how we are going to be able to pro-
vide that.

Chairman JOHNSON. I have raised the specific issue in my con-
cluding comments about what is going to be the governance lan-
guage of any children’s services block grant, what would be the ac-
countability mechanism; and I raised that through my questions,
and I open that to the Secretary and the administration for their
full input on those issues.

Mr. MaTtsut. And I understand that, and that is great, and it is
in the hearing record. But then how does that get into the discus-
sions between Governor Engler, Governor Thompson and those who
are negotiating on behalf of your side? Because that is where I
think the issue is. And frankly, we don’t know yet whether the
Contract With America or the block grant proposal that we have
been reading about in the newspaper or one of a number of others
is going to be on the table.

And as I think Mr. McDermott mentioned, we are going to be
marking this up, I would presume, in another 2 or 3 weeks, both
in the subcommittee and the full committee. And I mean, I have
to say that I appreciated Assistant Secretary Bane’s testimony, but
she reall coum’t respond to a specific proposal. And then when
we raised a specific proposal on that side of the aisle, we hear that
it is irrelevant, that the chart is irrelevant because that is not what
the Republican proposal is.
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Chairman JOHNSON. She could respond with a specific proposal
that is the subject of this hearing, and that is the 427 reviews.
That is the subject of this hearing, and that is what people are
here to respond to, and that is what I would expect to get them
to respond to.

Mr. MATsUL If that is what we were supposed to do, that is fine,
but then you raised——

Chairman JOHNSON. That is the topic of the hearing.

Mr. MATsUIL. You raised the issue of the block grants, though. So
at least in your opening statement, we were told block grants were
going to be an integral part of this discussion.

Chairman JOHNSON. There is already a proposal on the table out
there, that has been introduced, that has a lot of block granting in
it and that is being heard, as we speak, by the Human Resources
Subcommittee. We are looking at a special aspect of that. It is my
hope that, through this hearing, we will have very concrete, clear
input into the form that the chairman’s mark will take.

Now, I have certainly spent many years trying to influence chair-
man’s marks before tf\'ey came out and trying to influence them
after they came out. And you know as well as I know that no mat-
ter who is in charge, there are legislative initiatives submitted,
there is a hearing process, and we all try to influence the chair-
man’s mark.

Mr. MATsUL I know. Let me say you will have much more influ-
ence than I will have.

Chairman JOHNSON. I hope that through good oversight work
that we as the Oversight Subcommittee will be able to work with
the administration in an honest enough and effective enough way
that we will have some significant input into that. It will certainly
enable us at full committee, and on both sides of the aisle, to do
that work.

Mr. MaTsul. Madam Chairman, 1 think this hearing is great and
I really commend you for holding it; and I think it is necessary.
The only issue I raise is the fact that I hope that—and it is not
your decision, 1 know, or partly your decision, but I hope that we
get to see what the final proposal will be soon, so we can give the
administration, us and everyone else, an opportunity to react. Be-
cause at this time we really dont know and we would like to find
out.

Because we are talking about revolutionary changes.

Chairman JOHNSON. I hope that you will get to see them more
in greater advance than we used to get to see the chairman’s
marks, either subcommittee or full committee. And we have shown
in a number of ways, both by assuring minority input into the set-
ting of this agenda, as has taken place on some other subcommit-
tees, that we are going to try to proceed in a little different fashion
than we have in the past.

But I certainly can make no guarantees about what will happen
in the future, because we are in a terribly constrained timeframe,
because we have combined not only some reform initiatives, but we
have combined that reform initiative agenda with, now, also the
balanced budget agenda, which creates a slightly different situation
than we had anticipated when the Contract was written.




44

So here we are. It is work we must do. I hope we will do it to-
gether, both with your department and in a bipartisan way. There
will be limits to that bipartisanness, and of course I ungerstand
and accept that, but we will keep you as well informed as we pos-
sibly can.

Thank you, Madam Secretary.

The next panel would come f}(,)rward, please. And now, this panel,
we will enforce the 5-minute rule on the speakers and also on the
committee members, so that we will get through both panels in a
fairly timely fashion.

I do very much appreciate your input. I know from the staff's re-
ports that they have talked with you extensively, and we are oing
to hear some excellent input on both the benefits and possibilities
of greater flexibility and also the difficulties and shoals in those
waters.

We will start, please, with Patricia Balasco-Barr, director of the
Division of Youth and Family Services, the Department of Human
Services, from the State of New Jersey. Welcome, Ms. Balasco-
Barr.

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA BALASCO-BARR, DIRECTOR,
DIVISION OF YOUTH AND FAMILY SERVICES, NEW JERSEY
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

Ms. Barasco-Barr. Good morning. I am Pat Lalasco-Barr, direc-
tor of the New dJersey Division of Youth and Family Services, an
agency within the Def)artment of Human Services in New Jersey.

[ am here on behalf of Human Services Commissioner William
Waldman, who is with Governor Christine Todd Whitman this
morning, because today is our State budget message.

Chairman Johnson and members of the Committee on Ways and
Means, Subcommittee on Oversight, I want to thank you for the op-
portunity to provide testimony today re arding the current struec-
ture of funding available through title l\g—B and IV-E of the foster
care and adoption assistance.

The Division of Youth and Family Services in New Jersey, com-
monly called DYFS, is the single organizational unit responsible for
IV-B and IV-E; and we take very seriously the mandate of Public
Law 96-272 to make reasonable efforts to prevent out-of-home
placement. Qur child protective and child welfare practices have
emphasized meeting the needs of children and their families in
their own homes, and when that is not possible, in the most home-
like setting and in the place closest to the youngster’s home com-
munity.

DYFS operates 40 field offices, which serve a caseload of almost
50,000 children and their families on any given day. New Jersey
is very proud of the fact that the overwhelming majority of these
children, more than &3 percent, reside in their own homes. Only
7,900 children are serveg in out-of-home settings. The majority of
these children, some 5,900, arc in foster family care. The remaining
children are in group home facilities, residential facilities, or small,
community-based group homes. Sixty percent of the children in
terms of eligibility for Federal funding—approximately 60 pereent
of the total child placement population in our State are eligible
under IV--E,
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New Jersey’s use of out-of-home placement has not only re-
mained stable over the past decade, it actually declined some 8 per-
cent between 1989 and 1994. Over the same period of time, the re-
liance on out-of-home placement has risen dramatically in most
other States.

New Jersey participated in the pilot program of the existing sec-
tion 427 monitoring system in 1981, the initial section 427 compli-
ance review in 1982, and three subsequent triennial reviews. I am
pleased to say we passed each of those program reviews. Neverthe.-
less, our experience has been that the task of documenting continu-
ing compliance with the section 427 protections, much more than
simply conducting our practice in tﬂe way that satisfies these
norfr‘fr‘ls, has been cumbersome and time-consuming for casework
staft.

Specifically, we believe that the Federal approach to measuring
compliance with the principles of Public Law 96-272, has inadvert-
ently evolved to the point that it emphasizes the letter rather than
the spirit of the law. In general, section 427 reviews have been
more concerned with the tracking of precisely worded statements
or process, rather than evidence of the actions themselves. Al-
though New Jersey has passed these compliance reviews, we have
come to conclude that this orientation has distorted the original in-
tent of the law.

New Jersey has a case review System specifically designed to
meet the requirements of section 427. In fact, New Jersey enacted

child placement review act in 1978, 2 years before section 427 re.
quirements were imposed. The State law essentially requires par-
ents, caseworkers, children, foster parents, guardians ad libitum to
participate in the review process. The 427 review is duplicated b
the child placement review ¢ orks out of the judi-

i i so then have the ju-

rvision of the court.

ws that are monitor-

ing New Jersey’s compliance with Public Law 96-272: Compliance

with the requirements of IV-E and IV-B eligibility, and the move-
ment of children toward permanency.

One of the things that came to our attention in preparing for this

earing was so many of our children in New Jersey return home
prior to the requirement of a section 427 review. Andywe take great
pride in the fact that that family preservation initiative is working
much, much better than our 427 review would ever tell anybody.

The budget resources required for 427 review is about $2.5 mil.
lion. The workload management studies that a minimum of 14 per-
cent of a caseworker’s direct service time is expended for children
in out-of-home placement is spent in documentation of 427 require-
ments. In addition, compliance with these standards involves the
time of supervisory, management and support staff to fully inte-
grate these section 427 driven actions.

DYFS has a corps of 14 regionally based third-party section 427
reviewers who convene and conduct the placement reviews. We
have no doubt that reviews have benefited children in out-of-home
placement, but we think that the system—does that mean I stop?

Chairman JOHNSON, Well, you are close to the end because you
are summarizing now.
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Ms. BaLasco-BARR. The purpose of the law is being met in New
Jersey, and the purpose of the law toward good child welfare prac-
tice is being met. But when you look at the quality and the num-
bers of reviews that we are doing in New Jersey, you begin to won-
der, how many times does it take you to figure out whether you are
on a good case practice basis with each child? Would there be defi-
ciency—would there be efficiencies if we block granted child welfare
programs; and would foster children be better served if we plowed
overhead into additional resources?

I think there is a misconception when we talk about administra-
tive costs, that you think of whole lots of folks that look like me
sitting around and that is how the salary is paid. But administra-
tive costs has to do with cars, has to do with desks and computers
and training for staff. It has to do with the other things that sup-
port a caseworker’s ability to do the work, what we calF“good chin
welfare practice.”

I appreciate the opportunity to present the testimony to you
today and 1 am avai]ag]e for questions after the rest of our panel-
ists talk.

Chairman JoHNSON. Thank you very much, Ms. Barr.
[The prepared statement follows:]

..
—
Seam
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TESTIMONY OF
DIRECTOR PATRICIA BALASCO-BARR
DIVISION OF YOUTH AND FAMILY SERVICES
NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES
BEFORE THE COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT

JANUARY 23, 1995

Good morning. I am Pat Balasco-Barr, Director of the New Jersey Division
of Youth and Family Services, the child protective and child welfare service
agency within the Department of Human Services. 1 am here today on
bebalf Human Services Commissioner William Waldman who was not able
to appear before the Subcommittee today. Commissioner Waldman is
joining New Jersey Governor Christine Todd Whitman as she presents her
State Budget Message for fiscal year 1996.

Chairman Johnson and members of the Committce on Ways and Means
Subcommittee on Oversight, I want to thank you for the opportunity to
ptovide testimony today regarding the current swructure of funding
available through the Title IV-B of the Social Security Act for Child Welfare
Services and Tide IV-E of the Act for Foster Carc and Adoption Assistance.

The Division of Youth and Family Services, known in our State as DYFS, is
the State’s Title IV-B and Tide IV-E single organizatuonal unit. We, in New
Jersey, take seriously the mandate of P.L. 96-272 to make reasonable
cfforts to ptevent out-of-home placement. Our child protective and child
welfare practices have cmphasized meeting the needs of children and their
families in their own homes, or when that 1s not possible, in the most
home-like sctting appropniate to the child's needs in or near the
youngster's home community.

A brief overview of the Division's operations and caseload statistics
llustrates that this is not simply a statement of philosophy -- rather, 1t is a
matter of practice. DYFS operates 40 ficld offices which serve a caseload of
almost 50,000 children and their familics on any given day. New Jersey is
very proud of the fact that the overwhelming majority of these children --
more than 83 percent -- reside in their own homes. On any given day,
only 7,900 children are served in out-of-home settings. The majority of
these children, some 5,900, are in foster family care. The remaining 2,000
children arc recciving treatment services in group care faciliies, and to the
maximum extent possible, small scale, community based group homes are
used in heu of large scale residennal facihties. In terms of eligibility for
federal funding, approximately 60 percent of the total child placement
population in our Statc are eligible under Tutle IV-E.

Ncw Jersey's use of out-of -home placement has not only remained stable
over the past decade, it actually declined some 8 percent between 1989
and 1994. Over this same period of time, the reliance on out-of-home
placcment has risen dramatcally in most other states.

New Jersey participated 1n the pilot-test of the existing Section 427

program monttoring system 1n 1981, the initial Section 427 compliance
review in 1982 and threc subsequent tmennial reviews. 1 am pleased to
say that we passcd each one of thesec program reviews. Nevertheless, our
expernicnce has been that the task of documpenting continuing comphance
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with the Section 427 protections -- much more than simply conductng our
practice in a way that satisfics these morms -- has been cumbersome and
timo-consuming for case work suaff. Specifically, we belicve that the
federal approsch to measuring compliance with the principles of P.L. 96-
272 has insdvertendy evolved to the poimt that it emphasizes the lenter
rather than the spirit of the law. In general, Section 427 reviews have
becn more comncermed with the tracking of precisely worded statements or
process, rather than cvidence of the actions themselves. Although New
Jersey has passed these compliance reviews, we have come to conclude
that this orientaton has distorted the original inteat of the law.

1 would like now to address the specific questions that I believe are of
concern to the Sub-Committee.

HOW DOES NEW JERSEY MEET THE SECTION 427 PROTECTIONS?

New Jerscy has a case review system specifically designed to mect the
requirements of Section 427. In fact, New Jersey enacted the Child
Placement Review Act in 1978, two years before the Section 427
requiremeants were imposed. Stato law requires the early and periodic
review of children placed into out-of-home settings by the Division of
Youth and Family Services The system established by the law is a
combination of citizen review boards and a judicial review of the
circumstances of a child's placement. including: reasons for placement,
current conditions of the placement, the appropriateness and progress of
the plan for the child. Parents arc invited to participate. Since the 12
month periodicity of the State Child Placement Review system was less
frequent than the six month frequency subsequently required by federal
law, the Division provided for alternating interim 6 month reviews by
conducting independent, third-party placement conferences -- kmown as
"admunistrative reviews" under Section 427. These conferences meet the
standards of the reviews required by Section 427 in that they are
conducted by staff not involved in the decision-making or service delivery
for the case, parents are invited to attend, formats for documenting and
guiding the review are completed by those Division staff attending which
record all the assurances required.

The driving purpose of the federal law mandating a review system was
noble. The reviews were intended to assure -- through an independent
process of monitoring and problem-solving -- that in each case reasonable
efforts have been made to prevent placement, that the placement is
appropriate, and that rcasonable efforts are being made to ensure progress
1n reuniting the child with his family or in moving towards an alternative
permanent living arrangement. What we have found, however, is that an
inordinate amount of cffort is needed not to ecnsure compliance with the
Scction 427 protections but, rather, to easure that documentation of each
of the Section 427 protections is available i1n a formula statement that
precisely mirrors the provision to which 1t applies. For example, we have
found over the course of these triennial reviews that the requirement that
efforts be made to place children in closc proximity to their homes had to
be demonstrated through a discussion of alternaive placement sites --
rather than simple evidence that the foster home selected was within the
same community. In other words, actual proximity appcared to matter
less than a statement in a pardcular form discussing the efforts to identify
other possible placements that did not meet the proximity protection. In
some cascs, these statements were required even though 1t was manifestly
clear that the State had met the proximity requirement.
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WHAT KIND OF BUDGET RESOURCES HAVE BEEN ABSORBED TO COMPLY
WITH THE SECTION 427 PROTECTIONS

To meet the principles embodied in the law, New Jersey has made a
zonsiderable investment of resources from not only the Division of Youth
and Family Services, but also from the judiciary. First, the Division's front-
line field staff must conduct their practice in a way that satisfies the
federal requirement to make reasonmable efforts to prevent placement and
that ensures casc plans for children and families address the relevant
Section 427 protections. In addition, field staff must participate in the
third party review of placement every six months, alternating as an in-
house placemment conference or a review before a citizen-based Child
Placement Review Board. We estimate from workload management
studies that 2 minimum of 14 percent of a case worker's direct service
dme expended for children in out-of-home cases is spent in ihe
documentation of the Section 427 requirements, including writing the casc
plan and participating in the formal third-party reviews. In addition,
compliance with these standards involves the time of supervisory,
management and support staff to fully integrate these Section 427-driven
actions into the agency's practice and record-keeping.

DYFS also maintains a corps of 14 regionally-based third-party “Section
427" reviewers who convene and conduct placement conferences that are
autended by the parents, the supervising case worker, his or her
supervisor, the foster parents., and the child. if appropriate. The salary and
support costs for these 14 reviewers is approximately $1 million.

In addition, the State’s network of Child Placemnent Review Boards, which
serve as arms of the Family Division of the New Jersey Superior Court,
opcrate in all 21 counties. Although staffed by volunteers, the cost to the
State Judiciary to support local board operations -- as well as the cost of
bench time nceded to review and make a judicial determination of each
board recommendation -- is comsiderable.

Clearly, these cxpenditures exceed the approximately $2.7 million in Title
IV-B incentive payments that New Jerscy receives in return for complying
with the Section 427 requirements. But, the question of whether these
efforts are worthwhile is more complex than whether they are simply cost
neutral. We believe that the basic intent of the Section 427 protections is
sound. New Jersey would pursue them even if they were not mandated by
federal law. However, we also believe that the monitoring of Secton 427
compliance has progressed well beyond encouraging affirmative outcomes
for children in placement. Rather, it has become an end in itself -- instead
of focusing on the positive outcomes that we, as child weifare pracutioners,
owe to the children in our care.

HAVE THE REVIEWS BENEFITED CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE?

We have no doubt that reviews have benefited children in out-of-hoine
placement, but we also think that the system as it has developed fails 1o
implement the intent of the law. The prevention of placement -- to allow
children to continue living in their own homes -- is the purpose of the law
However, thc focus of Section 427 compliance revicws has become the
microscopic inspection of statements about the procedures that occurred
after a child entered placement -- rather than a common scnse
cxamination of the outcomes actually achieved. Although a review of the
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circumstances of a child's placement is essential if we are to ensure
movement toward permancncy, the focus of these reviews shonld be
redirected toward pre-placement events (i.c., prevention of placement) as
well as concrete indicators of case progress or movement.

To illustrate this view, we only need to point out that gains on behalf of
children in placement -- whether measured by the rate of placement
utilization, time in placement. or qualitative measures of placement
appropnateness -- have continved in New Jersey well past the point that
one would expect through Seciion 427 protections alone. We believe that
our investments in family preservation and family supportive services
have yielded substantial additional benefits, far beyond those of the
Section 427 protections alone, for the children in our care. lronmically,
under the existing 427 monitoring mechanism, a state such as New Jersey
that is highly successful at preventing placements and moving children
home faster -- concrete outcomes for children -- could nevertheless fail a
Section 427 program audit on procedural grounds. In fact, the case
sampling methodology ecmployed by the Administration for Children and
Families in conducting compliance audits systematically exclude any
placement that is of six months duration or less -- ignoring significant
numbers of children who have been quickly and successfully rcunited with
their families.

WOULD THERE BE EFFICIENCIES [F WE BLOCK GRANTED CHILD WELFARE
PROGRAMS AND WOULD FOSTER CHILDREN BE BETTER SERVED [F WE
PLOWED OVERHEAD INTO ADDITIONAL RESOURCES?

New Jersey initially developed and has since enhanced, an
extensive/complex procedural infrastructure to comply with the essential
protections currently required under Section 427. The principles of
comprehensive case planning, aggressive service delivery. periodic
independent reviews and judicial determinations of the continuing need
for placement are fundamental elements of good casework practice.
Therefore, if child welfare programs were block granted. we would most
likely choose to maintain all or most of the current requirements.
Maintaining even the basics of the current system would not allow for
much direct casework overhead to be frced to reinvest into additional
resources.

There could be significant savings, however, to thc extent that states were
nc longer required to conduct continuing periodic reviews of certain
categones of cases -- such as permanent placements with relatives or long-
term foster care -- that had, in effect, achieved permanent outcomes.
Nevertheless, states should have the opportunity to include the principles
of the law into their practice and monitor their implementation in a more
flexible way. The states should also be encouraged to pursue the state of
the art improvements in child welfare service philosophy and practice as
they evolve and not be tied to the hmts of what was once the best
thinking to meet the needs of the time.

Towards that end, we would welcome the flexibility to reinvent the Section
427 type protections that would come with a block granting of Title [V-B.
We believe, however, that the potential for achieving economies under a
block grant while maintaiming the current level of child welfare services
would be minmimal at best
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With respect to the block granting of Tide IV-E, we believe that a
fundamental issue has to deal wirh the widely divergent levels of claams
being made by the various states at the present ame. Any block grant
conversion that limited each state to its current level of Tide IV-E claiming
would bc unfair. As an alternative, we would suggest that a funding
formula be used which would base each state’s share of national funding
appropriation on some statistical measure or demographic proxy of each
state’s actual need. Of course, this approach would also need to reflect an
adcquate total appropriation for this purpose. Finally, in keeping with my
next point, we also believe that some additional incentive payments should
be considered for states that exceed certain normative levels of outcome
for children at risk of or in foster care.

WHAT MINIMAL FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS WOULD NEED TO BE RETAINED?

It is appropriate for the federal government to provide the states with
guidance. in the form of general requirements, for the expenditure of the
child welfare dollars that it provides. More specifically, we do not take
issue with the basic requirements of Section 427 for placcment prevention,
- for the selection of the placement that is most appropriate to the child's
needs (including close proximity to the child's family and community,
when proximity is relevant), for prompt initial review and subsequent
periodic reviews of the placement, for judicial oversight, and for efforts to
achieve permanency. We have no quarrel with the intent of Section 427 at
all. We would, however, like to see the federal government adopt a far
more flexible and common sense approach to the determination of
compliance, and most impcrianty, one that emphasizes actual
circumstances, events, and outcomes rather than process statements and
descriptions

In a practical way, this would amount to requiring a state to show
evidence that the basic Section 427 protections are in place -- through the
current "administrative review" that each state must first pass before 1t
proceeds to 3 case record based field review of compliance. Overall
compliance should then be based upon the state’s documentation of
positive outcomes in terms of placement prevention, length of stay in
placement and other measures of movement towards permancncy. We
beheve, after 14 years of experience with the provisions of P.L. 96-272,
that simply having the Section 427 procedural safeguards in place in no
longer enough. States should be held accountable for success in prevenung
placements, reunifying families and moving children quickly towards
permanency. With the impending requirements of the nationwide
Adoption and Foster Care and Analysis Reporting System (AFCARS), the
states will be in a position to report outcome/case flow data that can be
used towards this end.

In closing, Madam Chairwoman, I would like to thank the Sub-Commuttce

for allowing me the opportumty to discuss New Jersey's experience with
" the currert Section 427 requirements as well as our view of the potential
impact of block granung the Title IV-B and Tule IV-E programs. We, at
the New Jersey Division of Youth and Family Services. join with you 1n
seeking to strengthen our ability to prevert placement. preserve families
and to quickly achieve permanent outcomes for children in foster care
Thank you.
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Chairman JOHNSON. Mr Horn, it is a pleasure to welcome you
back to the committee.

STATEMENT OF WADE F. HORN, PH.D., DIRECTOR, NATIONAL
FATHERHOOD INITIATIVE, AND FORMER COMMISSIONER,
ADMINISTRATION FOR CHILDREN, YOUTH AND FAMILIES,
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. HORN. Thank you. It is a pleasure to be back after a 2-year
hiatus from appearing before this committee.

My name is Wade Horn, and 1 am the director of the National
Fatherhood Initiative, an organization whose mission is to restore
responsible fatherhood in America. I also am the former U.S. Com-
missioner for the Administration for Children, Youth and Families
in the Department of Health and Human Services, and served as
a presidential appointee on the National Commission for Children.
I have submitted a more lengthy statement for the record, and I
would just like to summarize my major points.

Child welfare today is not just in crisis, it is at a crossroad. We
have to determine -hether we want to continue on down the road
we are on, toward more micromanagement and regulation of the
child welfare system, or whether we want to change directions and
provide States and local agencies with greater flexibility to do the
job that they want to do. I am here to testify that I think we need
to change direction.

There are two major problems with the child welfare system
today. The first is that there are far too many funding streams,
and they are far too categorical in nature. By my count, there are
at least 17 different funding authorities within the Children’s Bu-
reau. There are an additional four within the National Center for
Child Abuse and Neglect. There are several others scattered
throughout the Administration for Children and Families. There
are three in the Department of Justice. And I have just learned
vesterday that there is one under the jurisdiction of the Banking
Committee, a $76 million family unification program that quite
frankly I didn’t know existed.

Why is it that States should have to negotiate this labyrinth of
Federal programs in order to set up one single, comprehensive,
secamless system of services to take care of the needs of children?
The current system is, quite frankly, lunacy. It doesn’t make a lot
of sense.

The second problem is that I don’t think we can find anybody
that says that section 427 reviews are doing what they were ex-
pected to do or intended to do. Despite wonderful intentions, what
we have is a system where you can pass a section 427 review, and
yet be brought to court ahcf, found wanting in terms of protecting
the welfare of children. I think there are two reasons for this.

First of all, the protections as mandated within the law, are in
some cases far too ambiguous and difficult to define so States have
to kind of guess at what it is the Feds mecan and how it is they
are to document that, in fact, a particular protection was met.

Second, as a former homemaker myseff in the Department of
Child and Family Services in the State of Illinois, way back in
1977, I know that it is far easier to have an understanding about
whether a particular case is in fact going well if you are part of
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that community. It is simply too difficult for a Federal bureaucrat,
either here in Washington or in a regional office, to travel 200 or
300 miles, sometimes many thousands of miles, to get an under-
standing about what is going on with a particular child by reading
the case record.

How can you tell whether a particular service was appropriate if
you don’t know the full range of services that are available in that
community? It just doesn’t make sense to ask the Federal Govern-
ment, with its limited administrative resources, to take on that
kind of responsibility and oversight.

I have two major recommendations for the subcommittee.

The first is to reduce the categorical nature and number of fund-
ing streams in child welfare. I recommend that you collapse all of
the spending within the Children's Bureau that is dedicated toward
child welfare, except for foster care maintenance payments and
adoption assistance maintenance payments, along with the four
programs in the National Center for Child Abuse and Neglect
those child welfare programs within the Justice Department and
the one child welfare program under the jurisdiction of the Bank-
ing Committee, into one large block grant to allow States to imple-
ment a comprehensive, scamless system of services to protect chil-
dren.

My second recommendation is that we devolve responsibility for
oversight at the case level to the States. It seems to me there are
some possibilities already being explored by the States to do pre-
cisely this. One particularly promising approach is the use of so-
called citizen review boards.

There is a recent study of the use of citizen review boards in
Douglas County, Kans., that found that their use resulted in sig-
nificant reductions in judicial and administrative delays, speedier
implementation of permanency plans, and most importantly, a sig-
nificant reduction in time spent in out-of-home placement.

An oversight system that is much more tied to the local commu-
nity will have a better understanding of the resources and needs
of that community, and can therefore respond in a much more ag-
gressive fashion to ensure that children are protected, than you can
if you come from Washington, D.C., for a 1- or 2-week visit.

I am not suggesting that the Federal Government has no role to
play in child welfare. In fact, I do believe that the child welfare
amendments of 1980 were instrumental in helping to improve the
child welfare system. The problem is that since that time we have
gone down the road toward a much more fragmented and much
more overregulated system. What we need to do is reverse course
and get out of the business of micromanaging States—
micromanaging not only their practice but their buggets—and the
best way to do that is through a bloci. rant approach.

|The prepared statement follows:|
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Statement by Wade I© Hoen, I'h 1y
January 23, 193

My name s Wade o Horn Ph D Tan the Director of the National Fatherhood Tnibatise,
A argamzation swhose mission is fo restore tespodisthle tatherhood as o natondd poonits
Formerly, | served as Commissioner tor Children, Youth and Families within the U S,
Departinent of Health and Human Senvices, and was a presidential appaantee o the Naticnal
Commissian on Childien

The child weltare system s i ersis - Data reported through the Voluntny Cooperative
Information System (VCIS) indicate that mare than 445,000 children age 0-18 were m toster
care 3t the end of FY 1993, 2 637 ancrease since 19831 The cast of foster care and adophion
istance under Title TV-E of the Social Security Act now exceeds $3 bilhon, yearly ten
frmes the amount expended in FY [9R1. We are spending more and more mones on child
weltare, and getting less and lessan return. lideed. despite ever increasmg money spent on
child weilare, statisnies tram the Nananal Center for Chid Abuse and Negleet mdicate that i
1941 there were a total uf 992,600 substanhiated cases of abuse or neglect, an all tme high

Today s nat the st e that & ersis mthe chidd sweltare system has made relarm
necessary. Inthe 19707 the ssstem was overburdened with an estimated 500,000 childien
n foster care At that tme, e sates had adequate systems meplace tar ensuning quick
tesolunion of foster care episedes, through cither reumtication or plicement tor adoption
Same states and focal agencies could nat even readily deternune the location of a child cnge
that chold was placed i foster care The result was hundseds af thousands o clildren in
Thester care dnte” bounemg trome one toster care honie vy another with na agreed upon hing
term plan ar strategy for resolung the concerns tacuig chaldren moout of honie care

This dire sauation changed dramaticatls with the miplementativn ol the Child Weltare
Amendments of TYRGPL 96 2720 Tl las required states (o implement a numiber of
tetorms, ancluding @ requirement o canduet an mventary ot al children m foster care, the
implementation of a statesade tracking and information system, and the deselopment ot a
case review syadem with an emphasis on permanency placement The Adaption Assistance
and Child Welfare Act of 1980 aka ereated title IV-1-, thereby hinking child swelfare seraces
avanlable through tide TV-B wath the AFDC foster care progiam

States were tegquired by PL96 270 1 selt certify that certam adamnistratise relorms had
tehen place, and then submit o pertadic restess by the federegl governmem sa ensure tha
these relorms, as well as addinonal protections speaified e the fas, sere us place T
children in out of-home care The meennve tor states wecomply with the las was the
mclusion of additional Title TV B payments if these reforms sere implemented and aperatimg
tecthe satistaction of the Secretars of the US Depaatment o Pealth and Hnnan Sersiees
The provisicar i IPL 96 272 for on gomg sy stem aversight came oo be hown as Section 127
Teviews

he short term resulis of the retarmis embedied m P96 272 were iapressive The leagth
al tme children spent im taster cate was sharply reduced and the tal number of ¢hiddren

-

out ot home care plumnieted teom aver SO0,000 m 14957 106 approvemately 270,000 100 a3

Sinee that ine, heseeser, the number of children i foster care has been wereasing, and
[
s lldllll_ on chdd welare has e \Y| lexde What 'dmk ned

Durig the RS, twa ernes greatls challenged the capacity of the cluld seltase systern 1o
protect chikdren  Bust, beginming i the niud 1980, the erack ¢ocame epademe dramaticalls
vhanged the Gpe of chent being served by the enld weltare ssstem - Whereas the 1y pucal
tonter care placement i the 1970 < and early 1980 ivalved neglect ar highls episesdic, and
stress related, abuse, the new crack cocane cases frequentls myvolved mach more sevens aud
chiome abase resulting i fonger and repeat stass i foste care Secand. the TO80 L s an
averlerata ot the trend tavard fathietle o beasele b Caves evidonce aat alag v g,
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Sforty times more likely 10 occur when the biological father is not living in the home', the
trend toward increasing father absence greatly mcreased the number of children interacting
with the chrld welfare system

The tedersl govemment should have been in the forelront encouraging states 10 respond
mnovatutely 10 these new challenges  Instead, the rigidity of PL. 96-272 necesstated that
states spend valuable resources and tinie trying to negotiate cumbersome rules and
regulations in order w0 maximize federal reimbursement under the Title IV-E admmistratice
costs program, and 1o submit 1o burdensome paper reviews required under Section 427 In
addition, federal attempts 10 reform the sy stem have mostly gone in the wrong direction
Instead of increasing flenibility and encouraging expefimentation, recent retorms hate
actually increased the rigidity and categoncal nature of tederal (undg streams.

A case 1n point s the relatively recent passage of legislation t provide funds for (amily
presercation semaces  Although some advocates of Tamily preservation servces claim that
aut-of -homie placenient is prevented for as many as Y07 of chifdren serced, the few
evpermental evaluations of family preservanon services to date have not shown substantially
lower rates of placement in foster vare 4-6 nionths after the termination of lamily
preservation services  In addition, accordimg 1o Toshio Tatara of the Amencan Public
Welfare Association, the dramatic increase n children in foster care placements is not due (o
an increase in the rate at which children are entering foster care, but rather to a significant
dechne i the rate at which children are exiting (oster care®  Despite the absence of
empinval ecudence attesting to its elfectiveness, advocates for family presercation services
were sucvessiul i persuading Congress o legislate a new funding stream which can be
utilized grly for famiy preservaton and support seraces. Consequently . whether or nat
such services are eftective or beat micet the needs of a particular commumie, states @iv now
required o use i substantial portion of federal funds to provde family presercation seruices

In addition to the intlexitity and categoneal nature of federal tundmg streams, the
legislatively imposed requirements of Section 427 niay hace also been a hinderance o relorm
for at least two reasens.

Iirst, the protections mindated m PL96-272 e lughly subjective and dittreult 1o
aperationalize, Far example, one of the case plan requirements is that a cmld be placed “in
close provinuty o the parents” home * What does close provimity mean” - Does it mean the
same thing in New York City asan Utali? What if 10 was not apprapriate, ma particalas
case, 1o place a chuld in close proxamty o hes or her parents . What should one d then?
Lacking clear defimuons and unambrguous requirements, states are often forced o "gues™ at
the documentation required to pass @ Section 427 reaews

Second, many of the  protections under Section 427 are highly dependent upon an antnine
understanding of the individual case. How would a bureaucrat from Washington, D.C , truly
be able to have an opinron as o the “approprateness of services being provided™ 1o a
particular fanuly in rural Kansas or urban Hartford”? A much mure ratonal and detensible
system of veersight would be locally-based, tor i local reciewer s far better positiean o
undenstand focal condiions and cicumstances than a one or two week usitor from
Washington. D € or hom a regronal office often hundreds of nules away . Lacking this
mtmate knowledge of local conditions and circumstances, the Section 427 reciews hate
become paper exercises, unable to address the compienties and nuances of the indicidual
e

Daly N and Wiksan MRS Clield Abuee and Other Risks ol Net Facing Watlr Baoan
Parents, Frhedogs and Sewobiodagy, 6, 197 2049

Tatara, T US Clald Care Flow Data For 158 42 and Current Srerds in the State Claled
Subsiiute Care Popalatons, VOIS Rewearch Notes o 90 Aopaet 19938
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thznk you very much, Mr. Horn.
Mr. Digre. Sorry, Digre.

STATEMENT OF PETER DIGRE, DIRECTOR, LOS ANGELES
COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES, LOS ANGELES, CALIF.

Mr. DIGRE. Chairperson Johnson, members of the committee,
thank you very much for the opportunity to be here today. My
name 1s Peter Digre, and I am the director of the Los Angeles
County Department of Children and Family Services, an agency
which during 1994 responded to more than 165,000 reports of
abuse and neglect. Today and every day, 1 am personally respon-
sible for the care and nurturance and protection of 58,000 children.

Virtually every day, in the media, we hear about children who
have been horribly abused. Usually this abuse is at the hands of
parents, sometimes it is at the hands of temporary caretakers.
Tragically, as we talked about earlier, there are times at which the
chil%l welfare system itself fails to live up to the minimum stand-
ards required to ensure the safety of children.

All of us agonize for these c{ﬁldren, and overwhelmingly, the
American people cry out that the safety and nurturance of these
children must be the first priority for all of us.

[ am deeply concerned that the combined potential of block
grants for both welfare reform and for child welfare will have a se-
verely negative impact on children in the child welfare system, for
example, if procedures are implemented either federally or at the
State level that remove large numbers of families from assistance
in the juvenile court statutes throughout the country.

The definition of neglect includes food, clothing, shelter and med-
ical care. Therefore, many of the children removed from assistance
would flood into the chilzi welfare system due to the inability of
their parents to provide for the basic essentials of life. Our experi-
ence with the recession and the California 1992 AFDC cuts 1ndi-
cates that the numbers would be at least in the thousands and con-
ceivably in the tens of thousands in Los Angeles County alone. In
short, I truly believe that the Nation’s foster care system may well
grow geometrically.

This chart that I have attached for you documents the very inti-
mate relationship between the economic well-being of families and
children entering the child welfare system. Proposals—and | was
very relieved to hear the Chairperson’s comment—which would
block grant child welfare entitlement programs would put the child
welfare situation in the state of being confronted with an open-
ended juvenile court mandatc which could place countless numbers
of new children into foster care. And if there is only a capped block
grant to pay for their care, without hyperbole, we can conclude
there would of necessity be a drastic decline in the quality of the
care and the safety of the children in that system, as capped re-
sources provide less and less adequate care for growing numbers of
children,

Second, the issue of the safety of children also demands national
standards for child safety. Public Law 96-272 embodied many
years of collected wisdom regarding minimal standards. The 427
protections, to my mind, speak to very simple and very basic
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things: Having case plans and goals, having cases reviewed by
judges and case review boards periodically, and basic protections of
parents’ rights, like having your child placed close to home so you
can be reunified with them.

Most importantly, what these standards have done is created a
common vision and a common language which consistently focuses
attention on the important outcomes for children, such as safety
and all children’s needs for permanent homes. As such, I truly be-
lieve that the essence of these goals, that the spirit of these goals,
has extraordinary value.

I would like to ask the committee to enhance the 427 protections
by including requirements that are universally vital to maximize
the safety of children. Just a few examples: Children are injured
in care and with their own parents if they are not visited; clearly,
minimal standards of visitation should be included. Children can
be left with child molesters if there are no criminal checks or child
abuse background checks. Youth being removed from foster care
need training to enter adulthood, or else they become homeless and
they enter deprived.

I would like to suggest a number of ways in which flexibility
could also be achieveé;. No. 1, there are numerous small categorical
programs which could simply be rolled up and included in IV-B.

No. 2, 10 waivers is hardly enough authority to administer IV—
B and IV-E. I think HHS should have the capacity to give at least
50, at least 1 for each State.

No. 3, the concept of tax credits for adoption is very powerful and
very important and we support it wholeheartedly.

No. 4, the current rulemaking to consolidate State planning re-
quirements for children’s programs should be expanded to include
other arenas, such as substance abuse prevention and treatment
and housing that families in the child welfare system badly need.

In closing, please analyze all proposals for welfare block grants
from the perspective of the safety of children. Second, please en-
hance the national standards for child safety. Please do not elimi-
nate them. The decisions that we make will affect the safety of mil-
lions of children.

Thank you very, very much for the opportunity to be part of the
discussion.

[The prepared statement and attachment follow:]
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TESTIMONY OF PETER DIGRE. DIRECTOR
LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN & FAMILY SERVICES

Congresswoman Johnson, Members of the Committee. Thank you
for the opportunity to testify today. My name is Peter
Digre and I am the Director of the Los Angeles County
Department of Children and Family Serwvices, a public child
welfare agency which, during 1994, responded to more than
165,000 reports of child abuse and neglect. Today, and
every day 1 am personally responsible for the protection,
care and nurturance of 58,000 chiidren.

CONTEXT
We are confronted today with a myriad of proposals to
restructure the program and financing for the nation’s
welfare and child welfare system - some of the proposals are
gquite radical. HNeither 1 nor Los Angeles County have
completed our analysis of the many variations on the
evolving proposals so I would like to focus my comrents on
come of the crucial questions and 1ssues which 1 hope
Congress reflects on 1n reaching 1ts decisions.

OUR FIRST FRIORITY MUST BE CHILDREN AND THEIR SAFETY

Virtually every weck, if not every day, on our television
netwerks, radio pragrarms and newspapers and ragarines, we
sce, hear and read about children who have been abused and
neglected -- children who suffer at the hands of thosc whonm
our socjicty has trusted to nurture and raise. Often, these
pueople are the parents who have brought the children into
the world; somctires they are temporary caretakers whom
agencies like mine have trusted to provide care for children
who have already suffered abuse at the hands of others.
Tragically, there are tires in which the ¢hild welfare
syster itself fails to live up to the rinimal standards
required to insurce the safety of children.

we, the people, the entire Arerican public, agonize for each
and every one of these children and their families.
cverwhelmingly and universally, the Arerican people cry out
- THE SAFFTY AND RURTUKANCE OF CHLILDKFN MUST BE 1HE FIRST
FRIORITY FOR ALL EKLECTED AND AFPOINTED QOFFICIALS. The media
knows the depth of this ¢ry and haolds us all straictly
accountable.

FOSSTRLE GMFACT QF 5% RFFGEM PEOPOSALS ON CHITD SAMETY AND
NURVURANGE

From the perepe ~tive of child satcty and nurturance, many
questians necd claritacation regqarding properals o klock
arant progrars such s weifare, foad ctacps, crdid welfare
and foster care,

1 am extremely concerned that data exists which indicates
that. the combined irpact of a block grant for welfare reform
and a hlock grant for child welfare/fentoer care could have a
severely negative affect on the safety of children and the
child weltare system.

Block granting 1tself elirinates the traditional individuasl
cntatlerent far 2EDC and ford ctarps. During tires of
1ecession, capped state black grant recources will be
confronted with growing nurboers of familicrs with children
needing arsist shee. This wiil fomcally lead to ssgmitacant
reductions in the assictance provided to cach individual
farily. In addition, pr.posals to drop families and
children frorm assintance due to time lirits ca other roasons
riy invelve elirirating ac rany as ©“ citlben chyidren
rationally fror arsictance, including several handred

the scand children an Tox Aoseles County alope,
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Since, in Juvenile Court statutes throughout the Country,
the definition of "neglect" includes lack of food, clothing,
shelter and medical care, many of the children ~emoved from
assistance would flood into the child welfare system due to
the inability of their parents to provide for the basic
essentials of life.

Our experience with the recession and the California 1992
AFDC cuts indicates that the numbers would be at least in
the thousands and conceivably in the tens of thousands in
Los Angeles County alone. 1In short, the nation’s foster
care system may well grow geometrically.

The attached chart indicates the intimate relationship
between the economic well being and economic opportunities
of families and the reporting of child abuse and neglect.
You can aiso surqaise the extreme magnitude of this issue by
realizing that 1.8 million aduits and children in Los
Angeles County today are sustained at least in part by the
welfare and food stamps system - this is more than 20% of
the total County pepulation.

Given this intimate relationship between economic sustenance
and the entry of children into the child welfare and toster
care system, it is not speculative to predict that a
significant proportion of children for whom assistance is
terrminated or curtailed will enter the child welfare/foster
care system.

Proposals have also been advanced to eliminate the child
welfare/foster care entitlement and block grant child
weltare related programs including family preservation,
foster care, child weltare supervision and support for
emancipating foster children to achieve independence. 1n
short, ruesources would he capped and not need or workload
driven.

Chviously, if both the welfare reform block grant and the
child welfare block grent are implemented, the child welfare
systenm could be confronted with an open ended Juvenile Court
randate and entitlement that would place countless numbers
of new children into the foster care system, while only
having a capped block grant to pay for their care.

Without hyperbole, we can rcasonably conclude that there
would be a drastic decline in the quality of care and safety
for children in the child welfare and foster care system ag
the "capped" rescurces provide for growing numbers of
children. There will be more children per caretaker, less
support per caretaker, less training for caretakers, less
sovlal work supervision and treatment by less trained
children’s social workers, less preparation for
independence, less adoptions, less family preservation
eftorts...lThe consequences may wel! be tragic.

PHE DARLTY OF CHITEKEN DEMANDS HASIC NATIONAL STANDPARDS

Pubdic taw Y6-2%2, the child wWelfare and Adoption Assistance
Actoaf 10FG, was the result of many years of work by child
welfare pacteesiorals, chitdren’ s adveraten and . ers of
Cengress. TS moasure has enjuyed strong bipartisan

crHport.

B o G0=-270 was intended to resedy a purler of child welfare
Chacstermae b bloee ety a "o ard oty R s oach,
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The carrot is the Title IV-B incentive funds each State
receives, and the stick is the provision that the State’s
caseload is in compliance with each of the Section 427 child
protections.

The 1ssues before your Cormittee today are whether these
427 reviews" have served to improve the lives of children;
and whether elirinating these requirements and block
granting these funds will strengthen the states’ abilities
to deliver child welfare and foster care services to
children.

The 427 protecticns actually speak to only four dirensions
in the foster care arena: case plans, periodic foster care
status review; adrministrative review; and procedural
safeguards relative to parents’ rights. Each of these
dirensions speak to both process and outcome for the
children and families in whose lives the state finds it
necessary to intervene.

1 believe that these protections represent sound practice
standards, a curmon sense approach to assuring that cacn
child and fanily will be well-served. They represent a
logical process for assuring that child welfare services are
provided in a deliberate, thought-out fashion; that they are
provaided with some continuity and coensistency across the
country and throughout the period of tire chiidren are in
the governrent’s care.

My problem with the 427 process is that the "protections"
are o lirmited. 1 would like to ask the Comrittee to
crnhance the 427 protections by including reguirements that
urniversally are vital to maximize the satety of children.

1. We know that abused children can ke injured or
ieglected by caretakers 1f they are not recularly
vigited by children’s social workers. Clearly minmimal
staniards of visitation are a basic protection.

We know that children can be left in the care of child
rolesters when criminal and child abuse Esckground
checks are not cerpleted. 1his should ke a required
pretection.

we hnow that reassnable eftorts to prevent placerent is
a reaningless concept, unless corprehensive family
preservation services are umiforrly available, Family
preservation should be highly structured and avatlable.

We know that without training, education, housing and
vrployrent, erancipating foster youth often find
thenmselves horeless and supporting therselves through
prestiturion and crime. Rasic requirements for
preparation for independence are essential.

We know that children with corplex medical and
developrental problere can be adaptsd with sjwesralazed
adoptien rsuleidies.

ke Fnow that chaldren’s sacvial workers who are
carefully trajined an rask ase ontoare dess lively to
avlow chiilren toore=y.n an darqer, Thae traaming
shoadd teow by e toetion,

YU-347 0 - U5 - 3
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In addition to these recermendations, 1 would like to
suggest the fellowing:

1. Block, Grants of Categarical Riscreticnary Frogrars

Some block grants would work and benefit states and
counties. For instance, there are 15 categorical
discretionary programs under~the jurisdiction of the
Education and Labor Committee, which I believe should
be analyzed as candidates for a block grant. Some,
like the Grants to improve the investigation and
prosecution of child abuse cases, are small - only $1.%
million appropriated in FY 1995. Others involve highly
specialized programs, such as Crisis Support Centers.

I kbelieve we can more efficientl: and effectively
administer such proygrams and respond to local needs
through a 31nqle block grant of these 1tems, perhaps
through IV-B.

Expand the Title IV-B and IV-F Waiver Authority

HR %2%2, enacted in 19%4, gives HHS the authoraty te
arant ten waivers. This really isn‘t encugh to be
really 1nnovative on a national level. T recorrend
consigeration that th.s welver auathority ke exyandeu
at Jeast %9 or rore, at lcast one for each state.

Jncreaced, incestives for Adsption

hidoption is the preferred outcore for the ohildren in
foster care who cannot return to their - «n hores
recause of abuse and neglect. In lTos £:veles County,
in the twelve ronths ond:ing Septerber 1494, we placed
rare than one thoasand children whize parents’ rights
had been terrinated by the court an perranent and
g adoptive hores.  Many of these adoptive

bl tents could net have hoen ashieved, however,
without the Title IV-L Aljcption Assistance Froarar.

To rate this proqgrar cveen rore et fective, the cono2pt
¢! tax cre-lits for sdeption g an additienal ancentive
tor perrainency for children rerits anylys.¢.

Frorgror Totogeatrog

Ia¢t ronth, the Administration received corrents on ts
hatice of Frepaced Puierakang, which would eonsaliaaste
state plan requiresents for several childien’s
pregrams. I oview this as a gond first etfore, b
revarnend that consideration of it yo even furthe

As our Family ITreservystyan precgran exper i noe b sh on
Us, we need an even qreater capabrlity for ae e eyng
additienal proorars and corvices for treabied farilles.
Frarples anclwde Sul wtance Abase by vertion and
Treatreont progrars, Heusoey, and © T MIN Medicard ta
eveure A Lull ranae o sy e n oy T b paral e
faralies,

FREEA o IR

in ¢lesanag,

teocnibd o clety, g Coae
Wlloate bk oar e (TR P Y
be cvrn fal iy arady Ther

PR SRR R




63

I'd also like to reinforce my conviction that national
standards in child welfare and foster care provide the
1ncentives and mandates for good practice, sound programs,
and consistency for all children. Please enhance the
standards for child safety. Please do not curtail them.

I have recormended a variety of ways for consideration to
improve our child welfare policy, which would also provide
to states an improved ability to deliver critically needed
services.

T am honored to have had the opportunity to contribute to
this crucially important discussion. I remain available to
work with you in your efforts towards inprovements in
protecting children and strengthening families.

1 am in awe of the magnitude of the decisions you must make
zince they will effect the well-being of rillions of
children.
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Chairman JOHNSUN. Thark you for your very interesting, useful
testimony.
Mr. Murphy.

STATEMENT OF PATRICK T. MURPHY, ESQ., COOK COUNTY
PUBLIC GUARDIAN, CHICAGO, ILL.

Mr. MURPHY. Since 1968, I have been litigating issues involving
abused and neglected children at every }evefof the State and Fed-
eral Judiciary. Since 1987, I have been Cook County Public Guard-
ian running an office of about 135 lawyers and 60 socialworkers
and investigators representing primarily abused and neglected chil-
dren, again at every state and level of the judiciary.

Secretary Bane pointed out that the 1980 Adoption Assistance
Act improved the whole system of child welfare in response to a
question from Mr. Levin, Iythink. Based upon my own experience,
I testified twice before Senator Birch Bayh’s committees leading up
to this act and in favor of it. I wrote a book in 1974 where I said
we needed more family preservation programs. All I can tell you
1s, based on my experience, things are much worse today than they
were before the 1980 act, and T am not suggesting the 1980 act
caused everything to get worse, but indeed they are much worse.

if you looK at 5hicago in 1986, there were 8,000 kids, neglected

and abused kids in custody. Today, there are over 30,000. Nation-
wide in 1986, there were 262,000; today, over a half million.

Mrs. Johnson referred to the crack epidemic as causing this and
80 percent of our cases in Chica;;o are crack related. But what
causes peopie to turn on to crack” In our judgment and what we

sce every day, it is the woman who is 22 years old, who has five
children by different fathers, and none of the fathers are dads. She
wakes up and she is depressed. She has got no education. It is a
reality-based depression and she turns to drugs the same way you
and I would if we were in the same situation.

We can get in a plane and go to L.A. or San Francisco or the
shore of Mi.nigan. These people cannot. They are stuck in the
inner cities. They are stuck with the children without, an education
and no place to go, so they turn to drugs. Their paramour is the
drug supplier and he abuses the kids and abuses the woman and
that is what we see in the system.

The simple fact is that you cannot look at the child welfare sys-
tem in our major cities without looking at what causes it. And
what causes it is the underclass and that is what we see feeding
into it. Ninety percent of the cases we see, probably closer to 100
percent, some weeks, are the children of the underclass.

And again, Mrs. Johnson referred to the case in Chicago of the
18 children. Actually, it was 19 kids and these 5 women had 23
kids amongst them. We represent them, We are their lawyer. And
the 23 kids had 17 fathers. And each one of these mothers had
their first kid when they were between the ages of 14 and 16 be-
cause we have a welfare system which encourages irresponsible be-
havior.

If you look at the family preservation program, who do we re-
ward? The 95 percent of the people in the underclass who do a good
job under difficult circumstances of raising their kids? No. The
don't get a farthing. But if you abuse your kid, we will run out witf’n,
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a socialworker, a housekeeper, a psychologist, chauffeuring serv-
ices, and money. It makes absolutely no sense, but that is the way
our welfare system has been conducted in this country and we see
the failures of the welfare system in the juvenile courts.

I would just say beware of wolves in sheep’s clothing who are
going to come before you and they are going to say we need con-
tinuation of the same thing. And these people are academics and
they are foundation people and they are government people whose
lil\n'ngs are being made from this private and public welfare com-
plex.

There are two tyﬁes of politicians, I think, responsible for this,
if I can lecture such an austere group of pecple, and that is Con-
servatives who have given over the rcsponsibility for dealing with
the poor to the Liberals, and the Liberals who haven’t had a—and
I perceive myself as a Liberal Democrat, by the way, though I
think Liberal Democrats don't, but the Liberals who haven’t had a
creative thought in 30 years. And I think we have to come together
to try to figure out ways of dealing with this very complex problem.

To use an example, Marianne Wright Edelman, who should know
better, wrote in Mother’s Day and Parade Magazine, if it is wrong
for 13-year-old inner-city girls to have babies without the benefit
of marriage, it is wrong for rich celebrities, too. Absolute garbage.
A 35-year-old woman with a lot of money can raise a kid by herself
but a 12-year-old kid or 14- or 15-year-old kid should be reading
Chaucer, should be going to sweet shops, and should be doing other
things. All I can say is I go to court, my 9-year-old kid is here with
me today, not as an exhibit but because he wanted to get out of
school. That is probably a form of child abuse.

Mr. LEVIN. Just a normal kid.

Mr. MurpPHY. And I walk into court and 1 see kids the same age
as my 9 year old and my 12 year old and I know they have ihe
same ability and talent, {)ut unless they can do the 40 in 4.1, we
don’t care about them. We are willing to spit their lives down the
drain and that is what we are doing with the lives of the kids of
the underclass.

And the way to do something about it isn’t to give them more
money. If I gave Joe $150 every time he broke a window, he would
go break another window. If you give a 12-year-old kid AFDC be-
cause she has a child, it is cu turagl-l. What do you expect? We have
got to change the system. We have got to rethink it. I don’t have
the answers. I am just a lawyer who goes to court. But we have
to think about the answers and come up with conclusions. Thank
you.

[The prepared statement follows:|




OFF1CE OF THE COOK COUNTY PUBLIC GUARDIAN
JUVENILE COURT
2245 W. OGDEN AVENUE
4th FLOOR
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60612

PATRICK T. MURPHY PHONE: (312) 433-4300
FAX: (312) 433-4336

TESTIMONY OF PATRICK T. MURPHY BEFORE THE COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND
MEANS, SUB-COMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT JANUARY 23, 1995

The Cook County Public Guardian’s office acts as guaidian for 400 elderly
peopie whio sutier from Alzheimer's discase and organic brain syndiome and also
das attomey and quarduin gd laein 1o 31,000 abused and neglected children in
Cook County [lnois. We have 250 employees 35 lawyers and about 50 social
workers or mvestigators  The vast maganty of our lawyers work i the Juvenile
Caart o Cheanga

L persorally have beeo tepresenting abused and neglected childien since

1968 tust as a legat services lawyer, then in private paacticing and since 1986 as

Punhne Guandian | have argued cases mvatving abused and neglected childien and

the tanultes at every level ol the state and tedeal judiciaty, including the United
States Supieme Cout  In 1974 | wiote & book ahout my eéxpenences in
wpresentng abused and neglected and then fanilies Qu Kindly Pacent the State,
Vg Press, Penguin Books

ool book. and {ater on at {feast twa occosions betore Congiessional
Coreniecs Largaed that the poat were berq victnuzed by the state’s approach

to cold weltate  Along with others, | argued that taouly preservation would be
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cheaper for the government and better for the child. In mw experience in the
1970’s cases of actual child abuse were rare. We argued that most children were
taken from poor parents because of the middle class bias of state social workers.
In 1980 congress passed the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act
("AAA"}. This act mandates that the state provide family preservation services to
keep childien at home. In llinois, for instance, these services have taken the form
of housekeepers in the home, cash vouchers up to $500. a downpayment of two
months rent on an apartment, psychiatric o1 other counsehng and chautffeuring
services. The Adoption Assistance Act was the culmination of the "do not blame
the victim" phitosophy popular 10 the late 60's and 70‘s. According to this
viewpoint, a poor, powerless and misguided parent 1s as much a victim as the child
whom he or she has abused. According to this thinking. the state should provide
services so that parents can learn to psovide adequate care to then children.
Because we 1epiesent abused and neglected childien, pnmanly at the
Juvenite Court in Chucago. we see hfe from the bottom of the mountain, not the
ton. | cannot pretend that our perspective 1s that of an administrator or a
bureaucrat or an academician, ‘\We aie [awyers going to a specific court in a
specific county. n a specific state tiying to repiesent, as best we can, 31,000
childien who range in age from a few days old to swaggerng, detiant and down
deep tghtened adolescents. We cannot tell you first hand the effects of the 427
leviews. However, we can tell you first hand that they appear to make no

difterence. other than to inciease bureaucracy.
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In brief we believe that the 427 Review should be done away with because:

{A) expenence shows they do not help;

(B} over the past two decades, the philosophy these reviews seeks to uphold
has been shown 1o be not only muddieheaded. but positively counterproductive, In
that «t harms the veiy people it seeks to help, and

(C} anything we can do to reduce federal bureaucracy and 10 return decision
making to those who actually face these probleins is a step 1n the night direction

Let's take an actual case. On September 15, 1994 Chicago Police charged a
31 yeai-old woman living on the Westside of Chicago with endangering her nine
childieri. age six weeks to adolescence. The police reported. "[elach child smelled
of human teces. there was inadequate cleanliness, inadequate tood, roach intested
conditians and two inches ot water in the house.” The lllinois Department of
Chuidren & Family Services (DCFS) had been “working with” the mother for the
past half dozen years. After the poiice took = kids from the woman, a DCFS
spokesperson said. “"From the ume we've been involved with the family, we've
been dealing with issues related to poverly...we can't take children away just
because of poverty, and |ust about everything here,..relates to poverty...."

Four years catlier, DCFS, with Juvenile Court approval, had taken the kids
flom the mother because she Isft home to get her welfare check and didr't think of
coming back for two days. Her six childien were left with an invahd qrandma.
According to investigators. at that time tne four children:

were without coats. Poor hygiene...standing water...soiled pampers
thioughout bedioom floor  Holes in walls and faling plaster....Older children
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admitted they had not had any breakfast for two days, only lunch at school

and a sandwich for dinner. Infant was saturated with urine when child was

taken into protective custody. Worker changed pamper and baby was so
raw from diaper rash, skin literally came off in diaper. There was no tood at
all in the refrigerator, all baby formula was spoiled even bottle child was
drinking from....

After a few months, DCFS retuined the kids to the custody of the mother
and began to offer her fanmily preservaton seivices. The State provided the mother
with a nousekeeper five days a week. They purchased beds and hired workmen to
install a hot water heater and fix the holes in the wall. Somewhe(e along the hne,
however tiiey forgot to make sure that the mother kicked her habit. Not
surpnsingly, four years later, the kids were (n woise shape and there were thiee
more of them

| could wute pages about the number of kids | have seen beaten, raped or
killed while the state was trying to preserve a family that was not a family at all,
but mstesd s couple of prople whose sexual relations led to the birth of 3 chilg. In
my view fiom tae bottom ot the mauntamn, at a collectively unconscious level,
socwety simply does not consider the underclass kid to have the same worth as a
winte o1 black middle class chiid. These poor children are fungible commodities to
be expenmented with by sending them back to patents who have tortured ot

neglected them,

The chid weltare crowd frequently tskes a blasé attitude toward child abuse

Take a recent study' that divided afl injunes suffered by chitdren into four

NATIONAL INCIDENCT AND PREVALENCE OF CHILD ABUSE AND
NEGLECT: 1988, Revisited Report, Rockville, Maryland, Westat, September, 1991,

1
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categories: Fatal, Serious, Moderate and Inferred. Moderate was defined in the
report as injuries or impairments for which observable symptoms persisted for at
least 24 hours (g.g., bruises. depression or emotional distress.)" The authers of
the report listed only six percent of all sexual abuse cases as serious, even though
one thid of all sexual abuse cases included penile penetration.

Therefore, the majority of cases where your friendly pervert screws a child
are not serious. And it is only "moderate” sex abuse when the mom's paramour or
the dad comes up behind a 12-year-old girl and fondles her breasts, or pats her
butt, or bites her on the shoulder, o: strokes her leg or crotch as they‘re watching
MTV. And 1it's only moderate sex abuse when in one third of cases the fout
actually screws the kid. But the true believers in the child weltare industry argue
that these adults are victuns who must be helped ai the expense of the child’s
satety.

Could you imagine the response of feminists (or conservative, tiaditional
women, for that matter) to anyone arguing that this type of behavior toward a
honconsenting adult woman is not senous? Or try suggesting that a boss who 1
mouythung sexudl nnuendos 1s not quitty of a senous infraction  Or that a goon
who slaps nis wife or guitiend acound leaving “injures o mparrments tor which
observable symptoms persisted for at least 24 hours (e.g., bruises, depression or

emotional distiess) causes only "moderate abuse." Beat up of rape the kid down

as 1eported by Douglas Besharov and Lisa Laumann in a paper prepared for the
Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affars, Princeton, New Jersey.
May 25 27, 1994, DON'T CALL IT CHILD ABUSE IF IT'S REALLY POVERTY.
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the block and you’ll end up in the can for a good long spell. Beat up or have sex
with your own child ano you'll get a social worker and housekeeper.

And the federal guidelines mandate that even when the children are taken
away. the states must bend over backwards to send the children back home. Let
me give you one more case of ours, but I’ll let the Chicago Tribune explain 1t:

A mother who stood 1dly by as her boyfriend repeatedly sexually and

physically abused her three daughters, including one who lat2r died, should

be flown at taxpayer expense to Florida four times a year to visit her two
surviving gils, [DCFS officials] are recommending.

At the tual, tesimony showed that [the mother] for years stood idly by while
as her thiee daughters were beaten and raped by {the boyfriend}). In some
instances, she had been in the same bed with (the boyfr:iend] as he sexually
attacked her daughtet, accoiding 1o the testinony.
(The daughters were four, six and eight at the tme that the younger one was
anndered by the boyinend )

The 427 Review fo1 family preservation is a great idea if there 15 a tamily to
preserve  But, it1s a hotrible 1dea if 1t invoives keeping chidren 1n 1eturning them
10 a situatlon where they can be senously harmed. The goal of child welfare
should be child piotection. At umes, child protection means preserving the family.
But federally mandated chitd preservation 100 often means that services are
tavished on wiesponsible indswviduals who have senously harmed their children.

Farmily Preservation also makes little sense in the larget scheme of weltare

services. Under its aegis, irtesponsible behawvior 1s rewarded and responsible

behawvior 15 denigrated. M, tor instance, you take any floor of any housing project in
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the nation you may find seven families struggling heroically against impossible odds
10 raise their children adequately, three or four families providing marginally for
theiwr children, and one or two crack cocaine addicts who abuse their children or
leave them kids alone while they go out looking for drugs. Which of the parents
feceives additional services from the tax payers? Not the seven families providing
heroically for then children or even the families who are providing marginally care.
Instead, the drug addict actively abusing or neglecting her childien may get a
housekeeper, money, intensive social work services, chautfeuring, to appomtments
and even several months rent for a new apartment, so that she can move out of
the projects.

The message to people i the underclass 1S, act responsibly and you will
get heip  Act responsidly ang YOu get nothing | subnut 1o you that this 153
patronizing message  Because it nvolves the underciass, which in our Major ciies
1S comprnised prnmaruy of African American, 1t 1s a racist message.

These vigneties are anecdotai. But Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago
conducted a massive thiee vear study of the lllingis fanuly preservation progran:
Fanuty Fust  The study was the iaigest ang most comprehenswve ever perfoimed
00 tanuly preservation Chapin Hall conciuded that Family First did not have dny
measurable success at keeping childien out of the (oster care system. Because the
program cost $20 nullion gorlars a veat the Chapin Hali repoit concluded that
DCFS was spending $20 mihon 10 save $2 mullion, n effect wasting $18 rullion a

yedi. In the best traditior of bureaucracy, the agency then sought to expand 1ne




program.

Chapin Hall reported that DCFS officials recognized that the Family First
\mtiative would lead to deaths of some children, but apparently believed that the

successes would outweigh these setbacks. Chapin Hall pointed out that "It is

almost certain that the probability of child deaths will te higher in a program In

which children at risk are left at home rather than taken into foster care...” The

teport goes on to obserive, “The ongmnal des:gners of the [family preservation

program] realized that such cases would occur and went to some lengths 1o devise

responses 10 these crises.” As a pait of 1ts evaluation ptocess, Chapin Hall began

gathering data on the deaths of children duning and after Family Furst services weie

offered However, Chapin Hatl reported, that after a year or so, "DCFS
administiatars have asked us 10 suspend our study ot child deaths.”
DCFS gives sccutity deposits and 1ent downpayments 10 people whom the

agency perceives 10 be in danges of losing then chidren because of inadequate

tousing This is a reasonable program 1t funds are not given to paients who have

blown the ega money on crack, coke. helom and booze. When Chapin Hall began

1o study the housing intiative, DCFS again told them “to halt ali inquiries...."

Who are the children and families we see at court?

In 1986, 8.000 childien were in substitute caie (n Cook County as a resuit
ot abuse and neglect. Today. there ate over 30,000 such chiddren. in 1986,
262.000 children resided 1n substituie caie, while today there are about half a

Mast child weltare experts attiibute this astounding increase to diug

andhion
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abuse. At [east 80% of the cases we see in Cook County involve a drug addicted

parent or parents. Lawyers in L.A. and New York tell me that their statistics are
the same or higher.

At first | thought that drugs were the cause of the dramatic increase in child
abuse, but not today. The usual case we see from the boitom ot the mountain
involves 3 woman 1n her earlier 20°s with three to five children by several fathers,
none ol whom s involved with her or the kids. She becomes depressed and her
depression s 1eality based  She 1s @ high school drop out with iittle education and
no job prospects. Her own mother had her fust ctuld when she should have been
studying Chaucer or skipping rope. And she herself does not know her father She
wakes up one day realizing that for all intents and purposes her hfe 1s over. And,
probably so too are the hves ol ker childier,  She turns 10 wrugs as a reasonable,
cheaper and certanly more viable alternative to a tup Vermont. the shore or
Eutone  And «f you o | were 1n her shoes. we would turn to drugs or woise.

She pecomes more depressed. withdrawn, forgets her childien and goes off
tor hours, days. and even weeks leaving her kids for neighbors and tanuly
ulitmately to rescue. fi many cases her diug supnlier becomes her paramour and
ulttmately the abuser of her chidren

The underclass was not cieated by weltare, but .oday 1t 1s sustasned by a
wellgre system that encowages depenaency. The piobiems of the underclass are
exacerbated by the fight of companies to underdeveloped countries. To succeed

today. you need at least o high school dipioma and probably more. Chidien having
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children do not finish therr high school education. People of the underclass do not
have the high school education plus more. The Right ignores the plight of the
underclass and the Left pationizes it, which I1s just another form of racism. Marion
Wrnght Edelman of the Children’s Defense Fund, who knows better, wrote in
Patade Magazine on Mother's Day. 1994, "And if it’s wrong for 13-year-old, inner
city girls to have babies without benefit of marriage, it’s wrong for rich celebrities

too.” The fact 1s, most single women celebrnities who are having children are not
chiidren, and they have the maiunty and financial resources to raise a child
reasonably well. Thuteen year old girls should be doing math, playing volleyball,
and working on computers. not changing diapers and worrying about theirr W.I.C.
funds, AFDC checks and food stamps

Every Sunday afternoon, | see large Afncan Amencan men running up and
down the gndiron, knocking other men down and sconng touchdowns. Colleges
and professional teams demand excellence from inner-city African American
athletes Society, schools and the Left expect nothing from wner-city African
Amerncan kids. whether bught. average or sumb  The most depressing part of my
fob 1s to walk into (uvemile court on any day, and to see kids about the same age as
my own two sons, with the same potential for excellence and achievement, who
will never have the chance to attain that potential. As a society. we should
demand excellence from everybody. but most particularly from those who have no

one else to motivate them to reach therr potential.

| cumpare the underclass | see in courl today to the poor | represented 1n the
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60’s and 70’s, and the companson 1s invidious. | now see five or six generations,

15 years apart, of welfare dependent families without constant male authority
figures; schools that do not--and cannot without parental involvement--educate;
factory jobs exported to Asia; a welfare system depriving people of dignity,
fostering irresponsible behavior and belitting self-discipline; drugs soid on street
corners as freely as soda, and guns as available as drugs; and the whole mess a
Gordian knot resisting solutions and ready to explode in the outer cities as random
violence and in the inner city as rnoting and looting.

A New York Times’ [ouinahst points out that "while the cost of welfare 1s
not small, 1t 1s not as laige as the passions that suiround the issue...."? The cost
of AFDC may not be astronomical, but 1t 1s devastating in terms of spinoffs such as
childien who ulumately end up In the cinminal justice system, who are abused and
neglected, or who simpty ive out ther lives in despair on welfare themselves. To
understand (he underclass and the problems of the underclass, legislators,
members of the Administration and other politicians should not read boring
statistics which can be argued every which way. instead, they should spend a few
days. weeks and even months 1n our criminal and juvenile justice courts In any
moderately sized ciy.

The Demwocrats have predictably blamed Ronaid Reagan, who has become
the liberals’ favorite whipping boy for ali the social ills facing our country. Reagan

was not exactly Oscar matertal, either before o1 atter he was elected president, but

New York Times. December 5, 1993.
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| suppose it 1s only fair that the liberals place the blame on him for the underclass
because conservatives have excoriated L.B.J.’s expansive and "uresponsible”
programs for the same problems. But 1t does seem just a bit much for the liberals
to shizk therr own responsibility. when 1t was we, liberals, who hushed up the
Moynihan 1eport, when he warned us of the coming underclass syndrome almost
thiee decades ago.

The Moynihan report was one of the earliest victims of political coriectness.
Moynihan pointed out what he perceived to be an alarming statistic--that 25% of
ull black children were being born to single moms. He also prophesied that the
«mphications of this report could lead to increased misery among very poor African
Amernicans. In other words, although he didn’t call it that, he was alluding to what
has since been tagged as an underclass. The Left would have no part or Moynihan
o1 his 1eport, both of which weie labeled as racist. What they were really saying 1s
that we cannot openly discuss the implications of this report because sO rnany
Amencans are racist, and they will surely take these statistics to mean that Afiican
Americans are somehow less stable, less moral, less ethical and less family
onented than therr white counterparts.

Instead of adnutting to the pioblems of the underclass and welfare

dependency. the Left purposely misstated the statistics, arguing that the majority

of mdividuals on welfare are white. Of couise this is true, but the vast majorty of
Amencans ale atso white  When the statistics aie studied realistically, 1t 1s clear

that a welfaie dependent, pumardy Aflican Amenican underclass wallows i misery.
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The Bane/Eliwood studies show that when first time recipients of AFDC aie broken

down by race, 60% are white, 35.7% black. At any one time, 48% of recipients

are white and 47.5% are black. With respect to the percentage of individuals who
receive AFDC for more thar ten years, 15% are whit -, und 33.7% are black.

Most of the cases we see in Juvenile Court involve the underclass. Because
In our Major cities the underclass is pnmarily African American, the majority of our
abused child clients are black. The problem is not racial, but neither is it economic.
Itis cultural. A culture of welfare dependent individuals recycle their welfare
dependency and misery 10 a new generation every 15 years or 50, and that
population, for reasons dating back to slavery and segregation, is primanly African
Amencan. |f we do not stop now. examine the problem and, as a society, iry to
do something about 1t, 1t will explode to haunt the rest ot us and our chidren for
generations to come. Woise. we as 3 society aie thishing the nves of many
potentally tatented human beings right down the toilet. But forget the talented
human beings, why should a decent society shove aside innocent children, talented
or otheiwise, because they come fiom a certain background?

In an atticle wiitten tor the Chicago Sun T.mes. The ACLU argued that
welfare retorm could be unconstitutionat:

The child exclusion 1s not about saving money:

1t 1s about singhng out poor ctuldren for pumishment because of the

decisions of their parents. The goal of child exclusion proposals, as

outlined b 1ts proponents s to coerce ‘welfare mothers’ into not

having chitdren. But 1ust as the government cannot outlaw abortion
and requirte women to bear children, the government cannot prevent




women from having children.”

The goal of welfare retform should not be to prevent women from having
childien, but to encourage teenage girls to make decisions based upon
mictoeconomic realities and to delay child bearing until they are adults who are
capable of supporting their childien. The ACLU argument that poor Children are
being singled out for punishment is garbage. AFDC checks go to moms, not kids.
These mothers make decisions how to spend the money and live off the checks as
much as the childrets, and some times more. Most mothers receiving AFDC checks
do use the money for the benefit of their children. But welfare cast as a children’s
issue makes questions of wellare dependency disappear.
CONCLUSION

Cluldien, pnmarily from the underclass. are pourning into the Juvenile Court
and chud weltare bureaucracies, primanly because of the failuies of our welfare
system. | wplore you to devise ways to cut down the federal bureaucracy and
guwdelines, which stifle creative ttunking on the local level and which seem to exist
only to uphotd a politically correct philosophy, which no longer make sense.

The child welfare buieaucracy and s suppoiters aie alreajy turning up the
heat, arguing that ceform will harm children. The reality 1s that children are being

harmed today by o weltare system whiclh rewards nresponsible behavior and fails

3 Article trom the Op Ed Column of the Chicage Sun Times, June 25,

1994, by Dehorah Lews, Legislative Counsel for the Washington, D.C., legislative
office ot the National Amencan Cwvil Liberties Union
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o encourage teenagers to pursue educational goals and to ascape the underclass

through persistence and hard work. Children are being harmed today by a child
weltare system which rewards parents for irresporsible behavior towards these
children, by keeping these children in the homes of abusive parents.

And please do not forget that those who complain the loudest have financial
incentives to do so. Child welfare is 3 major industry In this country. The
Department of Children and Family Services in lllinois receives over one billion

dollars a year in taxpayer support. Those who argue loudest against welfare

reform more often than not earn ther livings as part of a private/public welfare
complex. President Eisenhower's 1960 dictum concerning the evils of a
military/industiial complex today can be applied equally to public and private
welfare and child welfare elites today. These individuals hide behind abused and

neglected children in an attempt to keep the money flowing into their own coffers.

Q
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Chairman JoHNsON. Thank you very much, Mr. Murphy.

Ms. Barr, I would like you to describe in a little more getail your
State’s oversight system, because you mentioned that there are
three different systems. You have to do certain things under sec-
tion 427 that you don't normally do. But in your testimony, you de-
scribe in rather more detail wﬁat your State actually does and it
sounds to me very sensible and appears in practice to have been
very effective. So what do you do and what is the contrast between
what you do and what 427 would have you do?

Ms. BaLAsCO-BARR. Section 427 requires us to do the division-di-
rected case reviews that alternate with the court when there is
court supervision of out-of-home placement. The Child Placement
Review Board works from the judiciary system. It is a group of vol-
unteers who are located in each county in New Jersey and they,
too, review out-of-home placement cases and hold informal hear-
ings regarding those same children. My point was that there are
three bodies tﬁen reviewing the same case.

Chairman JoHNSON. What is your success with the volunteer re-
view process?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. It is—I value that, because oftentimes we get
tied up into what is good case practice and sometimes forget what
is good common sense and oftentimes the volunteer perspective
brings to the case review process very good basic cornmon sense.
And that is the value of having lay volunteers reviewing the cases
who are vested solely in what is good practice and what makes
good sense for this child.

Chairman JOHNSON. Very interesting.

Mr. Murphy, do you believe that this kind of citizen review board
random outcomes testing, random intervention would be better
than the bureaucracy that we have now? Might it enable us to
reach these problems earlier or manage them more efficiently?

Mr. MurpHY. I think we are just kind of playing around with
something like a shell game, as I think maybe my testimony im-
plied. I just think the whole system needs total rethinking. There
should be more local control. Where the money comes from is some-
thing I am not an expert on. But I think that the control and the
direction should be on a very local basis.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. Mr. Matsui.

Mr. Matsul. Thank you. I would like to just say, Mr. Horn, wel-
come back, and Mr. Murphy is making you look like a Liberal. I
want to thank both Ms. Barr and certainly Peter Digre is a good
friend and somebody that we have used often as a resource. We ap-
preciate your coming from Los Angeles.

Mr. Murphy, I would like to ask you a question. You have 135
laW}:’ers, you were saying, in your operation, your division, I guess
it is?

Mr. MURPHY. Yes.

Mr. MATsUIL And you are in charge of making sure that well, you
are a guardian for cf)mlildren, right, you are a court-ordered?

Mr. MURPHY. No. The public guardian name is a misnomer. We
act as a guardian for elderly people in one small division. We take
care of them and their estates. Our largest division, which I took
over in 1987, there were 12 lawyers when I took it over, now there




83

are 135, and there were no socialworkers. Now there are about 60.
We act as lawyers for children in that division.

Mr. MATsUL So 135 lawyers under your jurisdiction——

Mr. MURPHY. That is correct.

Mr. MATSUL. You have jurisdiction over children? You are the
lawyers for the children?

r. MURPHY. That is correct.

Mr. MATSUL In other words, you are the guardian—then your de-
partment, I guess it is, is a guardian for these children?

Mr. MURPHY. We are their lawyers.

Mr. MATSUL And this is how many thousand, 30,000?

Mr. MuUrpPHY. Thirty thousand.

Mr. MATsUL It started with 8,000 in 1980; it is 30,000 now?

Mr. MurPHY. Correct.

Mr. MATsUL Now, this is the State. In other words——

Mr. MUrPHY. The county.

Mr. Matsul. In other words——

Mr. MURPHY. Chicago and its suburbs. The city of Chicago and
its suburbs, about 6 million people.

Mr. MATsUL Right. And you indicated—Chairwoman Johnson
mentioned the 19 children that were left abused. And then I recall
back in—if I am not mistaken, back in 1993, if I remember, in Feb-
ruary or March of 1993, there was a situation where a mother had,
1 believe, killed her child?

Mr. MuURrPHY. That is correct.

Mr. MaTsul. We had a hearing about that.

Mr. MuRrPHY. That is correct.

Mr. Matsul. In Chicago, if you recall, that some of us were inter-
ested in.

If you are the guardian and you have 135 lawyers, why is it you
are not able to deal with these problems? Because it would appear
to me that as guardian, you have a personal responsibility to mak-
ing sure that these children are taken out of that kind of a situa-
tion. Why did that happen?

Mr. MurpPHY. Well, we are the lawyers. Again, we are not the
State agency which usually appears, which is the guardian. And
what we end up doing is suing the State agency. We have won over
lhmillion—I won’t go into aﬁ the lawsuits we have had against
them.

One of the frustrations I feel, though, is when I came on board
in 1987, I thought that suing and, as I said, we won all kinds of
cases, would bring about reform. What you realize after awhile is
that——

Mr. MATSUL If you can answer my question, because you are—
I have to understand this. You say ]you sue State agencies, but you
do that on behalf of a particular child. Is that correct?

Mr. MURPHY. That is correct.

Mr. MaTsUL So if that child who was murdered by the child’s
mother, why did you not—you were the guardian of that child.

Mr. MURPHY. We were the lawyer. That is a good case, because
that is a case where I think our lawyers goofed up and it was a
family preservation case.

Mr. MATsUL. What lawyer goofed? Not your lawyer but somebody
else.
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Mr. MURPHY. Me. I think I goofed up in that case because I am
responsible for the lawyers under me. This is a case, a good case
to talk about, where a mom who spent years in a psychiatric facil-
ity was doing disgusting things. She was eating glass, sticking bot-
tles into her, that’s where the State came in and said that we want
to keep the kid with the mom.

Mr. Martsul. Right.

Mr. MURPHY. We ultimately went in and argued the kid should
not live with the mom and we lost the case and we refused to ap-
peal it thinking that we couldn't win. It came to court the second
time and we agreed with the State the second time that this was
a great family preservation case, we should put a housekeeper in
the home. There was a housekeeper in the home 7 days a week.
And the woman turned out and murdered her child. It is a good
example of family preservation gone crazy, and we were as much
to blame as the State in that case in agreeing to it.

Mr. MATsul. And this is just the point I want to make, because
this was a State-operated program.

Mr. MuUrpPHY. That is correct.

Mr. Martsul. In fact, what you are doing now is under State oper-
ation at this time.

Mr. MURPHY. No, no. It is a federally—don’t forget family preser-
vation came from the Adoption Assistance Act and it came from the
19—that is where it came from, right? So that Illinois was reacting
and they had a special $20 million grant from the Feds to do this.

Mr. MaTsul. No, no. What I am talking about here is that your
department is a State-operated——

Mr. MurpHY. County.

Mr. MaTtsul. County, excuse me.

Mr. MuURPHY. It is government operated.

Mr. MaTsul. | guess we just talked about the 19 children that
were left.

Mr. MURPHY. We were not involved in that until they came into
the system, of course. We were not their lawyers when they were
living out there.

Mr. MAaTsul. Doesn’t this point out the problem with the entire
system and the fact that here you are—you are running it. You are
the one that should be in charge of this.

Mr. MURPHY. | am in charge of the lawyers——

Mr. Ma7sul. It is one thing to rail about how terrible the system
is, but what specific steps are you taking right now to try to deal
with it? How can the Federal G?rlovernment help you with this? Be-
cause we are having the same discussion that we had 2 years ago,
and you are still doing the same thing but you haven’t come up
with any solution.

Mr. MurpPHY. The solution—the solution is this, is that you and
I are talking about lawyers going to court and socialworkers

Mr. MaTsul. No, | am not. You are talking about that. Tell me
what recommendations you would make specifically to us so that
we can pass legislation to make your job better and make sure
those 19 kids aren't in a position of disrepair and that young child
doesn’t get murdered?

Mr. MURPHY. You should put me out of business.

20




85

Mr. MaTsul. We would like to put you out of business, for good
reasons.

Mr. MURPHY. Mr. Matsui, I know I am in Congress here, but you
asked me a question. I would like an opportunity to respond.

Mr. MaTsul. I don’t want a filibuster. I just want you to answer
the question.

Mr. MURPHY. I will.

Mr. Matsul. Good.

Mr. MURPHY. And that is my own agency has gone from 12 law-
yers and no socialworkers to 135 lawyers and all these
socialworkers in just a few years. The State DCFS office has tripled
its budget in a few years. There was a prognostication by Secretary
Bane that maybe things will level off. I will tell you they will dou-
ble in our major cities in the next 5 years. Why? Because no matter
what you do within the child welfare system, it will have no effect
because the child welfare system is a product of the underclass and
of our welfare system, which is in total disarray. So no matter how
many billions and experts and socialworkers you pour into the
child welfare system, it doesn’t mean a thing, gecause as long as
you have 14-year-old kids having kids, which no lawyer, no
socialworker, no bureaucrat, no Congressman can do an hing
about, as long as we say we don’t care if you get an education or
not, we are going to continue to reward you, the system is goin
to be in disarray. We have got to change our welfare system an
take a look at wKat—who we are encouraging.

You know, the real problem is that—I know the Democrats like
to blame Reagan and tﬁe Republicans, Johnson, but no one listened

to Pat Moynihan in 1966 when he prognosticated what was going

to happen when kids were having kids without the benefit of fa-
thers. We see it every day in juvenile court. That is what we have
got to address.

Mr. MATSUIL. Let me say this. I think you are getting to the root
cause of our problem. And again, I shouldn’t say root cause. But
you are getting to the fundamental problem that we are trying to
deal with here. But given the fact that we are trying to deal with
the welfare system and that is in the same general area but on a
separate tracK at this time, we still are talking about the child wel-
fare system at this particular time and just to suggest that we just
throw it out is——

Mr. MURrPHY. I am saying not throw it out.

Mr. Ma1sul. What are you suggesting, then?

Mr. MurpHY. I am saying un%ess you concentrate on this bigger
welfare system of the underclass, it doesn’t make a difference what
you do with child welfare. You can run it from Washington, you
can run it from Springfield, you can run it from L.A., you can run
it from Mogadishu, it doesn’t make any difference because we are
feeding into it from the underclass and it is the underclass that you
have got to attack. You have got to attack that problem because it
will make no difference. We are going to double the size in Chicago,
I can tell you, in § years.

Mr. MATsUL Let me just conclude by saying I tend to agree with
you. I tend to believe that the problem is going to get worse and
worse. And we have a long ways ahead of us.

Mr. MUrPHY. Because the underclass is growing.
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Mr. Martsul. I would like to thank all four of you. I am sorry I
didn’t get a chance to ask you questions. I do appreciate and look
f‘orwarg to working with you.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. The panel has really given ex-
cellent testimony.

Mr. Hancock.

Mr. HANCOCK. Thank you very much. Mr. Murphy, I read the
last paragraph in your statement. I would like to get a response
to the statement that you make that this is a major industry, that
actually it is to their benefit to increase the number of people on
welfare because that is the way they make their living.

Would you like to make a statement on that?

Ms. BaLAasco-BarRr. I appreciate the opportunity to make a re-
sponse to that, because when—I think we can get so overwhelmed
by the numbers of what not—what is not working that we don’t
take the opportunity to look at where in States family preservation
is working and where there has been decreases in the number of
children coming into foster care and what model programs are
working in several States, three of which that I know of personally
because I was there. In Michigan with the Kellogg Foundation,
looking at neighborhoods, building neighborhoods, c%xanging neigh-
borhoods, helping communities become more responsible for the
children and families that live in those communities; Governor
Whitman with her urban initiatives going back to the center cities,
empowering communities, empowering church groups, empowering
small neighborhoods, small groups to be responsible for the chil-
dren that we have to serve, finding different ways that don’t in-
volve children going into foster care but still require the State or
the city to spend money to help people improve their housing, im-
prove their child care, improve their education programs, having
substance abuse programs that serve people where they have to
learn to live.

Mr. HANCOCK. Pardon me. It sounds to me like you are talking
volunteerism. You are talking about getting people involved in this
area whose personal income is not necessarily tied to our welfare
programs. Am I correct in that statement? Mr. Horn, would you
like to make a comment?

Mr. HorN. At the risk of no longer appearing Liberal to Con-
gressman Matsui, I would like to——

Mr. MaTsut. I ruined your reputation, I am sorry.

Mr. HorN. I think that one of the points that Mr. Murphy is
making is a very important one, which is that when you separate
out, particularly biological, fathers from the househoKi, what you
get is an extraordinary increase in the potential for abuse. By one
study, the estimate is that abuse goes up 40 times when biological
fathers are out of the household.

Now, there are lots of reasons for that. One is there are less re-
sources for the family. The second is that parenting is less public.
There is not a partner to help you. The third is you tend to intro-
duce nonbiological males into the household and thet can be a very
dangerous situation.

The fact of the matter is there is a great deal that can be done
to improve this situation through child welfare reform and also
welfare reform. Unless fathers start to take their responsibilities
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more seriously and more men are in the homes to raise these chil-
dren along with the mothers, unless we change that culturally, we
are going to see exactly what Mr. Murphy predicts, which is a ris-
ing caseload in child welfare.

One of my complaints about the current system is that there are
so many games States and local agencies have to play in order to
access money for very specific purposes, that there are few re-
sources left to address this problem, the problem of fatherlessness.
One solution is to say OK, let's start a new fatherhood program.
Let’s appropriate $100 million and go out there and support fa-
thers. Well, that is the wrong way to go. The right way to go is to
%ive States and local agencies flexibility, and 1f, in fact,
atherlessness is an issue in their community, let them use the
money to address this problem.

Now, to the issue of whether there are people getting wealthy off
the child welfare industry. Certainly there is a lot of money in child
welfare and there are people making money off child welfare. But
I don’t think there are a whole lot of millionaires who are running
around because of funding streams that are coming from Washing-
ton for the child welfare system.

But clearly the incentives are wrong. Mr. Murphy is right, the
incentives say abuse your kids, you get lots of services. But if you
stay in school, you don’t impregnate a girl, and if you do, you get
married and you get a job, then where are the support systems for
that family? We need to change the way that we do things fun-
damentally to encourage much more positive family life and
parenting.

Mr. HANCOCK. What you are saying basically is it is going to
have to be done through an educational process or a reeducational
process that the male does have responsibilities in addition, be-
cause I don’t think the schools are teaching that now. They are
saying, we will provide you the equipment and encourage you to
have sex.

Mr. DIGRE. Yes. I think Mr. Murphy created a misimpression in
terms of the nature of people that I see flooding into the child wel-
fare system. We had a real good case study in California in that
our AFDC grants were cut twice in the end of 1992, and what we
saw coming into the child welfare system was people who lacked
the basic essentials of life: Food, clothing, and shelter.

We saw a vast—40 percent of all the people who came into our
family preservation programs were there basically for the reason
that they simply couﬁi not find housing. And so it is not—certainly
there are many dangerous people who should never be—have ac-
cess to their children and never be reunified with their children.
But there is also a huge proportion of people who end up with kids
in the foster care system who simply lack the wherewithal to raise
their own kids. It gets down to those very specific issues about a
place to live, food on the table, medical care, and things like that.

So I thought that was—that was much too strong a statement
about the nature of the parents that we see. And I would invite
any of you to come to Los Angeles to sit in one of our family preser-
vationJ)rograms and talk to several dozen parents in a family shel-
ter and judge for yourself whether there is hope for their futures
if they can be stabilized ‘n the economy.
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Mr. Hancock. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. Now we go to Mr. Herger.

Mr. HERGER. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

If I could just follow up, please, Mr. Digre. Could you tell—as I
am listening to you, I believe you are stating that because these
families, because of the economy downturn, they don’t have enough
money, therefore we are seeing these problems multiply. Could you
tell the committee your estimate of how many families you would
say in your experience that are losing their children soleYy because
of not having enough money?

Mr. DIGRE. Approximately half.

Mr. HERGER. go solely for no other reason just that there isn’t
enough money.

Mr. DIGRE. Now, it is what Mr. Murphy talks about. People at
some point start to give up. That is when you start to see the intro-
duction of crack and other drugs. But, you know, there is a point
at which I would say about half of the families are not physical
abusers, not sexual abusers, not people with propensities to vio-
lence but simply people who are struggling to keep ends pulled to-
gether and are eminently salvageable.

One of the things we have done is we implemented our big, very
comprehensive, intensive family preservation program in Los Ange-
les in 1993. We brought it up covering half the county, half the zip
codes in the county but not the other half. So we have compared
the two.

What we have seen is in those areas where we have a real pack-
age of supports, a very intense package of 23 services and 16 visits
a month to keep fam%es together, we have had no growth in foster
care whatsoever. Where we have not had this program, we saw
during that same time period in 1994 about a 20-percent growth
in the foster care population. So we saw about a 20- to 25-percent
difference whether or not these were available. And what we found
time and time again, what people were struggling with was the
food, clothing, and the overriding issue of shelter and to back that
up things like drug treatment, employment help, things like that.

Mr. HERGER. So you are—in about half the cases your depart-
ment is removing cKildren from families solely because they don’t
have enough money?

Mr. DIGRE. Not solely. People get into a whole complex of prob-
lems.

Mr. HERGER. That was the reason you mentioned, about 50 per-
cent—

Mr. DIGRE. That seems to be the trigger. People lose their hous-
ing. They end up living on the street to support themselves. They
get arrested. They get attracted to the drug culture. There is a
whole host of things that develop.

Mr. HERGER. Remember what my question was. Your statement
is these people don’t have enough money, thereforc they are losing
their children. Evidently, it is your department’s practice to remove
children from families in about 50 percent of the cases because
they don’t have enough money.

Mr. DiGRE. What our juvenile court law is—the definition of ne-
glect is children who are deprived of food, clothing, shelter, medical
care, and the other essentials of life. So yes, if families are des-
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titute and cannot provide food, clothing, and shelter under the ju-
venile court law, those children will enter the child welfare system
for neglect.

Mr. HERGER. And that is about again, I don’t want to belabor it,
about 50 percent in the Los Angeles area.

Mr. Murphy, if I could return to some questioning from Mr. Mat-
sui. It almost sounded like you were saymg—I want you to clarify
it, is it because of policies that we have at the Federal level that
are leading to the fact that you have had such a dramatic increase
in lawyers that you have needed in instances where—we even have
a mother, I believe you mentioned, who was eating glass and yet
the system chose to have these children still in her family, under
her care? Does part of that come because of incentives or dollars
that are coming frum the Federal Government?

Mr. MurpHY. No. That answers the question. I think that the
system has grown so much with people coming into it that what
was perceived a few—and I think there has been so many problems
within the child welfare system of kids being harmed within it that
we on a local level felt there was a need for lawyers acting as advo-
cates to fight the system. Most of our lawsuits are against the
State of Illinois even though we are a government agency. So that
is why it has grown.

My frustration is that as I tried to articulate in a not very good
basis is that you reach a point where you understand that no mat-
ter how many hours you work, no matter how many cases you win,
that because of this growth of the underclass, of basically children
having children without any—without any chance of—having any
chance in life that it is going to go on and on. By the way, I am
not against family preservation programs. I am just against the
way they were conducted. :

Mr. HERGER. Being conducted in a manner where a mother can
eat glass, as you mentioned, and still the recommendation of the
agency is they stay in the family. You would tend to think that
that is not a proper policy.

Mr. MURPHY. We take the most extreme cases. My own lawyers
and I was at fault in that case, too, as I told Mr. Matsui, and that
is an extreme case.

I will give you a less extreme case where a—a case came in with
an undernourished kid at 6 months, went into the hospital, the
doctors didn’t want to send the kid back home because the woman
had an 1Q of a 6 year old. And the State of Illinois said we have
family preservation in the home, we have a housekeeper there.

I looked at the report, it said the woman had—living at the
house was a mess. There were cockroaches all over the place, ro-
dents and garbage up to the ceiling, and also living in there were
dogs, cats, a guinea pig, and a monkey. You say to yourself a mon-
key? Well, maybe that was the smartest person in the house.
Maybe smarter than the socialworker who let this go on. That is
the extreme you can go to.

The University of Chicago conducted a 5-year study, said it didn’t
work. It didn’t harm, it didn’t help. Families should be preserved
if there is a family to preserve. It is cheaper and better for the kid,
no doubt.
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Mr. HERGER. Let me conclude, I do have to agree with both you
and Mr. Horn that a system that can allow a situation you just de-
scribed, also a system that spent approaching $5 trillion over the
last four or five decades and has the type o? results that we are
having now definitely needs to be turned around, and I commend
both of you in your attempt and this committee is hoping to change
that. Thank you.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Levin.

Mr. McDermott.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

I want to set a little context here. The two States that are held
up as examples as the way we ought to reform welfare are Wiscon-
sin and Michigan. They cut their welfare costs recently by dropping
their grant in one State from $544 to $517 a month for a family.
In another State, it was $525, now down to $459. Louisiana, for a
family of three, welfare is $190 a month and in the State of Mis-
sissippi, welfare is $120 a month. Now, being an Irishman from
Chicago, I appreciate the subtlety with which Chicagoans deal with
issues.

I would like to deal with some of the rest of you here and talk
about this business about children born to cnildren. I have been a
witness, an expert witness in dozens of cases as a child psychiatrist
on where the kids should be placed, so I have some experience on
the street. If a young woman comes in and she has had a child,
she is 15 years old and we pass a law in the Congress that says
if she is 15 years old; she goes back to school. If she doesn’t go back
to school, sKe doesn’t get any welfare money and if she does not
go back to school or she doesn’t stay in school—the Chicago schools,
as I know them, or some of the big city schools in this country, are
not exactly conducive, we take the kid away from her at that point.

Well, let's—first, we could put her with the family, right? We
could let the child be adopted by her mother. Now, very likely this
is a family where there might have been some history of the same
sort of thing happening. But then what do we do? Do we take the
child out of the home? If the girl won’t go to school and won't seek
to better herself what is the next step? %’low do we know? Because
the argument in the court, in most cases when I was in court, I
was in on behalf of the mother because the State didn’t provide any
services to these ver{] inadequate mothers and so to then say she
is an inadequate mother when the State is taking the kid away and
say you are not a good mother while doing nothing to help her, it
seems like a self-fulfilling prophecy.

What I want to know is what you would outline. When should
the State step in and say, OK, young lady, you have not done right
by your child and we are going to take that child away from you
and put it into an independent—I hate to use the word “orphan-
age,” but some sort of setting. I mean, how would you set the sys-
tem up to break that cycle that we are talking about?

No, I don’t want Mr. Murphy from Chicago. I want to hear from
these threc. They have been quiet.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. The first thing that we would do is see if the
girl's parent is able to provide a home for both her and her new
child. And oftentimes——

Mr. McDERMOTT. Even if it is a welfare mother?
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Ms. BALASCO-BARR. Even if it is a welfare mother.
Mr. McDERMOTT. OK.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. That doesn’t preclude you from being able to
care for your children.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. She would no longer get the grant. You would
increase the grant of the grandmother?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. The grandmother would become the grantee
for her grandchild, essentially. Oftentimes, we find that these are
problematic families and some States have been able to put to-
gether programs where the adolescent and her baby are placed in
what we call “group homes” where the foster parent or the group
home staff model tor her how you are supposed to care for that
child and begin to do two things: Reparent the girl who has had
the baby and also model for her what is appropriate child-rearing
practice, and at the same time she is going to school and getting
an education that will lead to self-sufficiency.

But again, this is one of the rules that we have gotten a waiver
on in that in order to place a child with foster care, there has to
be a ward of the court. But waivers have been given so that the—
that is a unit. The young girl and her baby are a unit in foster care
and we are able to provide those visits at that time. There are
some real good programs around the country, Lewell Belle Stuart
in Detroit that has done a good job with taking young girls and
their babies and turning them into self-sufficient young adults.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. What is it that prevents those real good pro-
grams from being massively applied across the country? Because
there are always these demonstration projects, as you say, that
work very well. And you say to yourself, every State can see what
they are doing in Detroit; why don't they do that everywhere?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. 1 think it is because it is—you get so focused
on doing it that you don’t get out and tell everybody about it. And
you consistently take care of the children that come under your su-
pervision in your locality. I don’t think there is anything unique or
different about somebody having commen sense and saying you put
the two together so that you don't repeat the mistakes in the fu-
ture. And at the same time, you have that ongoing—and it is sort
of appropriate because we have the Right to Life people protesting
today, but the responsibility of what is good sextal responsible be-
havior is also a part of what is taught to these young girls when
they are with us in these group homes and in these special family
programs,

r. McDerMOTT. But people in Chicago are desperate. Their
numbers are going up astronomically. Why don’t they look over to
Detroit and see that program in Detroit and say, why don’t we try
that here in Chicago? at is it—they are certainly f;)oking for so-
lutions, don’t you think?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. [ am going to respond because | used to be
a children’s protective services worker.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Yes.

Ms. Barasco-BARrR. You get so overwhelmed by the problem you
don’t see the solution. Ang one of the things that 1 believe has
helped New Jersey work well, Michigan work well, Wisconsin, Or-
egon, et cetera, is the quality of the supervision. It is the quality
oFthe training. 1t is the requirement of the monitoring under Pub-
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lic Law 96-272 that keeps the system honest. And I am being very
careful talking about Michigan and New Jersey because that is
where I work. But it is—it isn’t a philosophy. It'is a worker’s sole
belief in family preservation and making good decisions in the best
interest of children. And you can’t legislate that. It is a feeling. It
is in your heart or it is not. And some of us don’t need to be in
child welfare because we get so hooked on the examples that we
have been given from Chicago where somebody wasn’t thinking,
somebody only looked at family preservation and not what is in the
best interest of a child.

The magic of family preservation is training, is supervision, it is
review. It is not money. It is not oversight. It is a belief in a direc-
tion that this is good practice for children and families. Michigan
does not write off substance-abusing mothers.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. You must be a little worried watching us try
to write rules to tinker with the system that imply that we know
how to legislate from up here what ought to happen out there.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. No. What we look for from Congress is direc-
tion and intent. We count on the administration and the executive
branch to give us the rules that we have to go by. And then we
get down to case practice and go back to them and say I know what
your intent was but this is what actually works.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Tell me about Los Angeles County. What
would you do with the case I outlined, 15 year old, won’t go to
school?

Mr. DiGrE. OK, specifically, if the 15 year old is not in any way
abusing or neglecting her infant, we wouldn’t do anything. You
know, she would simply, if she was on the public assistance sys-
tem, would simply be a participant in it. If the child becomes
abused or neglected, then it would really depend on the nature of
the abuse and neglect and really our juggment about what her ca-

acity is to make changes and to be able to safely take care of the
Eaby. And the alternatives have been pretty well outlined here. In
many cases like this, through education, through support, with
helpini them get back in school, helping them prepare for employ-
ment, helping them to stabilize their li?e through family preserva-
tion, she can simply raise her own baby.

Many, many—in many cases, we see that the family structure is
so chaotic that probably half of the kids end up growing up with
an aunt or a grandmother. That is half of what all foster care is
in this day and age. So they are often kept in the kinship system
with an aunt who has a more stable lifestyle or with the grand-
mother who has really got some strength and is ready to do it.

If you do have to remove them entirely from their family net-
work, there are basically two choices and you have to make a judg-
ment about this young woman’s potentia(to grow up and be able
to nurture the baby. We have several opportunities where mothers
and babies can live together in the same place but in a very struc-
tured and protective environment so she can complete her edu-
cation, so she can make sure that the baby is well cared for and
that the baby is protected while she grows up. In other cases, the
young woman is so unstable that she just has to be separated from
the baby. We will work with her from 1 year to 18 months to try
to change that so the baby can live with her. If we can’t, we are
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going to go into court, terminate her parental rights, and get the
baby a new mother and father.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Do you have a particular system that says at
18 months any case that has been out there comes up and if they
are not making it, that is it, you go to court?

Mr. DIGRE. Built right into your Federal law are requirements
for a 6-month judicial review and 18-month——

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Probation hearing.

Mr. DIGRE. Absolutely. That is reflected I think in every juvenile
court statute in the country. Ours has two cutoff points. Our first
cutoff is you start to make the judgment regarding do we need to
give up on this person and find a new home at 12 months, and
often the judges will continue that to 18 months to give the parents
a chance, a second chance. But the 18-month timeline, although
there are some exceptions, is pretty firm. If you don’t have your act
together, if you haven't stabilized your life, you are not able to safe-
ly raise your child, about 1,100 or 1,200 times a year we do termi-
nate parental rights and free kids to be adopted.

Mr. McDERMOTT. You are nodding, Ms. Barr. Do you agree with
that?

Ms. BAlLAsCO-BARR. We are going for that. New Jersey has a
unique system called voluntary placement agreement and the court
is not involved. Unfortunately, we have had some cases that have
languished awhile because of these informal placement agree-
ments. But we are rapidly coming into compliance so that we can
move more quickly toward permanence.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Thank you, Madam Chairman. Thank you both
for your testimony.

Chairman JOHNSON. May I just clarify, Ms. Barr, something you
said earlier in response to Mr. McDermott. You mentioned that you
had a? waiver. Did you have to get a waiver for the group home pro-
gram?

Ms. BaLAsco-BARR. No. You have to have un allegation of abuse
or neglect in order to place a child in foster care. And we are—
when you put the mother and the child together, you are not alleg-
ing necessarily that somebody has been abused or neglected but
this is in the best interest for the kid. So you have to have the
waiver in order to access the funding.

Chairman JOHNSON. So this is a Federal waiver?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. Yes.

Chairman JOHNSON. OK. I wanted to bring that out. I wasn’t
sure that is what you were saying. But, clearly, if that is what you
are saying, that is a perfect example of a need for greater flexibil-
ity, even though, in addition, Mr. McDermott’s line of questioning
and your comments about the judicial review do indicate the com-
bination of oversight and flexible service patterns that we have to
try to achieve i we want to improve the system.

I turn to Mr. Johnson.

Mr. JOHNSON or TEXAS. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Excuce me, Mr. Zimmer. I am sorry. I mis-
read my own list here. It is Mr. Zimmer’s chance to inquire.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Sure.

N ia
AN

90-347 0 - 95 - 4



94

Mr. ZiIMMER. Thank you. Unlike Mr. McDermott, I am not an
Irishman from Chicago, so I don’t know what Mr. Murphy would
have said in the last round. I would like to give him some time.

Mr. MURrPHY. The Irish are known for fighting amongst tb .-
selves, probably more than any other ethnic group. Probably——

Mr. McDerMoTT. They have never said anything good about
each other.

Mr. MURrPHY. I think the McDermotts were the ones who were
always turning in the Murphys back in—in any event, I think my
answer wouldn’t be that much different than Peter Digre’s here,
and that is that a 15-year-old kid who has a child, I dont—I think
should go to school it she wants AFDC. And if she doesn’t go to
school, 1 would not give it to her. I would go one step further. I
don’t think I would give AFDC to anyone under 17 unless they
have a high school diploma under any circumstances, and I would
expect the family to step in and fill the gap, and if the family
didn’t, that is when the State would step in.

The reason I say this, it sounds very harsh and it is harsh, but
I think we have to get the same message across to the underclass
that I get across to my own children and you to your kids, and I
think we patronize the poor today, whether it is an African-
American population, in cities like Chicago it is a racist message.
The message is we do not expect anything of you. I think the mes-
sa§e has to be we expect the same thing of you as we do of the
kid from the north shore in Chicago or from Connecticut or wher-
ever. And that message is a tough message. But the whole message
has been soft. The message to date has been anything else but
that, act irresponsible, you are going to get rewarded. Act irrespon-
sibly, we will reward you. We have got to turn it around. It will
ge hard for the first few years but we have got to do it. So I would

o0 it.

I want to make one other comment. Mr. McDermott said Chicago
may have bad problems, et cetera. We have an organized group of
lawyers in Chicago, myself included. I am the one that went to the
press in the case that Mr. Matsui talked about, and I stood up and
I said, I made a mistake in that case. That case never would have
come out unless there were lawyers doing it.

New York, for instance, has an organized group of lawyers rep-
resenting children but they have draconian laws of confidentiality
which we don’t have in Illinois. Most States, the bureaucrats, the
child welfare crowd hides behind laws of confidentiality, so they
can stand up here and say anything they want to you.

What really goes on, if someone tries to come out and say there
is a problem in the system, then everyone says we are going to sue
you. I have had half a dozen—not half a dozen—I have had three
or four beefs against me with the attorney registration of the dis-
ciplinary commission, from State bureaucrats and other so-called
advocacy groups because I have gone to the media. This system has
more confidentiality than the CIA and the FBI have. That is be-
cause it is in the child's best interest, everyone argues.

It is not. And I used to think it was because it was in the bu-
reaucrats’ best interest for you guys not to know what really goes
on. But now I think the reason, the real recason we have laws of
confidentiality is everyone inside the system knows how flaky the
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system is but really thinks it is good flakiness and doesn’t want the
public to know so we hide behind them. The best thing you can do
1s do away with the laws of confidentiality so everyone can see how
bad the system is.

Mr. ZIMMER. Mr. Murphy, I am glad you brought your son here.
He should be proud of his father. You are setting an example—-

Mr. MURPHY. He is a very bored little boy right now.

Mr. ZMMER. Well, I can see that. Someday maybe he will appre-
ciate what a candid and forceful and passionate father he has got.
And I want to tell you in my experience in my 4 years in Con ess,
you are the first public official who has ever taken responsibility
for a screw up in his department or under his authority, and I
want to commend you for that.

Mr. MurpPHY. That is because I have only had one.

Mr. ZIMMER. Ms. Balasco-Barr, 1 want to commend you for the
good job you are doing in one of the most challenging divisions in
the State of New Jersey. I know how difficult that job has been to
manage in years past. | am sorry you didn’t get to go through your
entire written testimony. I want to give you an opportunity to go
into some detail about where you think the Federal program should
be changed and exactly how we could focus on outcomes rather
than procedure.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. I believe that each of the 50 States is dra-
matically different and has different needs, which means that when
rou have an intent that is promulgated by Congress, there has to
i)e flexibility in allowing that State to develop its child welfare plan

" according to the needs of that State.

The reason that we are having this hue and cry over family pres-
ervation, and it doesn’t work, you know, and it does and it is all
wrong and it is all right, is because each community and each
State has different kinds of problems that are addressed dif-
ferently. And the—the flexibility that is required is not so much
the flexibility in the money but it is the flexibility in the planning.

What Congress and what the administration needs to require
from States is an assurance of care, an assurance of the quality of
care, an assurance that the money is being directed not into the
ways in which have been sort of hinted at about people making
money on child welfare, but that money flows to the lowest possible
group of folks who can adequately ensure care for kids.

When we—the case plan—and I think it was Secretary Bane who
said the case plan is the foundation of child welfare practice. She
may not have said it like that. But if you don’t have a plan, what
are you doing? And that is where the structure of what we do in
child welfare has to be, on the frontline worker, the training, the
support, the knowing what it is that you are about the business of
doing in child welfare.

Oversight doesn’t do—I was getting ready to say a strange word,
but-—it doesn’t count for nothing. It doesn’t count for nothing if the
training, the caseworker, the intent, the knowing what it is that
the people of this country want for children and families. If we
don’t know that at the line level, then we are wasting a whole lot
of money and putting in bureaucracy that overview, overview, over-
view and review. If you don't have any foot soldiers, what are you
overviewing and reviewing?
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And that is where the emphasis, I strongly believe, in child wel-
fare has to be—the support, the nurturance, the caring for, the
training of the child welfare workers and firstline supervisors.

It is—yes, there is a system that we call child welfare and it has
advocates, it has people. it has agencies, it has whole lots of folks,
but we are all supposed to be about the business of the children
and families. And I think a lot of the anxiety and the discussion
and the confrontation goes on because sometimes we forget to ask
the people that we are supposed to be serving how can we best
serve you, and we all get together in conferences and workshops
and talk about those people and we haven’t taken the time to ask.
And maybe we could cut out some of the money if we would use
a lot more common sense, a lot more good practice, and we ask the
people who we are serving and we ask the caseworkers, how can
we help you do a better job? It is not going to conferences.

Mr. ZiMMER. Thank you.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much. Mr. Johnson.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. You really sure this time?

Chairman JOHNSON. Sorry about that. The angle is bad.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Ms. Barr, I like what you say. It seems
to me you are saying that we ought to be looking after the chil-
dren’s welfare and not talking about welfare for children. And in
so doing, you made the statement that 427 reviews are a large part
of your effort in your State.

Do you know how many people are involved? I know you quoted
a number, 2-plus million, nearly 3 million.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. There are 14 staff that directly report to me
who do the case reviews. But within each office, there are also case
practice reviewers on top of the case review boards that come out
of the judiciary system and then the judiciary review by the judges
after that.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. So you have hundreds, at least, of people
that are not really directly involved with taking care of the child
but involved in making sure they dot the i’s and cross the t’s, is
that true?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. 1 wouldn’t try to belittle it to the i’s, you
know, cross the t's, but we do have a degree of oversight, that |
question its effectiveness. If you have »stablished a pattern of doing
what follows the law and your outcomes give you that, then there
should be relief, some relief from the oversight.

Mr. JOHNSON OF Texas. And I also like what you say about no
two States are alike. And you know, I don’t think we here in Wash-
ington can decide what is good for New Jersey and that it is cer-
tainly not the same thing for North Dakota or Texas, for that mat-
ter, or California, or Chicago, even. And I don’t remember making
but one mistake in my lifetime, either, Mr. Murphy. I appreciate
your comment. That is all I have. Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you, Mr. Johnson. Mr. Gibbons.

Mr. GisBONS. Thank you. A {urief‘ question.

Chairman JOHNSON. And welcome, Mr. Gibhons. Pleasure to
have you.

Mr. GisBONS. Thank you very much.

I am of the opinion that the child financial support system in the
United States is a mess. It certainly is in my State, in Florida.
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What impact would having a better child financial support system
have upon the problems that we are talking about here?

Mr. Horn. If T could address that a little bit. I think that cer-
tainly we could do a lot better job in both establishing paternity
and collecting child support. And it certainly is better if you are
raising children to have more financial resources.

But even if we were able to wave a magic wand and collect all
of the outstanding child support payments, children would still be
at-risk. One of the things we know is that when children are raised
in households where the father is absent and uninvolved, children
are at-risk even in upper-income households. So if what we are
talking about here is simply getting child support payments from
these men, as opposed to encouraging and supporting their active

involvement with their children, their children will still be at-risk
N . for things like child abuse.

' So if we are going to talk about child support enforcement, and
we should, and if we want to improve that system, and we should,
and if we want to ensure that more children have more financial

’ resources through child support payments, and we should, at the
same time, we should recognize that fathers contribute far more to
their children’s welfare than simply child support payments. We
must, therefore, be just as aggressive at ensuring that the fathers
Pave the ability to interact with and be involved in their children’s
ves.

And along those lines if I could go back to a couple questions be-
fore, it seems to me that one of the things we should have done
for that 14-year-old girl is that when she was 13 have messages
permeating her neighborhood that young boys should not impreg-
nate young girls. Frequently lost in the discussion about child wel-
fare reform 1s any talk about the missing fathers. We need to help
men understand that impregnating women before marriage is a
form of child abuse because we know that out-of-wedlock childbear-
ing places children at-risk.

One of the things we need to understand is that we have to focus
not just on the mother, the single mother, but also upon the absent
adu\]t in that picture. That is the father.

Mr. MURPHY. You know, I think I would agree with Mr. Horn.
I would go one step further, and that is, for instance, the New York
Times last year did a study on all kids under the age of 15 charged
with murder in New York City. Of the 25 kids, 21 had no father
involved at all, 2 were silent on the issue, only 2 had a father in-
volved. To me, that is the missing thing.

I don’t know if—going after them for money becomes irrelevant,
because many of them don’t have money, but they should be in-
volved with their children. For instance, again in Chicago, we had
a 10-year-old kid who slit the throat of an older woman recently
and killed her. And everyone was saying this is a horrible thing,
he should go to jail. Of course he couldn’t go to jail. The question
e to me was not the child, but where were his parents? Because es-
sentially he had no upbringing.

And | would—I would on a local level go for laws that said if a
kid under the age of x—whatever it is, 14 or 15—was brought in
on a charge of delinquency, I would bring the parents in and find
out what their involvement was. Now, if it was a poor welfare mom
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that tried hard and didn’t succeed, well, then there is—but if it is
a father who was not involved with that guy, he is the guy that
should be in the can, not the dopepeddler, because he is the guy
who is responsible. I am not suggesting dopepeddlers shouldn’t go
to prison, but I think it is more important to get word across to
fathers that we are going to put you in prison. You don’t have to
give them any money; w%at about taking him cut to a ball game,
Just being there once in awhile? And if a father is not doing that,
that is a crime. That, as Wade points out, is child abuse.

Chairman JOHNSON. There are requests for a couple of follow on
questions. We will go to Mr. McDermott.

Mr. McD&rMOTT. Thank you, Madam Chairman. One of the
questions I wanted to ask, because you talked about training, I
would like to know what the minimal qualifications are for hiring
a minimal—an entry-level worker in the child welfare system in
New Jersey and California and Illinois, if you know them.

Ms. BAaLASCO-BARR. A bachelor’s degree in a human service area,
meaning education, psychology—preference is given to socialwork.
And there is an incentive for a master’s degree in socialwork, psy-
chology or counseling.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. %an’t get in with a history degree?

Ms. BaLasco-Barr. No.

Mr. McDerMoOTT. OK.

Mr. DIGRE. It is very similar. It is a bachelor's degree and at
least 3 years of experience in socialwork and an educational pro-
gram in a socialwork-related field. About 70 percent of the time,
people we hire have master’s degrees. Now the one exception to
that is, we recruit very hard in the universities to hire fully bilin-
gual employees, so we do have a class where we can hire trainees
and put them through a special curriculum and a special entry in
our department so that we have always got an adequate number
of bilingual employees.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. And the starting salary?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. I don’t know.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Range?

Ms. BaLAsco-BARR. The range, I think it starts around $32,000.

Mr. DiGRE. About the same, $32,000, $33,000.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Do you think you are representative of the
United States in terms of the qualifications to get an entry-level job
in a children’s welfare system?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. I think so. There might be some States that
have more of a preference or are more specific about the socialwork
degree. But generally we sort of clump it under human services,
and then—but that is contingent on a real specific training pro-
gram after hire.

Mr. DiGre. In my experience, I believe we are considerably high-
er both in terms of qualifications and pay, and frankly, back to

our earlier question, our turnover only runs in the 6 to 10-percent
evel. I think that is a direct correlation of, if people can make a
living doing these jobs, they get invested in them, they stay, you
just have better outcomes.

Mr. McDErMOTT. Before you give a caseload to people, how much
training do people have in New Jersey?
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Ms. Barasco-BArR. They have a minimum of 2 weeks’ training
before they get a caseload. And then there is a period of time in
which they simply, like a shadow caseworker, they accompany a
professional worker around on her caseload and then slowly are
given cases. And then they come back for additional training after
they have had a small caseload of around 10.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. And what—what is the average caseload in
New Jersey for a caseworker once they are full?

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. It ranges between 25 and 32.

Mr. DIGRE. The training requirement is 8 weeks in our training
academy, which incidenta ly is funded under IV-E administrative
costs. We have three traiming academies at USC, UCLA and Cal
State-Long Beach, our three schools of socialwork. And then they
go into a 4-month program in training units, where they are gradu-
ally phased in.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. So it is really almost 6 months before they
get

Mr. DIGRE. Yes, exactly.

. N!)r. McDERMOTT [continuing]. Actually starting to handle fami-
ies?

Mr. DIGRE. They are starting to handle, but in a special training
unit where they are under special supervision, where they are
slowly introduced to it.

Ms. BALASCO-BARR. New Jersey has just started working with
the Rutgers School of Social Work in a public child welfare training
prgf-ram. So I commend you—I mean, I envy you, really.

r. DIGRE. Our training academies were, incidental y, one of the
things that caused the IV-E administrative numbers to jump up.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. I raise this issue because I think it is impor-
tant for the record and the members to know the importance of
training and what you start with when somebody comes in.

When I was, in the early eighties, in the State of Washington,
we were taking people with history degrees. And they were getting
into the department because they had good grades and whatever,
and they really had no experience. You take a middle-class kid just
out of college and suddenly hand them a caseload of 15 or 20 fami-
lies from the inrer city, most of them are sinking at sea, so deep
that they don’t know where they are for a long time. So that is why
I think 1t is important that people recognize the importance of the
programs that you are involved with.

Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

Chairman JOHNSON. I thank the panel.

Oh, Mr. Matsui.

Mr. MATsUL Very briefly, both Mr. Murphy and Mr. Horn an-
swered questions regarding the cutoff of benefits at teen level. Per-
haps Mr. Digre and Ms. Barr could give me and the panel their
thoughts on the issue of cutting off benefits for teens or whatever
group they may be.

In addition to that, perhaps, Mr. Digre, in view of the fact you
have worked with family preservation programs, and so has Ms.
Barr, very briefly again both of you could answer the question
about the example that Mr. Murphy gave where a child was living
in a home with pets, monkeys, everything else, with a woman
whose 1Q was low. And again, I know it depends upon the specific
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facts. But what would you do in a situation like that, in terms of
your programs?

Chairman JoOHNsSON. Before the panel answers this question, I
want just to clarify that the only proposal that denies benefits to
children under 18 does give them Medicaid benefits and food
stamps, and requires them to live at home. So those are the dimen-
sions of what we are talking about.

Ms. BALAsCO-BARR. Governor Whitman has been asking us for
several weeks our reflections, and she hasn’t really come to a con-
clusion, but I do know of her intense involvement and interest in
early intervention and prevention. And I think whatever New Jer-
sey does, it will be a decision based on an individual case basis. It
will be something that—a decision made in the best interests of
children. It will not be a blanket or arbitrary denial of benefits if,
in turn, it does far more damage to a child than a principle regard-
irﬁg if you are such and such an age and you haven't done this or
that.

Mr. DiGrE. Well, if somebody is terminated from assistance and
they are able to go into employment or income through a decent
child support check, or be part of a broader family, and if they are
able to have employment—the most important thing there is to
have health insurance so you can take care of your children and
all the health needs of young children—I think it would be fine.

If they end up in a situation where they don’t have assistance
to get the necessities of life, the juvenile court statutes will be
there. And as soon as you hit the point of lack of food, clothing,
shelter, the children wiﬁ end up in the family preservation or fos-
ter care system.

In terms of the kind of approach we bring to family preservation,
we have taken a comprehensive—packaging 23 services into 1
package, a community-based approach working with community-
based agencies, everything from churches to local school districts to
the boys and grls club, to mental health centers, people that really
have roots in community networks.

We have required a high level of intensity. You have to visit the
family as often as 16 times a month to make sure that the first pri-
ority of family preservation, child safety, is that the kids are kept
safe; and we also institute 17 additional standards of child safety
to make sure we are really constantly keeping an eye on the safety
of the children.

So it is basically a comprehensive, community-based and very in-
tensive approach, very intensive on the visitations.

Mr. MaTsul. Did you have a—did you want to respond? Maybe
you already have responded to the family preservation issue.

Ms. BALASCO-BAKR. You know, as we were leaving the table, I
did have a thought, an impression, that no one that I know of—
and I have been a worker and a supervisor, et cetera—voluntarily
wants to say that they are abusing and neglecting their kids solely
to get the benefits of family preservation. I don’t believe anybody
in any community, whether it is rural or inner city or suburban,
wants to be labeled abusive or neglectful because of alleged serv-
ices that are given, or the $300 in emergency money in th family
preservation program,

1
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The families that I have met and worked with see only the bene-
fits of having their family strengthened by being involved in family
preservation. They then become advocates for the program when
they go back into their own communities, when they are in their
churches, that oftentimes we are able to intervene in another fam-
ily that is in crisis before they have been labeled abusive or ne-
gf;ctful because of the kind of value that communities have placed
on the family preservation program.

I feel badly that there are some States, and in Chicago it doesn’t
appear to be working, but I would ask that the committee look at
the places where it goes work, that you do have people who don’t
want it to work for whatever reason. But family—for every time
they tell you, yes, after 12 months there was another incident, but
rather for 12 months there wasn't an incident of abuse or neglect;
and then for every family that requires foster home placement and
we go through reunification, we have decreased the length of time
;hx]a(ti that child has been in foster care. And that is a value that we

old.

There are no blacks and whites, and there are no this ways or
that ways. All of it has to be in light of, are we really doing the
best thing for kids and families?

Mr. MaTsul. I would like to thank both of you and all of you.

Chairman JOHNSON. I would like to thank the panel as well, but
before 1 do, I want to ask one concluding question and make a com-
ment that feeds into the conversation of the preceding 15 or 20
minutes.

Mr. Horn, in your testimony, in talking about what has caused
the explcsion in the caseload, you say that abuse is up to 40 times
more likely to occur when the biological father is not living in the
home. Then you go on from that statement to say that this should
have driven a change in welfare services or affected the service net-
work in some way and that, instead, it resulted in an enormous ef-
fort to maximize reimbursements under title IV-E, which is the ad-
ministrative costs section of the program, which also is loosely al-
lowed to fund prevention. In other words, you couldn’t just address
this problem of fathers; you had to go t’hrough the burden of ad-
ministrative costs and all the documentation.

We all know that is a very heavy, complex program, that admin-
istrative costs section, and yet that was the only place you could
go for money to address this kind of new need. Is that the right
conclusion to draw from thcse two paragraphs of your testimony?

Mr. HorN. There is a wonderful moment in the movie “All tl?lle
President’s Men,” in which Deep Throat says, “Follow the money”;
and I think if you follow the money when it comes to child welfare,
and you understand where the incentives are and where you can
draw down large sums of money, you understand where it is that

eople have put their efforts. And where they have put a lot of ef-
ort is in maximizing claims under the title IV-E administrative
costs program, because that is where the money is, that is where
the incentives are.

And last year, Congress passed and appropriated money for fam-
ily preservation services despite the fact that there really is no em-
pirical evidence that it is helpful. As Mr. Murphy says, the largest
study of its kind shows that family preservation doesn’t hurt,
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doesn’t help, just has a neutral effect. And yet now we are setting
up a whole network of family preservation services,

What we have to do is stop telling child welfare agencies to fol-
low the money, but rather to do what makes sense for them, con-
sistent with the needs of their local communities. And if in that
community one of those needs is to address the issue of
fatherlessness, well, they should be able to do that with the money
that they have available to them through Federal funding streams.
And so what I recommend and what I continue to urge this com-
mittee to consider is making those funding streams much more
flexible so that States can use them, given the wisdom that we
hear at this table about what is good practice, and stop them from
simply following the money.

Chairman JOHNsON. Thank you. And in conclusion, let me say to
the witnesses, any suggestions you have for the governance l!an-
guage of a child welfare services block grant or for the means of
accountability, we are interested in those two things. Because if we
bring moneys together in a block grant, we certainly will not do it
without clarifying what the uses ogrthose moneys should be for, nor
suggesting how we will know whether it got done or not.

s to the issue of the eligibility for children under 18, that is cer-
tainly a_part of the welfare debate that is going on before the
Human Resources Subcommittee.

I thank you, Mr. Murphy, for your insight into that problem, and
all of you, for your thoughtful testimony, written and oral. Thank
yYou very much.

On the next panel are Marcia Lowry of the American Civil Lib-
erties Union, the Children’s Rights Project; Michael Petit, the dep-
uty director of the Child Welfare League of America; Ronald Henry,
the Children’s Rights Council; Brigitte Berger of Boston University,
professor of sociology; Corinne Driver, National Association of Fos-
ter Care Reviewers; accompanied by Charles Cooper, Citizen Foster
Care Review Board; and Karen Howze, adoptive parent.

We rix(re going to let Karen go first since she does need to get back
to work.

Sorry, Karen, that this has gone rather longer than we might
have led you to believe it might, these first two panels. But it is
important for the committee to have a chance to pursue their ques-
tions if we are to make good decisions in the future. So with that
apocliogy to you and to the rest of the panel, would you please pro-
ceed.

Ms. Howzk. Sure.

STATEMENT OF KAREN AILEEN HOWZE, ADOPTIVE PARENT,
WASHINGTON, D.C.

Ms. Howze. My children are products of the foster care system
in the District of Columbia. My children receive an adoption sub-
sidy each month, and that amount is equal to the amount that
their foster parents received when they were in the care of the Dis-
trict of Columbia.

I adopted Charlene and Karie 10 years ago. I was given very lit-
tle information about their backgrounds and their parents. I was
simply told that the parents were “perennial homeless people,”
with no known history of drug abusc or alcohol abuse.
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I think we all know now that perennial homelessness is a deeper
problem than just people wandering the streets. In fact, it over the
years became very clear to me that there was, in fact, drug involve-
ment by the mother, though it was not street drugs; it was her
need to take psychotropic medications because of her mental ill-
ness, and the assumption is that she was indeed taking those medi-
cations during her pregnancies.

By the time my children were ready for school, it was obvious
that there were some very serious proﬁlems that were directly at-
tributable at least to the mother’s condition and possibly to the fa-
ther’s, who was diagnosed as schizophrenic.

My children were not nurtured in foster care, which exacerbated
the situation. One of the things that they had to contend with was
a hypersensitivity to touch, which meant that if you touched them
or got close to them it felt as though there was a hot poker being
run across their skin.

They have serious difficulties processing language and using it.
Karie was nonverbal until the age of 6. At the age of 6, Charlene,
who is the oldest, one day said to me that she didn’t know what
was wrong, but she just felt sad. That was 1986, and since then
Karie has learned how to speak; she 1s now 11. By the time she
started first grade, though, she was on the road to autism because
of the level o%rnonservice that she had received in the public school
system.

Four years ago, Gloria was placed with us. She is a sibling of the
other two girls. She has a different father but the same mother.
Gloria was caught up in the District of Columbia’s lack of compli-
ance with Federal guidelines and standards and lived in foster care
and was reunited with her mentally retarded mother over a 5-year
period. In that course of time, she was sexually abused by both her
mother and by the foster care provider, who is the same provider
who cared for the other two girls when they were in foster care.
Learning about Gloria’s past helped me also understand
Charlene’s.

Today Charlene, and I mean today, this afternoon, is why I have
to leave at 2 o’clock; she is an inpatient at the Psychiatric Institute
of Washington. She has been diagnosed as bipolar, or having manic
depressive disorder. This child is 12 years old and it is very dif-
ficult for a 12 year old to understand what is happening to her
body. The end result is these are my children, but without adoption
subsidy, which comes to approximately $440 a month, which is not
a lot of money—if I did not*have that as a resource plus the medi-
cal assistance all in one package where I did not have to run
around and try to touch base with all the entitlements, I probably
would have had to turn my children back in, despite the love that
I have for them.

Four years ago, I left my job as an executive with the Gannett
Co.; I had been a founding editor of USA Today. I left that job be-
cause I could no longer travel and find adequate care that could
meet the needs of my children when I was on the road, regardless
of how much I was willing to pay.

Today, I kind of piece togetf\,er whatever I can do to pay mz
mortgage and pay transportation and food costs and save enoug
aside to pay for the constant therapy that the children need.
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The one thing that I would like to say to the committee is that
this entitlement program, unlike a lot of the other things that are
going to be discussed here and in the future, is one that was de-
signed for the children. Many people within the social service arena
believe that the parents who are receiving adoption subsidy are
money-grabbing people who just want to be paid to care for these
children; and of the 50,000, I can probably only imagine maybe 2
who would be in that category.

You lose everything when you suddenly find out 5 years after you
have made a commitment to a child that that child is not the child
or the children that you thought you were going to have. My chil-
dren may never be independent. My middle daughter, Karie, will
never be able to read or write with facility. She tries very hard, but
she is almost functionally retarded. Gloria has the beginnings of
multiple personality kind of issues that we have not begun to deal
with because it is too soon, it has only been 3 years.

Without the little bit of help and the security of that help, I
would probably be among those who would say to social services,
please come get them, I cannot care for them to the best that they
need to be cared for.

Now, since leaving my job, I now place all of my frustration
about this system—and in my attempt to really understand it, be-
cause it is extremely complex, as the other panels discussed and I
am sure we will hear today. I now represent children who are in
foster care as an attorney, similar to Mr. Riley.

Is that his name? Murphy. Some Irish something. They all look

alike, right? Similar to Mr. Murphy in Chicago on a different kind
of panel approach.

What I would say to you is, I am primarily a children’s attorney,
though periodically I represent parents. The children on my case-
load, my goal is to get them into families. This money helps, be-

cause the children I represent areljust like my kids.

Children who come into the child welfare system came there be-
cause something went wrong, whether it is internal or external,
and those things that go wrong don’t go away. And somewhere in
society there has to be a responsibility to assist in paying for it.

I will tell you in the District of Columbia—not necessarily New
Jersey, not necessarily Oregon, but I think Ms. Balasco named only
5 States that seem to be paragons of good socialwork; there are 45
others, and those 45 would take the money out of this program and
the foster care assistance programs and use it to hire a
socialworker who would only help probably to exacerbate the kind
of problems that my children experienced and will continue to ex-
perience the rest, of their lives.

I thank you. The yellow light is on and I made a vow not to hit
the red light. If you i;ave any questions—-—

[The prepared statement and attachment follow:|
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BTATEMENT
or
KAREN AILEEN HOWZE

BEFORE THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERBIGET
JANUARY 23, 1995

My name is Karen Aileen Howze, and I am a single adoptive
parent of three daughters -- Charlene, Karie, and Gloria. My
children receive an adoption subsidy each month that is equal to
the amount their foster parents received when they were wards of
the District of Columbia.

I adopted Charlene and Karie ten years ago. I was given
little information about their parents. I was told the parents
are "perennial" homeless people with no known history of drug or
alcohol abuse. Little was known about homelessness at the time.
And no one told me that both parents were severely mentally ill,
and that the mother had been taking psychotropic drugs prescribed
for her mental illness -- probably throughout her pregnancies.

By the time the children were ready for school, it was
obvious that there were problems that were directly attributable
to their parents and their early days in foster care. My
children were not nurtured. They had a sensitivity to touch that
can only be described as the sensation a burning poker would
leave on one’'s skin. They have difficulties processing language
and using it. Charlene taught herself to read in kindergarten,
but she couldn't stand in line with the other children without
bumping into them and disrupting the all important line process.
She never cried. She was depressed. And at age six, as 1 was
putting her to bed, she looked at me and said, "Mommy, I'm sad."

Karie, on the other hand, did not speak. By the time she
was to start first grade, she began to present signs of autism.
She could not function in crowds, and large spaces made her
extremely irritable or withdrawn. She is learning to read, but
will never be facile with reading or writing.

Four years ago, Gloria was placed with us. She has the same
mother as the other two, but a different father. She experienced
abuse during her early life that included molestation by her
mother and foster mother. She has serious emotional issues that
we are dealing with on a daily basis.

It is clear they have challenges that will be with them for
the rest of their lives. But, they are loving, caring children
who have a respect for themselves and for others. But all of
this does not change the reality of rearing them appropriately.

Today, my oldest daughter Ch~rlene is in a local psychiatric
hospital. Last June, at age 13, she was diagnosed as manic




106

depressive, the illness that plagues her mother. She has a
condition that she will be faced with for the rest of her life.
She will need counseling and constant monitoring of her
medications. She must be taught at this early age how to tell
whether the medicines are working before her behavior
deterjorates. This is a lot to ask of a 12-year old. And it is
2 lot to ask of a parent who volunteered to love and care for
children who had no one, unaware of the level of problems these
children face.

My friends often wonder how I am able to handle these
extraordinary stresses of parenting special children. I have had
to leave a career as an executive with the Gannett co. Inc., to
care more effectively for my children. At the age of 40, I had
to change my profession and cut in half my earning power, go
through bankruptcy, and start again ~-- all for the love of my
children.

Without the four hundred and forty dollars I receive each
month for each children and the medical insurance that is part of
the package, I would not have made it through various periods of
the past five years. I might have had to dissolve the adoption
despite my love for my children. The combinations of problems
that my children have make for a household that is frequently
manic and probably would be considered classically dysfunctional.
I frequently feel so overwhelmed that I think it might be better
for the kids if they were returned to the child welfare gystem.

I receive great peace knowing that I am not the only parent who
has these thoughts. And I am grateful that I have had the
support of family, friends, and the financial support to meet
some of their special needs through the adoption subsidy program.

With the program, I have at least eliminated the first
reason that many parents give for returning children to the child
welfare system, not enough financial resources to meet their
needs. As an adoptive parent with special needs kids who is also
now a lawyer to childrer who are in foster care in the District
of Columbia, I know tha* if local jurisdictions are given the
chance to decide where the money will go, the choice will be for
social workers or support services to maintain the child welfare
system. I know, and you have heard from others, that the
financial support earmarked for special needs adopted children
saves the system financially in the end by promoting permanency
for the children. I ask you to consider the parents' side of
this equation: the subsidy program provides the support for the
children wnose life history or life condition make it clear that
love will never be enough.

I am attaching to my testimony some information prepared by
the North American council on Adoptable cChildren, who assisted me
in «he preparation of my testimony.




North American Council on Adoptabie Children

970 Roymond Avenuo, Sutho 106, 5. Ao MINNeeotts 551141149 « 612-644-3034 « Fax 612 64450843

With its enactment of. The Adoption Assistance and Child Weltare Act of 1880 (Public
Law 96-272) nearty fiftean years ago, the United States Congress began to promote
the adoption of special needs children in out-of-home care by providing tederal
reimbursement for adoption assistance payments made to the families adopting them.
Under 98-272, states are required to establish adoption assistance programs that
provide monthly maintenance payments, Medicaid coverage, selected sacial services.
arr:qurelmbursemenl for nonracurring adoption costs to tamilies adopting eligible
chidren.

The North American Council on Adoptable Children (NACAC), through the support of
. the W.K. Kellogg Foundation, undertook this study to: {(a) assess the genara!
effectiveness of adoption assistance programs around the country, (b) construct
profiles of children and families receiving assistance, as well as the types and
sufficiency of bengfits made available to them; (c) analyze the impacts that various
) systemic policies and practices have on the distribution of thesas benetits; and (d)
B highlight dominant trends and areas of major programmatic concern among
assistance providers and recipients.

To address the objectives dascribed above, input was solicited from State-leval
adoption administrators and policymakers, front-line adoption workers, and adoptive
families in twenty states, including: Arizona, California, Colorado, the District of
Columbia, Hlinois, Indiana, Kansas, Louisiana, Massachuselts, Michigan, Minnesota,
Mississippi, Montana, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsyivania, South Carotina,
Texas, and Washington. In total, 27 administrators/policymakers (i.e.. state adoption
supervisors, siate legisiators, budget analysts, etc.), 140 workers (seven—five public
and two privale—par state), and 532 familias (responsible for finalizing 753 domestic
adoptiva placements through licensed public or private agencies after 1990} provided
information via telephone interview and/or written survey instrument.

BASIC FINDINGS
In compiling the responsas of these stakeholders, it was revealed that:

1. Adoption assistance programs (AAP) are critical in promoting
permenency for special noeds children.

While some respondents quastionad specific provisions or practices within their state's
adoption assistance programs, there was virtually unanimous agreement thal
payments and services provided through them are critical in finding permansnt homes
for targe numbers of vulnerable children. In general, interviewess confirmed that
adoption assistance programs are acomplishing what they wera set uD 10 do—that is,
taclitating tha permanent placement of chiidren who otherwlse might remain
unadopted.
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Respondants repeatedly indicated that benafits provided through adoption assistance

agreemants are cruclal to the long-term "haalth” of children and familigs Invowed. The
stataments below--the first two from state adoption supervisors, the third from a veteran
adoption worker, and the last, most tellingly, trom a letter written by an adoptive parent-
-typify comments made regarding the vital nature of thase benefits:

* "There is no doubt that adoption assistancae increasas the number of spacial
needs adoptions that accur. There are kids out there who simply won' be
adopted without assistance. . . . Nesdless to say, mongy usad for these benefits
is money exceedingly well-spent. Adoption assistance is one of the few areas

in child welfare whare dotlars spent actually make a concrete difference in
children’s lives.”

* "Adoption assistance expenditures are absolutely essential, . . . Walting kids
are the neediest children in our entire society. We as policymakers can't

pretend 10 say that we support the ‘family unit’ if we don't provide assistance to
these kids.”

* "Adoption assistance is a God-send. I've been a worker for over fiftesen years,
and there is no comparison between the number and types of adoptions that
are completad now and those that were done when | started. So many families
have benafited from the program. | can imagine what woukl happen to
tamilies {f thay had to do without thase benetits.”

* *| am the father of twelve chiidren, four born to me and eight adopted. My
sdopted children ali have special needs. Thair disabilkies range in severtty
from a daughter who was born missing her right hand to a son who has
Hanhart's Syndrome—congenital absence of one lag, both hands, and his lower
{aw. Others of my chiidren are physically able but emotionally disturbed.

1 want to tel! you about one of my children bacauss | think it is essential that
you have some sanse of what it is like to parent a speclal needs child and, more
specifically, to give you some insight regarding the critical importance of
adoption subsidies to adoptive famities.

Pater (not his real nama) is fourteen. He was originally adopted at age
three by parents in Los Angeles. After one year of a difficult placement, his
adoptive mother burned him with bolling water. He went to the hospltal. she
went to jall. He naever saw her again. He was sexually abused during his
recuperation in the hospital. After that he lived in two separate foster homes
before joining our family. . o

Peter suffers from post traumatic stress syndroms, attention deficit disorder
with hyperactivity, and serious learning disabilities. Untii he began aggressive
chemical treatment by a neuropsychiatrist, his behavior was leading him
straight for residential treatment and quite possibly the criminal justice system.

Lite with Peter is agonizing and painful. 1 can also be satisfying and
rewarding. To say that It is a severe test of our parenting skills s an
understatement, We never know from day to day or moment to moment whether
he will be threatening one of his siblings with a knife, or sitting quietly playing
with Legos: on the roof ufinating on the first unsuspacting soul to leave the
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house, or reading a book on John F. Kennedy (a favorite of his);

playmate's head under waler, trying to drown rSim. or Wm;
belongings in his room in his pecullar compuisive way: o7 running away and
wandering :IL over town with God knows whom.

When his medication is effective, and lately—thank goodness- it is mo
often than not, he can really focus and aftend. Onmosodaysordwlngtr;:e
hours we can 860 his potential for achieving a normal (ife.

The expenses associated with our and Peter's accomplishments have been
enormous. The costs of psychiatric cars, numerous psychological evaluations,
ongoing therapy sasslons, spacial educational placements, and medkines are
a mrasurablo drain on our financial resourcas. More ciificull to Measure are
the emotional costs of our fear, concem, and amdsty. The costs ot alisnated
relationships {neighbors, friends. and relatives) are r.milarly unmneasurable but
qu:t"ymmiaj . Howaver, | can assure you that all of these axpensas have bean
substantial.

The adoption subsidy we recaive for Peter i% a tremendous resource which
goes a long way in aligviating the financlal strein of caring for him and in
procuring the professional assistance he neecis. It also gives us the resources
necassary to provide a foundation for his life and to strangthen our family
structure. Most importantly, it allows us the me.ns to continue our commitment
to him and to all our children so that they may g-ow up safely in @ parmanent
and loving home. With adoption assistance, thers is hope for Peter's future, and
that's really the bottom line.

In addition to affirming the overall effectiveness of adoptior: gssistance as &
permanency incentive, moet respondents~particularly those ai the soministrative or
policymaking ievel-were lirm in their beiief that adoption assigtence prosrams are an
efficient outlat for child weltare doilars. As voiced by one stale Supenvisor, “The
adoption assistance program is the bast ‘dargain’ in the entire child welfare

realm.. We're gotting more for our dollars hare than in any of our other programs for
kids." This is not 1o say that all interviewees were complstaly satisfied with the
workings of their own, or others', programs. As several emphasized, "We must tighten
some things up in cenain areas.. The subsidy program: is not a ‘cure-alf for all bad fits.
It is metely @ safety net.”

Neverthalass, and daspite these caveals, when specifically asked about the “proper”
priotitization of agoption assistance programs within the broader child waltare arena.
raspondents were quick to strass the importance of subsidized adoption. Ensuing
discussions genarally focused on the comparative merits and/or d{awbacls of
providing additional (or fewer) resources at the *tront* (family reunification and
praservation servicas) and “back® (adoption services) ends of the service delivery
spectrum. Participants agreed that allocating sufficlent rasources at both ends of the
spactrum remains critical for children and familles, but none advocated for reducing
adoption assistance tunding in order 10 bolster front-end servicas. "Dont get me
wrong—family preservation services are definitely needad. We might even be 'short-
changing' families a iittie bit in this area right now. But adoplion assistance is very
important, and it should not b cut in any way. Thare will always be a group of kids tor
whom adoption is the most appropriate permanency option who desperately need
adoption assistance benafits.”
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Chairman JoHNSON. Thank you very much.

Are there questions of Mrs. Howze?

Mr. McDermott. A

Mr. McDERMOTT. How much trouble do you have in getting serv-
ices for your kids?

Ms. HowzE. Well, that is another issue. What I found in this
community and through networking with other parents who have
special-needs kids, we are—our needs are further ahead than the
helping psychigirists, psychologists.

So often we are coming to them and saying, I see this, and they
can't ﬁi;ure out what it is. We may have a sense of what it is, but
it is all touch and go. In fact, a number of people I know person-
ally, the therapists have said to them, why don’t you just turn
them back in, it is too much probably for you to handle. So there
isn’t really a network out there for people who come in this—with
this I-am-going-to-help attitude, and then find out that there are
very serious emotional and physical difficulties with the children
that says, oh, we will be a part of your process.

Instead, it is sort of like, well, you volunteered, just go on and
unvolunteer. And that is not unusual.

That is not part of the normal child welfare where you go for so-
cial services. It is the rest of the community.
~ So that is a very good question. It is very difficult to find serv-
ices.

Mr. McDERMOTT. Well, I was really driving at a more specific
point, and that is, you have Medicaidycoverage for these children
under the special needs program?

Ms. HowZe. Right. And my agreement also allows—they have
changed the way that they are coing it ncw, but because there
were so many uncertainties and because I am a smart person, I
asked that they leave some wiggle room. So when I don’t—when 1
first go to Medicaid providers and when they are not working in
the best interests of my children, then I will find people in the com-
munity who will let me pay after reimbursement from the District
of Columbia.

There have been times when the District of Columbia has re-
fused to reimburse. For example, my middle child has nn tongue
muscle, so her speech is affected by that. She needed braces to re-
shape her moutﬁ. We still haven’t gotten the braces, though she
gets lots of speech therapy, because DHS decided that they didn’t
think that was an appropriate expense.

So it is a dicey situation that parents are in, and you have to
pick and choose what is most important. I have had to choose be-
tween focusin{; on my bipolar child because of the seriousness of
that and the level of medication, and hold off on the other two in
terms of their needs; and I don’t think anybody should ever be
f;‘)laced in that situation, regardless of where the children came
rom.

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Are the costs for your child being in the mental
hospital, are those going to be coverex under Medicaid?

Ms. HowZze. Those are covered completely under Medicaid, and
that is another very good issue. Because if I—I don’t have health
insurance because I left my job. But if I did, she would not be able
to go in the way she has heen able to go in the last 2 years.

I
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Mr. McDErMOTT. Thank you.

Ms. Howze. Now, I would like to say, I will guarantee the U.S.
Government and every taxpayer that my daughter will not be
walking around the streets lying on a grate somewhere. That is
what this is for. It is the preventiveness that keeps us from having
major adult problems down the line, and that is what adoptive par-
ents attempt to offer to their children.

Mr. McDERMOTT. We are grateful for people like you who will do
the kinds of things you are doing. Thank you.

Ms. HowzEe, Thank you.

Chairman JOHNSON. As you work with the system, is there any
focus on, as there is with people over 65, you know, the costs of
keeping people out of nursing homes versus in nursing homes? Is
there any support for perhaps more generous services or supple-
ments in addition to Medicaid, recognizing that if you didn’t ﬁave
these kids, they would almost certainly be institutionalized?

Ms. HowzE. No. Because I think one of the things that has hap-
pened, and probably was happening before the passage of the Pug-
lic Law, is that the State or local jurisdiction is so bound with their
budget vagaries. So, for example, the District of Columbia is in a
major, major problem right now.

I happen to have a client who is about to be adopted who is CP,
G-2, blind, deaf, the whole bit. It has taken 9 months to try to ne-
Eotiate a rate of payment for the care iiver who wants to keep this

oy for as long as he lives. That is the kind of playing with people’s
lives that occurs, that is based on fiscal and not on the needs of
the child.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much. Thank you for your
good testimony. Thank you for your contribution to the lives of
these children and to the strength of our society.

Ms. Howzi, Well, any time.
Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much.
Marcia Lowry.

STATEMENT OF MARCIA ROBINSON LOWRY, DIRECTOR,
CHILDREN'S RIGHTS PROJECT, AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES
UNION

Ms. Lowry. Good afternoon. I am very glad to have the oppor-
tunity to talk to you. Coming at the—

Mr. MCDERMOTT. Use the microphone, please.

Ms. Lowry. Coming at the end of a morning of very interesting
testimony makes it hard to kind of restrain myself to what I origi-
nally started out t> say, because there have been so many interest-
ing and important ideas here. And certainly the first speaker on
this—can you hear me?

Mr. McDERMOTT. Madam Chairman, your remarks will be in the
record, so if there are other things you have heard, I hope that you
will carry on so it is a real discussion here.

Ms. LowRry. 1 am going to do my best. And certainly the last
speaker illustrates a very important point, which is there are in
fact extraordinary human beings in this country who are willing to
give homes to children in serious trouble and willing to stick with
them. And many children who have been in our foster care system
are very, very damaged by that experience in itself.




The government spends a lot of money to produce children who
are very, very fortunate to find a woman like Ms. Howze, who is
prepared to take these children in and mnake a commitment to
them.

We were earlier hearing a little bit about children having chil-
dren, and let me just say I am—I am an attorney. I represent chil-
dren in class action lawsuits against State and county child welfare
agencies for falling below even what I consider to be the fairly
broad standards of Federal law. And one young man, who was in
foster care from the time he was 13 months old and is now 28
years old, said to me at one point, when he was getting married,
and I said, “You know, mak’be you ought to think about pestponing
having children for awhile”; he said, “I never had a famly, I want
to have my own family, I want to create my own family.” But he
had been in foster care his whole life, and although he was able
to father children, he wasn’t able to raise them. And his children
are now in foster care as well.

The points that I really want to make today, that I have heard
a little less about, are three:

There must be specific Federal standards in whatever Federal
iegislation governs the provision of money to the States. There are
standards now in title IV-E. They are minimal standards. If we
really wanted to have good child welfare systems, we would have
more specific standards; and we could do that without taking away
from the States, flexibility about how they administer child welfare
services. But from the standpoint of these children and particularly
from the standpoint of someone who has looked at many of these
State child welfare systems, it will be a disaster, in my view, for
these kids and for the use of government money if we take away
what we have already got in terms of standards.

You heard something today about training for workers. You
heard about caseloads. You heard about supervision. You didn’t
hear about quality assurance, but that is a big issue in the States.
None of those things are required in the Federal statute now, and
I am not here today to ask you to put them in. But what I am say-
ing is, if you are really ]ooiing at quality services, those kinds of
things are minimal things to do.

What you have now is a requirement for case plans, you have a
requirement to move toward permanence. What you have is some
very minimal standards with regard to placements. Without telling
the States how to run their systems, I can’t believe that anyone
would say it is possible to provide decent services for children when
you have 150 kids on your caseload. You can't do it.

During trial on the lawsuit against the D.C. child welfare sys-
tem, we heard testimony from workers who said, when we asked
them whether they made case plans, they laughed. They said all
I am trying to do is get through my day without a child dying on
my caseload. Now that was the right choice for the worker, but if
we are serious about trying to get permanence for kids, the work-
ers have to have caseloads anf training that enables them to do
what we want in the Federal statute. But most importantly, we
have to have some general standards that are enforceable and
about. which there is oversight exercised.
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And I really emphasize, I am not trying to come out on the other
side of the question of whether the States should have flexibility.
They should. They should decide what programs work best to get
permanence for kids. But they have got to get permanence for kids
or we will be back to where we were prior to 1980 when we had
Federal funds go to the States under a statute, title [IV-A, that ba-
sically did not set any standards at aH.

Second, I believe that there has to be some Federal oversight. I
do not believe that the 427 audits were effective and I don't believe
that they did a good job. That doesn’'t mean that there can't be
ﬁood, competent Federal oversight that will really tell us what is

appening in the States without being incredibly burdensome.

And finally, whatever standards we have in Federal law must be
legally enforceable, so that when the Federal oversight falls back,
as it unfortunately has over the last 14 years, and when the States
are not meeting the Federal standards, the children have some
rigll‘mts to hold the States accountable themselves.

hank you.
[The prepared statement follows:1
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much, Ms. Lowry.
Mr. Petit.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL PETIT, DEPUTY DIRECTOR, CHILD
WELFARE LEAGUE OF AMERICA, INC.

Mr. PETIT. Madam Chairman and members of the subcommittee,
I am Michael Petit. I am the deputy director at the Child Welfare
League of America, a 75-year-old nonprofit organization that rep-
resents 800 public and private child-serving organizations. About
2.5 million children a year are served by our member agencies.

In the last 25 years, I have worked on child welfare issues and
have traveled to all 50 of the States working to evaluate and
strengthen their child welfare systems. In the 8 years prior to that,
I was the commissioner of Maine’s Department of Human Services,
which is that State’s child welfare agency. In my travels, I discov-
ered that the good news is, like the lady who testified at the begin-
ning, there are thousands of individuals privately and within agen-
cies who successfully protect children each day and who help fami-
lies learn to better manage their own affairs. Yet, hundreds of oth-
ers—hundreds of thousands of other children are living in dan-
gerous and neglectful situations and most of those children are
presently known to the authorities. For these children, government
at all levels is the one thing that stands between them and grave
injury.

It 1s our strong belief that the Federal role in this instance needs
to be strengthened, not weakened. The real issue is that which you
were alluding to earlier, which is that an increasing number of
families are unable to manage the affairs of their children safely.
The consequence of that is a State and county child welfare system
that is so overburdened that many children 1n danger are literally
receiving no protection whatsoever.

On the whole, the child welfare programs that we have visited
in the country—and as I said, our work is helping those States to
evaluate their systems—are generally severely underresourced.
There are no States that meet Child Welfare League of America
standards. We have been setting those standards for nearly 75
years. We have 11 volumes of such standards.

The caseloads that we encounter are as much as 100 to 1. Our
recommended caseload standards in some of those programs are as
low as 15 to 1.

With respect to flexibility and block granting, we think that is
a terrific idea, at one level, the flexibihity. But if the States were
operating to the maximum degree of flexibility and efficiency, they
would still be severely underresourced. There are simply too many
families—States have been virtually overwhelmed by the crush of
cases that have been brought to their attention.

The 18 children that you made reference to earlier, Madam
Chairman, last year in Chicago, that were discovered in a neglect-
ful situation, I subsequently met with many agencies across the
country around that particular issue. It is viewed as a garden-
variety type of a neglect problem; it is not viewed as an extraor-
dinary case at all.

Representative  McDermott asked what can  be done
programmatically. Among the things we are strongly advancing are
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notions like getting serious with teenage pregnancy and all that
means. Home visitor programs to certain households, particularl
teenagers on AFDC, until such time as it is proven that home visi-
tations are no longer necessary.

We have got some excellent models on that: Serious parenting in-
struction; cEild care in every school in this country, including pro-
grams that are run by junior and senior high school students; and
with regards to training, one-half of the States have no preservice
training right now for the child welfare workers. You can be a 23-
year-olg socialworker on Friday doing food stamps, and on Monda
ﬁou are talking about somebody who has had sex with their chil-

ren.

Having served as a State administrator myself and having inter-
viewed hundreds over the years, 427 is a meaningless process for
most of the States. It represents no kind of sanctions to the States
whatsoever. It is viewed as a paper tiger.

Overall, I would give the system a grade of D. The reason why
is that, for example, half of the kids that are killed in this country
at the hands of their family members are already previously re-
ported to the department. In one study, 40 percent of the kids re-
turned from foster care, 1 year later, had been reabused and were
back in State custody.

And one area that is seriously neglected is child sexual abuse. It
is our belief right now that fewer than 1 out of 10 child sexual
abuse cases in this country, where a felony has been committed, re-
sult in a prosecution. That means that 90 percent don’t have a
prosecution. And in State after State we ask judges, socialworkers
and others if they believe that there are children that they know
who are living at home with a sexual perpetrator, and the answer
is always yes.

Some States have a much stronger inclination to do this than
others. Let me give you two States, 3 million people in both States.
One of them spends $24 million on its entire child welfare system.
The other one spends $240 million on its child welfare system.
Block granting anything back to the States is not going to change
that reality.

The State’s general fund appropriation is $4 million in the first
instance. Ir: that State, I have visited children in jail, 9 years old,
whose only offense is to have been sexually abused by an adult, in
jail because there was no other place to locate the child; children,
13 years old, in straitjackets because of mental illness, in local
lockups without legal representation.

One of the consequences of all this is that telephone calls come
into jurisdictions in which they are supposed to generate a protec-
tive investigation. In one jurisdiction we are working with right
now, they get 30,000 referrals a year. They screen out 24,000, they
go out on 6,000. They don’t go out on 24,000. Imagine a comparable
situation with the local fire department in which there is an in-
quiry over the phone trying to screen out a fire call because of, how
hot is the smoke and what color is—what color is the flame?

Finally, with regards to the paperwork issue that was raised by
Congressman Matsui, our experience, when we asked socialworkers
this question—we have asked thousands of them, how much of
your time is spent on paperwork versus families, it ranges from a
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low of 3 percent with families, to not much more than 25 percent
with families.

There is a crushing weight of paper. I would submit, though, that
it is marginally related to Federaﬁeviews. It is mostly related to
the kinds of legal processes that are going on in the courts.

And I would just note that on that, when we are talking about
taking children away from their families, I have a hard time imag-
ining something that isn’t going to be largely driven by certain le-
galistic considerations. Qur testimony includes, I think, some 14
recommendations which I would be Kappy to talk about at some
point.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL PETIT
CHILD WELFARE LEAGUE OF AMERICA, INC.

Madam Chairwoman and members of the Subcommittee, 1 am Michael Petit, Deputy
Director of the Child Welfare League of America (CWLA). CWLA is a membership
organization representing 800 public and voluntary child serving agencies that assist over 2.5
million vuinerable children and families each year. CWLA welcomes this opportunity to testify
on federal child welfare programs and how the Congress might better protect children and
improve their lives. I believe this is an urgent matter. Children are in danger and the federal
government has a key role to play to protect them,

The principal focus of my work throughout my career has Leen to work on behalf of
families in the care, development, safety and protection of children. At CWLA I also serve as
the Director of CWLA's National Center for Excellence in Child Welfare. I have been to all 50
states and in nearly all of them have worked with state and local governments to evaluate and
strengthen their abilities to better protect our nation's children. In the cight years prior to my
work at CWLA, I served as the Commissioner for the State of Maine’s Human Services
Department. That Department had jurisdiction over child welfare, AFDC, Food Stamps and
Medicaid. In the decade prior to that, I worked for private non-profit organizations such as
United Way at the neighborhood and local level.

CWLA concurs wholcheartedly with your Subcommittee's desire to reexamine the
effectiveness of current federal efforts on behalf of abused and neglected children. The good
news is that there are many thousands of individuals, to be found in every state and jurisdiction,
who are deeply committed to the care and safety of children and who everyday successfully
protect and serve children at risk, whether in or out of their home, and who help families leam
beiter ways to manage their own affairs. Their dedicated efforts provide the front line assistance
that children need and these workers deserve great racognition for the important work they
perform daily.

However, children’s lives are in danger and the federal government has a critical role to
play to keep them safe. I have found that, despite the best efforts of local communities and state
govemnments, the work of the country’s public and private child welfare agencies is insufficient
to the task. Unless the federal govenment provides more leadership, not less, promotes greater
accountability, not less, and commits more resources, not less, to the care and protection of
children, states will not be able to adequately protect and care for the lives of our children.
Hundred of thousands of children are at risk of serious injury and death and many of them
known to authoritics are failing to receive the attention and protection they require.

Much needs to be done to remedy these terrible situations. Specific to the questions
posed by the Subcommittee, CWLA urges that an entitlement be maintained to help children
receive the services they need to keep them safe. A block grant could severely undermine state
and local community efforts to protect and serve children by eliminating the individual guarantee
of support. Many of these children are in state custody. In other words, the state is their legal
parent. They should not have to depend on an accident of geography and goodwill to be
protected.  We also must ensure enforceable protections for children in whatever systems are
put in place. Accountability that includes a range of sanctions with real teeth is needed at all
levels. Right now, 427 reviews don’t accomplish that objective.

While child welfare is the administrative focus on these issues, the courts, as we all
know, play a central part in child welfarc determinations and must be included in new
partnership to address the problems.

STATE CHILD WELFARE SYSTEMS ARE SO OVERBURDENED THAT MANY
CHILDREN IN DANGER RECEIVE NO PROTECTION

I have worked with thousands of individuals engaged in the process of caring and
protecting our nation's most vulnerable children—social workers, judges, law enforcement
officers, prosecutors, state and local administrators, elected officials, therapists, educatcrs,
public health officials, and hundreds of children and families whom the system is intendes to
serve. 1 have leamed first hand of many abused children who are protected, and whose familics
are successfully helped, because of effective intervention, But 1 have also leamed first hand of
numerous children, young and old:
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who are profoundly neglected—no food; no medical care, no personal hygiene
who are abandoned—a six-year-old boy pushed from his car and left on the interstate

who are seriously abused—severe head injuries resulting in a life time of paralysis and
semi-consciousness spent in nursing homes

who are raped repeatedly by adults—as young as 4 weeks old with venereal diseases,
a § year old child with cerchral palsy sexually assauited in her own crib

and who are killed—bumed to death in furnaces, hacked to death, drowned when
forced to drink gallons of water.

Unfortunately, those agencies and individuals with the principal responsibility for
addressing the horrible problems experienced by many children are nearly overwhelmed by the
sheer number of children in need of protection, and by the increasing aumber of parents unable
to fulfill their traditional protective responsibilities to their children. Having worked in this field
for 25 years, I conclude that the nation's response to the often life-threatening conditions in
which many of these young victims lives is unorganized, underfunded and, ultimately,
completely inadequate.

Although child welfare operations vary wildly from one jurisdiction to another,
sometimes even within the same state, and centainly some do a better job than others, ihe federal
Title IV-E 427 review process has largely been ineffective in capturing these differences and
certainly in compelling. or even guiding, corrective actions to improve the situation.

FEDERAL PROTECTIONS AND SANCTIONS ARE CRITICAL

Having served as a state administrator myself, and having worked with hundreds of
others over the years, I can state with confidence that the use of federal sanctions aimed at

correcting major deficiencies in state or local operations is not a worry to the states because,
in pructice, there are no federal sanctions. While the 427 review process has indeed created an
onerous paper burden in some jurisdictions, it has not worked to effectively change the way the
system care for our children. Congress and the Administration have begun to take welcomed
steps to improve the 427 review process. Much more needs to be done.

The idea of a vigorous federal monitoring role must not be dismissed. In fact, CWLA
believes that the federal government must assume a much stronger role in working with state
jurisdictions, in a true partnership, to attack the widespread problems of child abuse and neglect
which deeply threaten and damage our culture.

PRINCIPLES OF P.L, 96-272 REMAIN SOUND

CWLA continues to endorse the progressive principles passed by Congress in 1980 and
contained in the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Reform Act (P.L. 96-272). We believe
this law’s emphasis on making all reasonable efforts to allow abused and neglected children to
remain in their own homes with their own families, if it can be done safely, is the proper central
tenet in providing assistance to troubled families and their children. In many jurisdictions across
the country progress has been made in introducing family-focused, child-centered services in
response to abuse and neglect; many children have been able to remain safely at home or safely
returned to their homes after receiving short or long-term placements because of P.L. 96-272's
commitment to reasonable efforts and family reunification. This is an accomplishment with
which we can be pleased.

Specifically built into the law are the following priorities:

¢ providing supports to families in order to prevent separation of children from their
families
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¢ where separation is necessary, providing support services to enable children to be
reunited with their families

¢ where reunification with their own families is not possible or appropriate, providing
services that enable children to be adopted or placed in pesrmanent foster homes with
some form of legal protection.

To accomplish the above purpose and priorities, the law incorporates a number of
procedural reforms and fiscal incentives:

Provision of preplacement and postplacement services to keep children in their own
homes or reunite with their familics as soon as possible. These are sometimes
referred to as services that must satisfy the “reasonable efforts” clause of the law.

Requirements of case plans, periodic reviews, management information systems, and
other procedures to ensure that children are removed from their homes only when
necessary and are placed with permanent families in a timely fashion.

Redirecting federal funds away from inappropriate foster care placement and toward
permanent alternatives, particularly adoption.

Establishment of adoption assistance programs, specifically federally funded subsidies
for adoption of children with special needs, such as older, disabled and minority
children.

Despite these provisions, the nation’s collective response to abused, neglected and
abandoned children is failing to provide both protection and appropriate living arrangements for
hundreds of thousands of them: many are removed from their families prematurely without
reasonable efforts having been made. Some are not removed quickly enough. Many children
unnecessarily remain in foster care because of inadequate reunification efforts. Other children
are reunified but without adequate follow-up services to their families, resulting in re-abuse and
removal once more. Some children and youth are placed in facilities appropriate to their noeds,
others are placed in programs that are too restrictive or nor restrictive enough. For some
children, known to be living in dangerous or threatening conditions, little or nothing is being
done.

It is also reflected in the deaths of children killed at the hands of family members, nearly
half of whom had previously been reported as abused or neglected prior to their death, A study
found that 40% of one group of foster children, who had been reunified with their families, were
placed back in foster care within a year because of re-abuse or further neglect. An informat,
but reliable, opinion surveys of child welfare agencies and law enforcement agencies revealed
that perhaps fewer than one in ten strongly suspected cases of child sexua! abuse result in
prosecution and conviction.

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT HAS KEY ROLE

CWLA strongly believes that the principal role of government and private agencies in
the lives of troubled children and families is to enable families, whenever possible, to better
manage their own affairs and safely care for their children. We are talking about the protection
and care of millions of children.

Some jurisdictions have a much stronger inclination and capacity than others to address
this urgent challenge. For example, consider the commitment of resources: two like-sized states
of nearly 3 million people have allotted hugely different sums to child welfare, twenty-four
million dollars in one state, two-hundred and forty miltion in the other, the lnst time I looked.
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In the first state, we have seen children as young as nine years old, whose only offense was to
have been sexually abused by an adult, spending days in jail because there was no foster home,
emergency shelter or residential care facility for the child. In the second state, there is a well
developed network of treatment services and shelter to help the child.

In the first state, child welfare workers involved in the most intimate aspects of a
family’s life can begin their job having received little or no training. In the second state,
workers must have sufficient experience and education prior to being employed by the agency
and receive weeks of specialized training prior to ever handling a case.

In the first state, juveniles who run away from home or who commit the most modest
offenses, such as shoplifting or not attending school, can find themselves in a state training
school or local jail, sometimes without legal representation, because there is no alternative
shelter. In the second state, there is a network of specialized treatment and residential care
aimed at meeting the child’s needs and getting him reunited with his family as quickly as
possible.

In the first state, there are no intensive family preservation services which might have
prevented placement in the first instance. In the second state, there is a statewide network of
family preservation services preventing hundreds of unnecessary placements each year.

In the first state, a well defined blueprint documenting in detail the extensive child
welfare problems that exist, including what it would take to correct the problems is ignored by
the governor and legislature despite extensive press coverage and a large state budget surplus.
In the second state, the governor and legislature convene public forums, hold press conferenices,
convene citizen groups and conduct the extensive public education and planning needed to
effectively protect abused and neglected children.

Neither the 427 review process nor any other federal oversight mechanism captured the
differences in these two states and the subsequent harm that routinely befall the children in the
first state.

The different responses by these states are not unusual nationally. In some states, clected
officials provide leadership on behalf of abused children. In other states, we regularly
encounter situations in which the basic attitude towards child welfare, communicated by top
elected officials in the executive and legislative branches to child welfare administrators at
budget time, is “don’t ask, don't tell.* And they usually don’t. When they du, they may be
fired, a situation we have encountered more than once. Neither the 427 review process, nor any
other federal oversight mechanism, is able to address this reality at the present time.

These wide variations have tremendous implications for children. For instance, in some
jurisdictions virtually all child abuse and neglect referrals result in an onsite investigation. In
one jurisdiction in which we are working 30,000 referrals are made each year to the public child
welfare agency. The agency screens out 24,000 by telephone. Imagine a fire department,
whose dispatcher receives many false alarms, screening out 80% of its calls by telephone: How
hot is the flame, the dispatcher might ask? What color is the smoke? What fabric is bumning?
Are you able to put it out yourself? This would be absurd, of course, because everyone
recognizes that the consequences of being wrong in the assessment are 50 severe that it is worth
the added cost to check every situation in person. This is how it should be for our children.

CWLA belicves the amount of child abuse and neglect in this country is a national crisis.
We believe it is contributing directly to subsequent criminal behavior. We know that many child
victims eventually tum the tables and become the menacing victimizers we have come to fear.
In the debate about crime insufficient attention is being paid to the connection between child
abuse and neglect and public safety. We absolutely concur that neighborhoods, communit. s,
counties, states, public and private providers of services, families themselves and all others with
an interest in the well-being of children must be deeply involved and have important roles to
play in solving the alarming and worsening problem of abuse and neglect.
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We believe equally however, that despite the best efforts of local communities and state
governments, the work of the nation's public and private child welfare agencies will rmain

insufficient to the task unless the federal government provides more leadership, promotes greater
accountability and commits more, not fewer, resources to the care and protection of children.

We believe a national strategy is necessary and must be tied together by a federal government
working in close cooperation with states and local communities in the public and private seciors.

We recommend:

First, maintain the entitlements for all services necessary to provide care and
protection to children who are brought into state custody. Block granting the
entitlements would undermine the ability to protect and serve children and would
make safety dependent on accidents of geography or individual goodwill. Careful
and thoughtful consolidation of some discretionary activities in related areas
would make good programmatic and fiscal sense.

Include enforceable protections in whatever systems are put in place. At
present the federal government is a paper tiger in addressing the worst violations
of federal intentions in child welfare. In numerous instances where class action
litigation has been filed the state had recently passed a 427 review.

Assume greater responsibility for coordinating and enforcing all federal childd
welfare initiatives, and provide support and guidance to the goverors enabling
them to better coordinate federal efforts at the state level.

Promote a nationwide unifying theme of child-centered, famlly-focused
casework practice as the heart of government strategy for protecting the safety
and best intcrests of abused and neglected children.

Provide suppert for the full array of prevention and treatment services
necessary to assist victims of child abuse and neglect.

Develop nationa! standards for child welfare practice and condition federal
funds tc the states upon full adherence to these standards by the year 2000.

Develop a national data base, with mandatory state participation, that allows for
more serious and effective accountability and planning.

Establish and enforce more rigorous and comprehensive scrutiny of child
welfare outcomes within the states.

Continue support for new computerized case management technology that
promises to better protect children, reduce unnecessary removal of children from
their families, greatly reduce paporwork, increase social worker productivity and
strengthen management capacity.

Ideatify the true costs required to respond effectively to the country’s child
welfare crisis, based on uniformly developed, state-by-state budget estimates, and
provide the federal funds to support the national governments fair share needs.

Develop a nationwlde system of worker recruitment, training and
certification, including ongoing training of all child-serving staff, supervisors and
administrators, similar to that which exists for nurses and teachers.

Conduct a nationwide campaign to recruit new foster and adoptive homes
and to retain existing homes, and assist the states in their efforts to retain
current foster homes and promote adoptions.
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13. Develop a technical assistance capacity to assist the states in the transformation
of their child welfare systems.

14.  Convene a national panel, to report back to the Congress by this summer, on
the scope of the problem nationally and the applicability of the above
recommendation, and others, on this national failure to our children.

We recognize better than anyone that the federal government is unable to provide the
warmth and attention that every injured child requires for healing. But we do know more about
producing healthy children than ever before. We are committed to the idea that children do best
when families are attentive to their needs. We believe equally that families themselves do best
when communities are attentive to their needs. That speaks to the need for supportive public
policies that help communities help families in the care and protection of all children. The
federal government must assume a far more vigorous role in working with the states to assure
that every child in every community is protected.

Thank you for this opportunity to express our concerns and suggestions. We and our 800
member agencies across the United States look forward to working with members of the
Subcommittee and its staff to craft smarter and more effective ways to address the needs of
injured children.

Ty
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much.
Mr. Henry, Children’s Rights Council.

STATEMENT OF RONALD K. HENRY, ESQ., CHILDREN'S RIGHTS
COUNCIL

Mr. HENRY. Thank you. My name is Ron Henry. I am a volunteer
child welfare attorney, testif);'in today on behalf of the Children’s
Rights Council. The Children’s ﬁl hts Council would like to thank
the Chair and the committee members for scheduling this very im-
portant hearing on the reform of the Federal role in child welfare
programs.

The Children’s Rights Council is a nonprofit educational organi-
zation whose sole purposes are the encouragement of family forma-
tion, family preservation, and the demilitarization of divorce to
keep both parents actively involved in the child’s life.

In providing services to children, we must always begin with the
understanding that the best service we can provide to at-risk chil-
dren is to reguce the number of children wﬁo become at-risk. Re-
gardless of the social pathology that is under study—whether it be
teenage pregnancy, drug abuse, suicide, low self-esteem, juvenile
delinquency, poor academic perf'ormance or any of our other social
ills—the §reatest causal factor that researchers find for us is fam-
ilfy breakdown or family nonformation or, as you heard from some
o

the earlier witnesses, father absence. We believe and we are
here to talk to you today about the most underutilized resource in
child welfare; that is, the family itself.

All of our programs currently focus on the single custodial moth-
er alone. We give huge arr ‘\;1 of resources, many of which you

have heard described today. We prop up that single mother as a
stand-alone entity and insist over and over again, despite experi-
ence, that we are going to make it work.

Many of these single-parent families will never be able to func-
tion without support. Many of them will never even be able to func-
tion with support. Many of them continue in the very abuse and
neglect that grought the child into the system in the first place. We
know that from our history. That is why we have been £scussing
such things as orphanages, and other third-party placements for
children.

Right now, our problem is that policy assumes a dichotomy of
choices for children. Either we preserve that single-mother,
propped-up situation, or we go to third-party care. We believe there
18 another way, a middle ground. That is, kinship care, using the
resources of the full connection of blood-related relatives, all the
people who care about and have a passionate love for that child be-
cause of their relationship to the child. That is the resource that
is often overlooked and the one that we think needs to be brought
more fully to the center.

If we continue to believe that the single custodial mother is the
child’s sole family, we will be butting our heads against the wall
forever. We will be continuing to come up with new rops, new
services, 7-days-a-week housekeepers and the rest. That is not
going to get us anywhere,

The typical at-risk child enters the welfare system as the result
of an abuse and neglect complaint. Many of tgese abuse and ne-

146
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glect complaints are initiated by other family members who observe
and are concerned about the child’s status.

Now, before addressing the positive steps that we can take as a
government to aid that child, we first must be sure to obey the
ﬁhysician's cread, “do no harm.” Too often, our approach does

arm. When the Federal Government’s narrow definition of family
preservation is heavily oriented toward defending the single-parent
custodial household, Federal intervention can and does actually
prevent an improvement in the child’s situation.

Take, for example, the sadly all-too-common case of an abusive
or neglectful parent who is reported to authorities by other rel-
atives, such as the grandparents. The grandparents are concerned
about the welfare of the grandchild. T%:-ey are frequently willing,
even eager, to provide rescue for the child in their own home. Rath-
er than obeying the physician’s creed, however, Federal family
preservation resources are reflexively mobilized on behalf of the
abusive parent—cash benefits, the housekeeper, counseling, in
home services, free or subsidized legal services and other resources
are all brought to bear to prop up that dysfunctional single parent.
Generally, the only party who i1s not legally represented or sub-
sidized by the ederal Government will be the very relative who
reported the child’s need and offered himself as a rescuer in the
first place.

One simple but critical reform is to recognize that family preser-
vation is not limited to the single-parent household, but includes
the blood relatives of the extended family or kinship network.
Whether it is the father, the grandparent or the aunt who seeks
to be part of the answer for the child’s needs, the government is
wrong when it defines family preservation to exclude these rel-
atives and actually mobilizes its own resources to resist their in-
volvement.

The tunnel vision that afflicts current family preservation efforts
can be seen at all stages of the child welfare process. It is rare for
a caseworker even to seek the identity of the child’s father, and al-
most unheard of for the caseworker to seek information regarding
the father’s fitness and willingness to provide for the child’s needs.
Too often, we ask only, can that father send a check. We don’t look
at that father as a human being, as a parent, as a physical and
emotional resource for the child. If the father or another relative
independently comes forward in an effort to assist the child, the
caseworker’s standard response is to resist rather than embrace
the assistance. This resistance is wrong.

The government’s interest is in protecting the child and not in
defending one parent’s ownership of that child against all others.
Family preservation must be understood to include and encourage
the participation of all family members, and must move beyond the
mere administration of programs designed to prop up the single
parent as a stand-alone entity.

Now, Madam Chairman, I have a number of specific responses
or ideas in response to Congressman Matsui’s request, which I will
save for the question and answer period. But just to conclude brief-
ly, the commitiee recognizes the brc ad differences among State pro-
grams. One of the things that we do wrong now is to measure State
performance in terms of the number of Band-Aids they count and
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administer; we are measaring how many Band-Aids rather than
how much healing

We need to change the 427 review process to look at the extent
to which child weifare is enhanced. We need to look at whether the
child’s safety is improved, whether the child’s behavior is improved,
and whether the child’s school perfermance has improved.

Madam Chairman, | look forward to the question period. Thank
you.

| The prepared statement follows:|
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TESTIMONY OF THE CHILDREN'S RIGHTS COUNCIL
BEFORE THE UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS, SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT

JANUARY 23, 1995
PRESENTED BY RONALD K. HENRY _ _

The Children's Rights Council thanks the Chair and
Committee Members for scheduling this very important hearing on
reform of the federal role in child-welfare programs.

The Children's Rights Council 18 a non-profit,
educational organization whose sole purposes are the
encouragement of family formation, family preservation, and the
"demilitarization" of divorce.

In providing services to children, we must always begin
with the understanding that the best service we can provide to
"at-risk” children is to reduce the number of children who become
"at-risk”. Regardless of the social pathology that 1s under
study, whether it be teenage pregnancy, drug abuse, suicide, low
self-esteem, juvenile delinquency, poor academic performance, or
any of our cther social 1lls, the greatest causal factor 1s
family breakdown or family non-formation.

Virtually all of our social welfare programs are band
alds and tonics to treat our childrens' afflictions. The intect
two parent family is the rmmunization program that reduces the
tiagic needs for band aids and tonics. Too often, our government
piogirams have forgotten the simple axiom that prevention is
better than treatment. This hearing on family preservation
programs specifically demonstrates the need to reform government
programs that tfocus on treating symptoms whtle leaving the cause
ot the symptoms in place.

In virtually all of our programs, the phrase "family
preservation” has become narrowly defined to mean the propping up
of the single mother household as a stand-alone entity. While
most single parents do all they can for their children, and many
children of single parents develop beautifully, the inescapable
history of our programs demonstrates that many single mother
houscholds wlll never succeed as stand-alone units and manv
children in those households are in grave danger, both physically
and developmentally.

THE KINSHI

CARE ALTERNATIVE

The typical "at-risk" child enters the child welfare
system as a result of an abuse and neglect complaint or at the
request of the single custodial parent. Many of the abuse and
neglect complaints are initiated by other family members who
observe and are concerned about the child's status. Before
addressing positive steps that can be taken by the goverrment
that can aid the child, we must be sure to obey the physician's
creed of “"First, do no harm. ”

When the federal government's narrow definition of
"family preservation" {s heavily oriented toward defending the
single parent custodial household, the federal intervention can
actually prevent an improvement in the child's situation. Take,
for cxample, the sadly all too common case of an abusive or
neglectful parent who is reported to authorities by other
relatives guch as the grandparents. The grandparents are
concerned about the welfare of the grandchild and are frequently
willlng, eagerly or reluctantly, to provide rescue in Lthelr owi
home. Rather than obeying the physician't creed, however,
federal "tamily proservaiton” resources are 1otlexivedy wobilveed
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on beshalf of the abusive parent. Cash benefits, counseling, in-
home services, free or subsidized legal services, and other
resources are brought to bear to prop-up the dysfunctional single
parent. Generally, the only party not legally represented and
subsidized by the federal government will be the relative who
reported the child's need and offered to serve as a refuge. One
simple but critical reform is to recognize that family
preservation is not limited to the single parent household but
includes blood relatives in the extended family or "kinship”
network. Whether it is the father, the grandparents, or the aunt
who seeks to be part of the answer to the child's needs, the
government is wrong when it defines "family preservation" to
exclude these relatives and actively mobilizes its resources to
resist their involvement.

The tunnel vision that afflicts current "family
preservation” efforts can be seen at all stages of the child
welfare process. It is rare for a caseworker even to seek the
identity of the child's father and almost unheard of for the
caseworker to seek information regarding the father's fitness and
willingness to provide for the child's needs. If the father or
another relative independently comes forward in an effort to
assist the child, the caseworker's standard response is to resist
rather than embrace the assistance. This resistance is wrong.
The government's interest is in protecting the child and not in
defending one parent's ownership of that child against all
others. "Family preservation” must be understood to include and
encourage the participation of all family members and must move
beyond the mere administration of programs designed to prop up
the single parent as a stand-alone entity.

The absurdity of the current system is even more
starkly highlighted in situations where the caseworker realizes
that the child must be taken from the care of the single parent.
In every state in the country, the standard operating procedure
is for the bureaucracy to skip over the entire extended family
and consider only third party placement. The bureaucracy's
fallacy is in viewing child placement as a simple dichotomy -- an
unfit single parent versus third party foster care or adoption.
Kinship care needs to be recognized as the broad middle on the
continuum of options between single parent custody and third
party placement.

while the Committee recognizes broad operating
differences in the programs and procedures among the various
states, the above prejudices and irrationalities have become a
universal outgrowth of the current, narrow federal view of
"family preservation.” If child welfare programs remain
federally directed, "family preservation" must be clearly
redefined to embrace and encourage fathers, grandparents and
other rzlatives as child rescuers. If the states are given block
grants, the federal government must assure that its
responsibility for having created this bias is countermanded in
the block grant terms in order to asgsure that the block grants do
not merely perpetuate the status gquo.

Regardless of the form given to new child welfare
programs, the federal government must change its method for the
measurement of program success. Like many federal programs, the
427 review process examines the number of band-aids that have
been applied to the wounds rather than the amount of healing that
has taken place. 1In 427 reviews, the states are asked to
disclose the number of band-aids and give a description and
explanation of those band-aids. what is needed in reforming the
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427 process is an evaluation that looks at those things that
actually matter in the lives of children:

. Has the child's safety improved?
. Has the child's behavior improved?
. Has the child's school performance improved?

We know that the states are capable of running programs
that use lots of band-aids. The federal government's evaluation
system needs to be structured to incentivize the states not
simply to devote more resources to the problem but to devote the
available resources to those things which measurably improve
child well being.

Kinship care is a resource currently overlooked by the
too narrow definition of "family preservation”. Kinship care
does not create any new legal obligations, it merely embraces the
voluntary love and resources of the family. Kinship care saves
money. Unlike foster care providers, kinship care providers need
not (Lipscomb v, Simmons, (9th Circuit, April 27, 1992)) and
should not (to avoid improper incentives) be paid a salary in
caring for their own kin. Kinship care improves child well
being, reduces spending, and reduces government intrusion by
promoting true family preservation.

The remainder of this testimony describes the overview
of the Children's Rights Council's approach to welfare reform
with particular emphasis upon the methods by which kinship care
can become an impurtant part of the solution in AFDC cases as
well as in child welfare cases.

WELFARE REFORM INTRODUCTION

It is time to reform welfare. We must change the
systems under which our only criteria are that beneficiaries must
continue to neither work nor marry. Children are harmed when the
unintended consequence of policy is to favor non-working, single
parent households over all others. Most law-abiding citizens
work 40 to 45 years to qualify for a social security benefit that
is smaller than a teenuger's welfare package.

Welfare reform requires attention to four areas:
responsibility, paternity, accountability, and eligibility.

Responsibility. Every welfare recipient should be
required to devote 40 hours per week to some combination of job
search, training and work, with a strong emphasis on work.
Revising current programs to end the existing discrimination
against two-parent families will also increase access to child-
care from both parents and reduce the cost of day-care needs.

Paternity. Current policy fails to distinguish between
"runaway" and "thrown away" or "driven away" parents. Successful
paternity establishment requires that fathers must be accepted
and respected in all programs as family members rather than
merely as cuash donors.

Accountability. Prior efforts at reform have been
reluctant to impose sanctions against uncooOperative and
irresponsible adults because of a fear of "punishing the child."
The reality is that current policies allow children to be held as
hostages to guarantee continued subsidy of adult
irresponsibility.

Eligibility. Minor parents must live with or at the
expense of their own parents. Income based eligibility standards
shiould consider both the income of the parents and the resources
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that are voluntarily available from the kinship network. Fraud
must be addressed as a gerious matter.

The following pages provide:

(1) an Overview of Principles and Programs (pages
_to _ )

a proposal for kinship care as an alternative
to government care (pages __ to _ ):

a proposal to end “federal pre-emption of
state law regarding teenage births (pages __
to ):

a proposal for allocation of the depeandent
tax exemption (pages _ to _ }: and

a proposal for dealing with program fraud
(pages __ to ).

A.

There 1s widespread agreement that the current welfare
system is destructive of the families it was intended to help.
Despite its good intentions, the government has made a devil's
bargain with the poor -- "We will give you money as long as you
continue to neither work nor marry."” Current programs and many
reform proposals are patronizing. They assume that large classes
of citizens are simply too stupid and incompetent to make any
current Oor near term contribution to their own support. Real
welfare reform requirerz reccqnition that there is no respect for
the individual unless there is 1espect for the individual's
labor.

1. king Work Pay": Rhetoric and Reality

wWork alwvays pays. Our problem is that we have
established a parallel system under which non-work often pays
better. Most law ahiding citizens work 40 or 45 years to qualify
for a social security benefit that is smaller than a teenager's
welfare package. Many welfare recipients are not unemployed,
they are prematurely retired. We have long racognized that
social Security rules discourage paid employment among senior
citizens. We have recently recognized that welfare rules
discourage paid emplcyment among welfare reciplents. The
cornerstone of welfare reform must be respect for the importance
and dignity of work. Except for the small number of people who
are genuinely unable to make any contribution to their own needs,
welfare must be a supplement, not a substitute for work.

Welfare reform requires attention to four areas:
responsibility, paternitiy, accountability, and eligibility.

2. Responsibility

Responsibility should be immediate, mandatory and
universal. Beginning immediately with entry into any weitare
program, every recipient should be required to devote 40 hours
per week to some combination of job search, training and work
with a strong emphasis on work. Actual work experience ig
generally the bast training for advancement in the work place.
An immediate, universal work requirement aleo eliminates the "no
fob™ ontion and encourages serfous search efforts tor the bost
avaflabiie fob.




139

The work requirement can be satisfied by private
employment or by unpaid public service in exchange for receipt of
the welfare benefit. Work programs should not discriminate
against the non-welfare working poor. Vouchers and other special
incentives to hire welfare recipients create the risk of
displacing other workers. We should not support programs that
have the unintended consequence of encouraging people to enter
welfare as the path to job preferences. Community service jobs
(e.g., assignment to charitable organizations) provide benefits
to the community and training to the employee at little or no
government cost. Many of the current, unmet needs of communities
can be satisfied by this new pool of labor as a supplement to,
rather than a8 substitute for, current employees.

All programs must be open to and end the current
discrimination against two parent families. In two parent
tamilies, at least one parent must satisfy the 40 hour
requirement.

welfare reform should also begin the process of
examining barriers tc entry-level job creation. Many worthy
tasks in society are not performed because the total cost of
obtaining labor, including regulatory and recordkeeping burdens,
exceeds the value of the service. We need to examine the extent
to which willing workers have been priced out of the market by
government mandates.

Child care may be less oi a problem than argued by
some. Most current working parcents utilize some low-cost
cambination of family, friends and school to satisfy day care
needs.  As discrimination against two parent households is
eliminated, a greater number of children will have access to
chiid care from both parents. Finally, a portion of the
community service assignments can be made to child care
crganizations to increase the available supply at little or no
incremental cost. The Head Start Program already utilizes large
numbiers of low income parents whoe begin as unpaid interns and

3ot pawd staff and sapervisory positions.

3. Paternity

Current policy tails to distinguish between "ruanaway"
and “"thrown away" or “"driven away" parents. The tederal
government spends approximately two billion dollars per year on
child support enforcement but purposefully and consciously
excludes fathers trom all parent-child programs. Under current
AFDC rules, the low income tather who wishes to be a physical and
emotional asset to his children also becomes a financisl
liability by disqualifying them from most assistance. Research
conducted by UHS itselt contirms that both mothers and fathers
distrust the bureaucracy and work jointly to conceal paternity.
We cannot be surprised by low income parents who separate or
conceal paternity when our policies make such behavior the
vcconomlcally rational ccurse. A work requirement for single
narents and an end to discrimlnation against two-parent
houscholds will change the dynamics of paternity cstablishmoent.

Elfgibility for all federal programs should require
cotablichment of pateinlty, beginndng with eligibility for the
WIC program. That program itoelf must be revised o develop and
cncoutagu the 1tales of {fathers.,

Paternity establishment forms in hespital programs
should encourage the partles o voluntartly establish custody ond
vigitation as well as (inanecial support.  Avoidance of poverty
and welfore dependency are divectly Jinked to father involivement.
St B suppsis U ocompl banece exoccds 90 percent In Joint custady
faatlivg,  Child poverty taves and weltare depondency rateg asre
v b Yower dnc tathor custody tand licoe thao fo moiher cuntody.
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Women's workforce participation and economic security are
increased in joint custody and father custody families.

4. Accountability

AFDC and other programs are intended for the benefit of
the dependent children. Adults receive the benefits and are
expected to participate in the programs in support of the
children's needs. Failure or refusal to participate in required
programs or to spend the cash payments for the benefit of the
children should be seen as evidence of child neglect or abuse.
Such evidence should weigh heavily in determining whether it is
in the best interests of the child to transfer custody to a more
responsible relative or to consider a foster care placement.
Prior efforts at reform have been reluctant to impose sanctions
upon uncooperative and irresponsible adults because of a fear of
"punishing the child.” The reality is that current policies
allow children to be held as hostages to guarantee continued
subsidy of adult irresponsibility.

All recipients should be required to reimburse the
value of benerits received. Currently, child support paid by
non-custodial parents is used for reimbursement after a $50 per
month waiver. The custodial parent should have the obligation to
reimburse one-half of the welfare payments made on behalf of the
child and each adult should have the obligation to reimburse
benefits paid on behalf of that adult. Many welfare recipients
require only short term assistance and that assistance can fairly
be treated as a loan or a line of credit rather than as a grant.
A uniform reimbursement requirement also encou: ages all
recipients to minimize the period of dependency, take no more
benefits than are required, and resume paid employment at the
earliest possible date. Community service should be counted
toward the reimbursement obligation but should be valued at a
level that does not compete with the attractiveness of paid
employment.

5. Eligibility

Under the law of each state, parents have an obligation
of financial responsibility for their minor children. If the
minor children themselves become parents, the minor parents
should continue to be the obligation of their own parents.
Accordingly, the birth of a child to minor parents may create a
requirement for welfare assistance to the new infant but does not
create a requirement for assistance to the minor parents unless
their own parents are unable to supply the required support.
Minor parents must live with or at the expense of their own
parents. Payments on behalf of the new infant should be made to
the parents of the minor parents as their guardians.

Welfare payments should be limited to citizens and
immigrants with refugee status.

Income based eligibility standards should consider both
the income of the parents and any resources that are voluntarily
available from the kinship network. Scc attached proposal for
more details.

Fraud must be addressed as a serious matter. Welfare
benefits are based on the applicant's sclf ~-reporting of avatlable
income. 1f welfare fraud has concealed additional income,
welfare eligibility must be recalculated, at a minimum, to
include the demonstrated capacity for self support. See attached
proposal for further details. oOther fraud reduction mechanisms
including electronic transfers and improved identification
verification must be adopted.
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The earned income tax credit must be modified to reduce
the incentive and opportunity for strategies such as over-
reporting of income to maximize benafits and to reduce
discrimination against two parent families. Currently, many
working clase couples are insligible for EITC but, simply by
splitting into two dysfunctional fragmants, both become eligible.

B. VARE BILITY -- RINSHIP T AT

There is a broad consensus that welfare dependency is
not in the best interests of children. Recent legislative
initiatives have begun to examine the structural flaws in
existing welfare progrems. One of the best opportunities for
reducing welfare dependency is toc be found in the development of
more thoughtful eligibility criteria to better identify the
children who are actually in need of welfare assistance.

Currently, most welfare programs look only at the cash
income of the custodial single parent without regard to the
availability of voluntary kinship or extended family assistance.
The attached proposal provides that welfare eligibility should be
determined by examining all resources that are available
voluntarily through the child's kinship network.

The proposel does not relieve the child's parents of
their obligations nor does it impose new obligations on other
relatives. Only voluntery kinship assistance is considered.

Examples:

. Brother is willing to care for child of drug abuser
with or without change of custody/guardianship.
Welfare dependency is not in the best interests of the
child and eligibility should be denied.

Father of child is willing to provide child care with
or without change of custody while mother works.
Welfare dependency is not in the best interests of the
child and eligibility should be denied.

Adolescent mother lives with her parents. The parents
have a legal obligation to support their adolescent
daughter and are willing to care for grandchild while
daughter completes school or works. Welfare dependency
is not in the best interests of the child and
eligibility should be denied.

KINSHIP CARE ACT OF 1995

SECTION QNE FINDINGS AND PURPOSES
The Congress of the United States finds that:

wWelfare programs are intended to provide temporsary
economic sustenance for individuals while they seek to
enter the workforce and eventually extricate themselves
and their dependents from poverty.

wWelfare programs have fallen short of this goal as many
individuels receiving assistance fail to find and
retain jobs.

The failure to escape poverty persists through
generations as children of welfare families go onto
welfare rolls as adults, resulting in a needless waste
of human potential as well as economic and other costs
to society.
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A primary cause of intergenerstional welfare dependency
is the adverse impact of the welfare environment upon
children.

To break intergenerational welfare dependency requires,
where possible, the separation of children from the
welfare environment and their placement into family
situations that will be conducive to rejection of the
welfare career.

Current welfare provisions lack measures that would
asgigt in the elimination of intergenerational welfare
dependency and, indeed, actually encourage such
dependency by ignoring the availability of non-welfare
alternatives for dependent cnildren.

It is therefore in the public interest to amend the
welfare laws to eliminatc the encouragement of
intergenerational welfarc dependency and to promote the
placement of children in non-welfare environments more
conducive to an economically and socially productive
adulthood.

SECTION TWO AMEWDMENT TO PUBLIC LAW NO.

Suction  of Public Law No, is hereby amended to add a
new subsection . as follows:

Subsection

No person shall be eligible to receive benefits under
this program by reason of the need of that person to
support one or more child dependents unless the
administrator [{or agency or other appropriate state
official] has certified, after undertaking diligent
efforts, that there are no family members who are fit
and willing to provide for the needs of such child
without resort to welfare dependency., Such
certification shall be required prior to initial entry
inta the program and, thereafter, upon periodic reviews
ol elligibility conducted annually.

TEENAGE PARENTS - WELFARE ELIGIBILITY

Under the law of each state, parents have an obligation
of financial responsibility for their own minor children. 1If the
mincr children themselves become parents, these minor parents
stionld continue to be the obligation of their own parents.

Current welfare eligibility rules subvert this basic
rule of parental responsibility and create perverse incentives
for teenage child bearing. Simply by having a child, federal
programs give the teenager an fndependent income source and
redieve the teenager s parents of the obligations imposed by
CLate Lav,

Under Ltate law, a minor must live with or at the
Cxpnned ol bkt wr ber own parentua, The birth ot a child to that
inor sheuld not be a basis for the federal government to
cverride state jaw.  The federal government should not subsidize
(e cntatlishment of independent households by minors,

It the parents of the minor are already on publtic
assistance, thefr payments whould be governed by the rules
erplicable (o other families experiencing the birth of an
alditfonal dependent. 1t the parents of the minor are a danger
too T he amaea e grotddehitd, the case ghould be procesased undes
e el e ot guandiansifp used by the state.  Again, thoere

L.
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is no justification for a faderal prograi which automatically
establishes all minors as independent households upon the birth
of a baby.

DIVORCED FAMILIES - DEPENDENT TAX EXEMPTION

Prior law provided tnat the dependent exemption for a
child of divorced parents was avallable to the parent providing
greater than 50% of the child's support. At that time, it was
difficult to determine which parent provided greater then 50% of
the support and the law was changed in 1984 to create a
presumption that the exemption would be given to the custodial
parent. The current law has created some new probiems and has
not kept pace with federally imposed changes in the establishment
of child support orders.

Most divorce litigants do not have lawyers and, even
with lawyers, most divorce decrees fail to address the allocation
of the dependent tax exemption. Some courts have taken the
position that they do not have authority to allocate the
exemption to the non-custodial parent even in cases where the
custodial parent is unemployed and it is clear that the non-
custodian is providing 100% of the child's financial support.
Ailocating the dependent exemption to a household with no income
does not help the child and, in fact, reduces the after-tax
income available to support the child.

Recent federal legislation governing the establishment
of child support orders has eliminated the uncertainty which
motivated the 1984 law regarding allocation of the dependent
exemption. In the past, child support orders were subjective, ad
hoc determinations that did not identify each parent's share of
the child's financial costs. Federal law now requires that each
state have a presumptive, mathematical guideline for the
establishment of child support. Under the "income shares” model
used by most states, the state determines a child's costs and
then allocates these costs in proportion to each parent's income.
The child support computation formula thus establishes
unambiguously which parent provides more than 50% of the child's
financial support.

The law should be revised to provide that the dependent
exemption shall be allocated to the parent who bears more than
50% of the child's financial support as established by the
applicable child support order. To avoid ambiguity and dispute,
the taxpayer claiming the exemption could be required to submit a
copy of the court order as an attachment to the tax return. Most
child support orders are now generated by computers using the
state's child support formula and are set forth in a one page
computer printout.

E. RESPONDING TO WELFARE FRAUD

In the District of Columbia and in most states, welfare
traud is a no-risk adventure.

1f caught, the standard quilty plea merely requires
restitution (sometimes only partiel) which is paid_out of future
welfare benefits! Welfare is a disastrously anti-family program
in which the government offers itself as a substitute for
responsible two-parent family behavior. Welfare fraud multiples
the problem by making welfare more lucrative.

Welfare benefits are predicated on the assumption that
the welfare recipient cannot carn an outside income and that a
government subsidy is required for basic necds. Initially, we
accept the applicant's unilateral assertion of this inability to
earn an income. In the cose of the weltaze cheat, however,

| S
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behavior proves that an income can be earned and the receipt of
walfare benefits is simply a theft of benefits that are not
needed. Having proved that an income can be earned, the welfare
cheat should be disqualified from receiving benefits in the
future at least to the extent of the earnings potential that has
been demonstrated.

Past enforcement efforts have been backward. The
welfare cheat is permitted to quit the unreported job and go back
to the dole. The reverse should be true. Having demonstrated
earning capacity, the welfare chest should be disqualified from
again asserting an inability to earn income.

In the current economic czrisis of budget deficits and
soaring welfare rolls, it may finally be possible to impose
serious sanctions upon welfare cheaters. The following
legislative suggestions are offered:

1. The presence of unreported income msans that the
welfare cheat either does not need or has less
need for welfare. Accordingly, the law should
provide that welfare benefits will be reduced or
eliminated on a forward-qoing basig to reflect the
income that was being earned during the fraud and
thus can be earned in the future.

State laws providing for mandatory jail terms of
not less than 30 days for all persons convicted of
welfare fraud should be required as a condition
for a state's receipt of federal funds.

State laws providing that conviction for welfare
fraud is a sufficient basis to support a judicial
finding that it is in the best interests of the
child for custody to be placed with another
relative should be required as a condition for a
state's receipt of federal funds.

State laws providing that conviction for welfare
fraud is a sufficient basis to support a judicial
finding of neglect or abuse so that the child may
be placed in foster case should be required as a
condition for a state's receipt of federal funds.
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you. We appreciate your comments.
Dr. Berger.

STATEMENT OF BRIGITTE BERGER, PROFESSOR OF
SOCIOLOGY, BOSTON UNIVERSITY, BOSTON, MASS.

Ms. BErRGER. Thank you very much.

I am a sociologist who has worked in family issues for a long
time. I have written a number of books on these issues, includin
issues of child care, foster care, and the care of handicapped an§
severely disabled children. I could easily have talked about these
issues to this committee. However, the Postal Service’s—the Fed-
eral Postal Service’s Specialty Express Service does not function as
well as one would expect. So you have to make do with what I have
to say today, which is slightly different from what the charge from
the Chair has been.

The purpose of my testimony is to strongly endorse making use
of largely unrestricted block g}:ants in the overhaul of the national
welfare system and to urge this committee not to fall prey to the
fatal error to cast the issue of welfare reform in political and eco-
nomic terms only.

A large set of data available to us today compels us to recognize
that three decades of Federal intervention has resulted in the cre-
ation of a new culture of relative dependency at the bottom of
American society that is stubbornly resistant to simple administra-
tive and economic measures. It is therefore of singular importance,
to my mind, to recognize that welfare today is threatened by the
cultural dimensions of welfare dependency; and if you wish to
make a dent in the, by now, deeply entrenched welfare culture, you
will have to make use of culture-changing measures. ‘

Block grants, in my opinion, offer a first and perhaps only avail-
able mechanism. In my written testimony, I provide the more de-
tailed rationale that has led me to this conclusion.

I have first reviewed the data that show how we have gotten our-
selves into this welfare mess. And while I do not wish to throw as-
persions around—we all have to share blame together—there is no
doubt in my mind that the phenomenal explosion of welfare rolls
coincides precisely with the plethora of grants and programs that
Federal intervention has dispensed.

The second point, then, which I am addressing, is why is that so
in spite of the enormous amounts of money we have spent on these
issues. And here I have come to a conclusion, which is as simple
as it is straightforward.

I do think that Federal programs have unintentionally cir-
cumvented precisely those social mechanisms and factors which
make for the spontaneous growth of a productive cultur. As you
can see, I take culture very seriously: and again in my estimony
I take some pains to spell out how culture functions and, in par-
ticular, how in the absence of what I call “the mediating institu-
tions” of the family, neighborhood and ethnic organizations, and
the churches—the American welfare population has been deprived
of its most important help.

The next point which [ am trying to make here is that with the
wisdom of hindsight we cannot help but come to the conclusion
that Federal efforts have largely served as conduit and reinforce-
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ment of the dvsfunctional social norms leading to the consolidation
of a dysfunctional welfare culture, which we are now called upon
to address.

Now, how do we get out of this mess? And that is the next point.
which T am spelling out in my detailed presentation you have be-
fore you,

I think it is important to recognize there are no easy panaceas.
Once the social fabric has been torn, there is very little the govern-
ment, at any level, can do but prevent the worst from happening.
If there is any hope for turning the present situation around, we
are obliged to return to precisely those ground level mechanisms
that have proven to be useful in providing structure and meaning
to individual life—the family, the community, and religion.

[ have written a lot about the role of the family. And everything
[ have heard so far at these hearings confirms my own findings
that the past welfare practices have conveniently bypassed the
family. It is only very recently that we have rediscovered the fam-
ily, and then only by trying to superimpose all kinds of restrictions
on its normal functiouing. Nonetheless, it is very important that we
recognize as well that the prosent welfare population—mostly
women und children, single women and children—cannot help
themselves and need some kind of support. What kind of support?
Community support, voluntaristic, spontaneous groups that exist in
every community, the support of the churches,

Now, I want to come to an end very quickly. 1 spell this out, if
and how it can be done. The most eritical point which | make in
my testimony is this connection, one that | know will raise a lot
of problems to this committee, is that 1 wish to urge that hlock
rrant mechanisms will allow religion to do its good work as it has
done in the past. I know that | am getting into conflict with the
first amendment and the way it has been interpreted since the six-
ties. 1 do think we can reverse some of these questions and prob-
lems by returning welfire to the State level. On the local evel,
where everyone is mvolved, these issues will have Lo be sorted out
in a responsible manner. I have no doubt that all citizens can do
that.

['The prepared statement follows |
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- are only too well known for me to comment on here By the same token, 1t 1s equally well
known that the same period that saw the componential increase of children and women on
welfare coincided with the explosion of a plethora of federal child welfare programs - tamiiy
olanning. prenatal and postnatal care, child nutrition, child abuse prevention and treatment,
child health and guidance, daycare, Headstart, and many more in addition to the “big three”
(AFDC Medicaid, and Food Stamps) Both individually and collectively most. though not all,
of these programs have fallen way short of producing the desired effects The growing
number of children growing up 1n poverty are not measurably better off today than they were
some thirty years ago and all oo many seem to be trapped into a life of poverty. Well-
intentioned governmental programs appear to have accomplished little more than making child
welfare a purview of the federal government, with governmental coffers disgorging ever larger

amounts of money, and with no linuts 1n sight

I'tme and agaw 1t has been demonstrated that this new welfare culture exerts not only an
intolerable drain on the national economy, but equally 1mportantly, 1t 1s destructive of
ndividual human hves  What 1s more. the new culture of welfare dependency 1s morally
uniceeptable and fraught with penls for the natian's future While the block-granting
mechamsin i and by itself cannot provide us with 1eadv-made panaceas, 1t 1s a very

nnportant first step toward genuine welfare reform

This hine of argumentation, | would propose, 1s as commonsensical as 1t 1s straightforward
Once a culture - that 1s the wavs 1n which people behave, their values and therr hifestyles -
has come nto existence, 1t staris to take on a dynamics of 1ts own And once this has

happened, 1t 1s extremely difficult to change If Lifestyle changes can be brought about at all,

then certannly not by government fiat The bitter experience of the past decades have brought

mto start rehef the impotence of the federal government for this task If productive cultural
changes couid be brought about simply by a combination of good intentions, money. and an
active involveruent on part of the federal govemment, then surely the cornucopia of federal
progiams that have been institutionahized across the country in the course of the past decades

should have dasie the tnck The term “culture” as used 1 the social sciences, however, though
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not mystenous 1s something much more complicated It 1s the spontaneous production of
collective social life ansing at the intersection of family, work. and voluntary associations
taking place 1n any society The problem wath the existing welfare policies 1s that they have
discouraged precisely these elements vital to the productive functioning of culture to do

T their work

Permit me to elaborate this argument briefly The welfare dependency culture that has taken
roots 1n the wasteland of Anterica’s inner cities 1s a culture 1n which the game of social hife 1s

played out between isolated individuals at the bottom of society and the large. distant

bureaucracies of the welfare state at the top The federal policies of the past decades have

bypassed the elements that traditionally mediate between the individual and the distant state,

the family and voluntaristic institutions, such as informal neighborhood and ethnic

associations and the churches In the zbsence of the vital input flowing from these mediating

institutions, an anomic culture of dependency has been forged which prevents individuals
from developing habits of self-reliance and the capacity to plan for a future independent of
government hand-outs, just as it prevents those trapped 1n 1t from taking advantage of existing

educational and job opportunities 1t is a culture characterized by fatalistic attitudes and

chaotic hfestvles, a culture 1n which the larguage of entitlement has replaced the language of
responsibilitnn 1t 1s contagious and produces a sccial ethos that stands 1n direct contradiction
to preaisely those norins and values that have made for America's strength 1n the past
Contrary to all intentions, the welfare system 1n 1ts 1960s liberal mode has cut all t00 many

people loose from their faminal moorings, has i1solated them from communal ties, deprived

them of the spiritual and morai guidance of rehigious institutions and driven them into an

- 5 existential and psychological dependency on the state

It would be unfair to put the biame for the rise of the new welfare dependency cultuie on

federal intervention poticies only Broad and poorly understood shifts in the normative order

of society have transformed zll segments of twentieth-century America with cataclysmic speed

regardless of their location 1n the social hierarchy Yet despite a general discrediting of

traditional virtues, the Amencan nuddle classes have been able to withstand the most harmful
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cffects of the turbulent 1960s and 1970s Those living at the bottom of society have not While
massive federal intervenuonist pracuces may not have been solely responsible for the creation
and diffucion of welfare dependency . 1t 1s safe to argue that they certainly were instrumental
n gnvng expression and shape to its formaton Henee 111§ legitimate to conclude that
Amenca's welfare classes are not primarily victims of an unjust econamy or a negiectful
pevernment Rather, they are the victims of both, general shifts in the normative order as well
a1l concened interventiomist efforts, the consequences of which neither the poor nor their
wellure mentors expected With the wisdam of hindsight. 1t 1s hearibreaking to obsenve that
the ¢ well-intentioned federal efforts largely served as conduit and reinforcement of
dvorancoonal sacal norme leading ta the can~ohidatton of a dvsfunctional welfare culture
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hest of other pressing domesne problems such a< rampant s outh crime and the catastrophic
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In the face of the overwhelming evidence froni the gnm experiences of the past, however, 1t
1s more than doubtful that federal bureaucracies located in Washington are up to the task
Although 11 goes without saying, that basic individual rights must be guaranteed and enforced
on the national level, decentralizing public power from the federal government and shifting 1t
to smaller units closer to the targeted problems make eminent sense ! think it therefore of
great importance that block grants to the states come with as few restrictions as possible.The
precise mix between federal restrictions and mandates, on the one hand, and the discretionary
power of individual states, on the other. 1s still an open question and will have to be carefully
worked out Yet one thing 1s already perfectly clear today federal interference must be kept
at a minimum In the absence of any fool-proof recipes for the reduction of the current
welfare dependency culture, states must be allowed and encouraged to explore and experiment
with initiatives and programs best suited to deal with local, and frequently distinctive
problems Only in this manner can effents be 1dentified that not only hold the potential for
changing welfare-dependent behavior and that simultaneouslv hold the potennal for creating

dvnamics productive of community development

Fears have been voiced in recent weeks that without the protection of federal entitlement
tegislation the poor will be at the merev of uncaning states and mean communities Such fears
sound hollow in the face of strong evidence to the contrary This nation, more than any other

1 know, can be nightly proud of its voluntaristic tradition 1t 1< this tradition that has made for

Amenica’s strength and uniqueness An extraordinary degree of compassion, of responsibility,

and tolerance continues to thrive today m all sectors of Amernican society from coast o coast
Not to pravide considerable discretionary powers to the states, would, from the perspective |
aargue here,, severely defeat the verv purpose of the block grant imtiative  Lost important,
such federal restrictions would in all likelihood interfere with the culture-building dynamics

needed for achieving genuine and lasung welfare reform

My recommendation that bloch granting <hould not be burdened by unduce federal restricnons
1s further informed by the recogmtion of the important role religion plays in the

transfarmatian of individual valiues and behavior We know from the data available 10 us -
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and our experience reinforces this knowledge - that nothing can compete with religion in
effecting lasting changes in the behavior of mdividuals The utilization of religion 1o this
end, however, runs directly counter to the highly secularist interpretation of the Eirst
Amendment that has been favored by the courts since the early 1960s While nothing 1s
further from my mind than to argue for some new establishment of religion by the state. 1
think 1t of some importance to ensure that the law does not inhibit states from making use of
the guidance and sustenance-providing capacity of the very institution central to the life of
most Americans The historical evidence of the role religious institutions have played in
incorporating generations of poor and destitute people into the mainstream of American

society 1s t0o well known to this gremium to be trotted out once more

My recommendation that also present-day federal legislation should not unduly interfere with
the opportunity to make use of religion’s behavior-changing and culture-building potenual

will, undoubtedly, lead to a major political battle The fate of America's welfare population,

however, demands immediate action and cannot wait for the outcome of prolonged disputes

Unrestricted block grants to the states, I would argue. allow for a renewed deliberation and

sorting out of church-state 1ssues 1n more manageable settings On the basis of all we know,
we have good reason to hope that the responsible and compassionate citizens of all states of
the Union will arnive at formulas that will not deprive today’s poor of the benefits of religion

in their search for a purposeful and meaningful hfe

My support of block grants then 1s informed by considerations among which the 1dentification
of mechanisms that promise productive changes in the current culture of welfare dependency
figures prominently Converting the present federally financed and organized welfare system
into unrestricted block grants to the states 1s the necessary first step in the reversal of a
situation 1n which federal policies designed to aid the poor have unintentionally turned
welfare into an instifution that feeds on itself For genuine welfare reform to occur. however,
individual states, 1n turn will have to carry the task of reform yet one step further A number
of states currently working under waivers, have already explored new and promising ways to
achieve welfare reform  All states of the Union. 1 finally would recommend, should be
obliged to reach out to municipalities, to businesses, and to private groups in their respective
states 1n order t0 encourage imtiatives of scale consonant with the distinctive needs of their
welfare population  Common sense leads us to believe - and the rescarch data confirm it -

local and ethically inspired imtiatives are our single best hope to bring about the much needed

welfare refarms
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Chairman JOnNson. Thank you very much, Dr. Berger.
Ms. Driver,

STATEMENT OF CORINNE DRIVER, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF FOSTER CARE REVIEWERS; ACCOMPANIED
BY CHARLES COOPER, ADMINISTRATOR, CITIZEN FOSTER
CARE REVIEW BOARD, STATE OF MARYLAND

M=o DrIvERr. Honorable hungry Congresspeople, thank you for in-
cluding citizen volunteers in your discussions. I am Corinne Driver,
a volunteer and unsalaried executive director of the National Asso-
ciation of Foster Care Reviewers, a nonprofit organization which
promotes citizen review for every child removed from home by the
State.

Children play with blocks. Blocks must not play with children.
This statement explains citizen review, an existing, dynamic, cost-
effective, community-based monitoring system, in which citizens re-
view every child removed from home; promotes ongoing, periodic,
independent review for all children in pﬂnccment; recommends that
volunteers can carry out those reviews cost-effectively; suggests
that trained, experienced citizens should be empowered to share in
holding their tax supported public systems accountable; suggests
the 427s made a difference, even though they were woefully inad-
equate; and recommends that Congress must hold public systems
to standards of good case practice and must maintain penalties.

With me is Charles Cooper, administrator of the Maryland Citi-
zen Foster Care Review Board., Charlie represents more than 400
Marvland volunteer citizen reviewers supported by 25 staff. Mary-
land reviewers conducted nearly 11,000 reviews of individual foster
children last year, Nationally, 'in 1992, 3,500 volunteers reviewed
case plans for over 50,000 children.

Before 427 reviews, States did not even know how many children
were ia their care. States did not have data on children in care.
Children were lingering longer in the system than necessary. Cost-
ly for the State, yes, but what about the cost to the child? Before
citizen review came to New dJersey, which is my home State, the
ageney was responsible for about 13,000 children. They were not
sure. When citizen review came into being 3 years after that, the
cascload had dropped to 6,500 Expediting children out of the sys-
tem saves monoey,

Citizen review boards exist by virtue of State law or judicial
mandate, and usually consist of five trained citizens. I am rep-
resenting those citizens who can tell of children like Maria, for
whom the agency plan was return to her father until she told my
revicw board that for the second time she was carrving her father's
child.

Constituents can tell you of children whose biggest problem is
burcaucratic policies within the very systems that are supposed to
be helping, systems supported by our own tax dollars, If the policy
of block granting is to bring decisionmaking closer to home, who
hetter than citizens from home to require accountability?

Citizen review boards examine plans and results (or each child
in placement. Citizen review hoards achieve hands-on aceountabil-
ity for cach child, give citizens responsibility for fellow citizens, re-
move vested imterests from foster care decisionmaking, create a
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window into and offer accountability for the workings of toxpuyer-
supported public systems, and empower knowledgeable citizens to
work toward improving those systems.

As a trained citizen reviewer under an oath of confidenuality, I
went to Newark, N.J., weekly to review confidential records and
plans for children and to talk with children, parents, foster parents
and caseworkers. We studied the caseworkers’ confidentia! file and
previous court rulings. We told them our job was advisory and that
our focus was to move children out of foster care and inte perma-
nent homes as quickly as possible.

Our periodic reviews often revealed lack of progress, sometimes
because no caseworker had been assigned. Often, work on the case
began just before our periodic review. Amazing. Often citizen re-
view has impacted on a constipated adoption system where chil-
dren get stucﬁ.

In Nebraska, home of Boys Town, three separate studies have
confirmed that a child is twice as likely to be adopted if the child
is being monitored by a citizen review board. Think of the money
that saves.

Wade Horn has already cited a Kansas example, and that saves
money, 100.

Despite imperfect 427s, it was remarkable, as reviewers watched
their States take notice of foster care caseloads when their actions
were subject to serutiny and their dollars were on the line. It was
wonderful as we watched 427 monitoring enlighten courts about
their responsibilities 1o the foster care population. But bringing de-
cisionmaking closer to home means we must bring monitoring clos-
er to home.

Block grants must build in accountability. The intent and clout
of the 427 reviews should be maintained.

[ urge you, continue to protect children by requiring independent
individual case reviews,

Incorporate in block grant philosophy standards, expectations
and accountability for results. Maintain the ability to withhold
funding based on documented results. Require States to put in
place a strong independent cost-effective monitoring mechanism
using trained volunteers, and assign block grant support directly to
that monitoring mechanism to assure its independence.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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STATEMENT TO TEE WAYS & MERANS COMMITTRE
JANUARY 21, 1995

THIS TESTIMONY IS SUBMITTED BY CORINNE DRIVER, A VOLUNTEER
AND UNSALARIED EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
UF FOSTER CARE REVIEWERS, (NAFCR), A NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATION
WHICH PRCMOTES THE ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM OF CITIZEN REVIEW
FOR EVERY CHILD REMOVED FRUM HOME BY THE STATE.

CHILDREN PLAY WITH BLOCKS.
BLOCKS MUST NOT PLAY WITH CHILDREN.

THIS STATEMENT:

0 PROMOTES CONTINUING THE PERIODIC INDEPENDENT REVIEW

FOR ALL. CHILDREN IN PLACEMENT

SUPPORTS THE INTENT OF 427 REVIEWS

SUGGESTS THE 427s MADE A DIFFERENCE EVEN THOUGH THEY
WERE WOEFULLY INADEQUATE

RECOMMENDS THAT MONITORING AND PENALTIES MUST BE
MAINTAINED WHETHER TITLE IVB AND IVE MONIES ARE
BLOCK GRANTED OR NOT

PROMOTES THE NEED FOR STANDARDS, OVERSIGHT AND
ACCOUNTABILITY FOR EXPENDITURE OF TAX DOLLARS

KECUMMENDS A COST EFFECTIVE MECHANISM, BASED 90% ON
VOLUNTEER POWER, TO CARRY OUT THE INTENT OF THE 427
REVIEWS AND PROVIDFE THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT WITH
INFORMATION UPON WHICH TO EVALUATE STATE'S
ADHERENCE TO PRESCRIBED PROTECTIONS FOR CHILDREN

EXPLAINS CITIZEN REVIEW, AN EXISTING, DYNAMIC, COST
EFFECTIVE COMMUNITY BASED MONITORING SYSTEM IN
WHICH TAXPAYING CITIZENS REVIEW EVERY CHILD REMOVED
FROM HOME

RECOMMENDS PROMULGATION TO ALL STATES OF INDEPENDENT,
COST EFFECTIVE CITIZEN REVIEW

+ RECOMMENDS EMPOWERMENT OF CITIZENS TO HOLD FUBLIC

SYSTEMS ACCOUNTABLE BY BLOCK GRANTING DIRECTLY TO
STATE CITIZEN REVIEW SYSTEMS

KEUMMENDS ASSURING QUALITY CONTROL OF CASE BY CASE
DATA GATHEKING AND EXCELLENT TRAINING OF VQLUNTEERS
BY A BLGTK GRANT TO THE NATTONAL ASSOCIATION OF
FuSTER CARE REVIEWERS

WHY DOES CURRENT LAW REQUIRE [TNDEPENDENT REVIEW OF CHILIREN
IN PLACEMENT? BECAUSE:

STATES DID NOT EVEN KNOW HOW MANY CHILDREN WEKE UNDEKR

STATES DID NOT HAVE DATA ON CHILDREN IN CARE

CHILDREN WERE LINGERING 1IN THE SYSTEM FAR LONGER THAN
NECESSARY COSTLY FOR THE STATE? YES--BUT WHAT
ABGUT THE COST TQ THF CHILD!

WITH AT STANDARDS, INDEPENDENT MONITORING AND FISCAL
PENALTIES JRD/JOR INCENTIVES BULLT INTO BLOCK GRANTS 17T s
PROBARLE THAT CHILDKREN Will, GHOE AGAIN LANGULSH IN CARE ANI-
CAGELOADRG TNCREASE .

WHEN CITIZEN REVIEW BUARDLE HEGAN IN NEW JeoSEY IN 1974,
ALMOST 10% OF CASES REVIEWED BY MY REVIEW BOUARD WERE ¢CHILLKEN
Wil s HAL BEREN IN CARF THEIR WHOLE LIVES  INCLUDING MANY
HITEREN VER 16 YEARS OLD.  MANY OF THOSE CHILDREN HAD BEEN
SHUFETER FRCM PLACE To PLACE RBY CTHY SYSITFM. GNEE CH LI HIAL
SWEFR 0 BITFEERENTD ULACEMEHT
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CITIZEN REVIEW BOARDS
A DESCRIPTION OF HOW THEY WORK

A PRIMARY GCAL OF NAFCR IS TO PROMOTE CITIZEN FOSTER 1'ARE
REVIEW BOARUS, A CGST EFFECTIVE, CITIZEN BASED ACCOUNTAEILITY
MECHARTSE FOCUSED OGN CHILDREN TN FLACEMENT.

WHAT Is5 A CITIZEN REVIEW BOARD?  CITIZEN REVIEW BOARDS EXIST
BY VII{'IU!-_ OF STATE L.AW OR JURICIAL MANDATE AND USUALLY
L " F FIVE TRAINED CITIZENS. CLITIZEN REVIEW BOARDS
. FLANS AND RESULTS FOoK EAUN CHILD IN FPLACEMENT.
KREVIEW BOARDS:

AHIEVE HANDS ON ACCOUNTABILITY FOR EACH CHILL

SAVE OITIZENS RESEONSIBILITY FOR FELLOW CITIZENS

KEMUVE VESTEDR INTEREST FRoM FUSTER CARYE NECISTON
MAKING

JREATE A WINDGOW TINTO AND OFFER ACCOUNTABILITY FOK

Til WORKINGS OF TAXI'AYER SUPPORTED PUBLIC SYSTEMS

EMPOWER KNOWLEDGEABLE CITIZENS TGO WORK TOWARL:
1MPROVING TIOSE SYSTEMS

CITIZEN REVIEW § WILL USE MY OWN EXPERIEN
MIEWER 1 WENRT TG NEWARE 1) WEEKLY FOR OVER f\ TOZEN
H- VIEW CONFIDENTTAL RECGRIN AND PLANS FOR CHILDREN
"H O CHTLIKEN, RENTS, FOSTER FARENTS, AND
)\P}‘ k BEINS AT AND TAKING AN OATH OF
YOFGUi FELLY AR MEMBERS ANTC 1 BRCAME A
LOURCMTC, CULTURAL, ETHNIG

CUTEDL THE CASEW. RRER .- CUNFITENTIAL CASE FILE; LREVIGUAS
RUOLIN S COlNE Ll A T Y <L MEDLLCAL, AN vl
GRTS TRSTAGING . PECT UM-“ EOBATTERED CHILEREN., Wi
AAINED T THR PARTIES 1N RACH CASE THAT OUR Jol WAS
KY, THAT JUR Fudtus hn-n l + MAVE CHILDREN QUT OF FuiThk

INTO L ERMANENT HC s GUIS Kl Y As HWHSIHI E I\Nl‘ THNT
' VERERS FRoM TI N E
AlLL PARTIES, = T i -TE K IR AN
COMMENDATIONS TG THE CASE E ;) T THE
3 HNOT ALWAYS EASY OR apvIQus - DETERMINE THE
CERIATE PLAJEMENT FLAN FOR A CHILI.

b YM\L WAS

s 3 C o BCARD AMELTE
CWITh lilx ASE k'\Y':‘z ASE T LAN. Tlile
W BOARIS ALWAY: A ME AN ALVERSARIAL
Ek WoULL CoME BEFURE Ul ANDY SAY A K
PRUTT T OTHINK DOMETHING ELSE WORILT
PilASE CoHSTDER THAT AL Yold BEVE

TAMARITORING TRLOFNCE ASS Fi- TilAYl
VoL NGT RNDOMD ol PR oM oLF sl
R To SURFACE, THEKEFOD KEVER Tut I-F
EKL: AN ENTIRE CHILOHOUL TN KURST
LIS REVIEWS REVEALEL PROSRERS OR LACE o)
U WRRE MAFING ANE- WHETHER CHILLUREN o0
', I Ny ONE HAL MADE T'ROGRESS
STHGNEL THAT USUALLY WAS 3
VRNAER ok TIVILL SERVICE AR BULGETARY P oali "k,
Ok HAVINSG PERTOLIC REVIEW 12 DEMONSTRADLL RY
WIUTH O WHD CH AGEN Y W R N THE CASE LA 1D N

e
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BEGIN UNTIL LONG AFTER THE PLAN WAS MADE AND, COINCIDENTALLY,
JUsT EEFURL OUR PERIOLIC REVIEW WAS SCUEDULED TU TAXKE PLATE

A WINDS

A FEW BEXAMLLES b QITIOEN REVIEW Al WORE
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1INDIVIDUAL FUSTER CHILDREN LAST YEAR. THERE IS A COST TO
AUMINISTERING CITIZEN FOSTER CARE REVIEW--IN MARYLAND EACH
KEVIEW COSTS ABOUT EIGHTY DULLARS ($8Q0) . IN JUXTAPOSITION TO
THIS FIGURE 1S THE FACT THAT THE AVERAGE ANNUAL COST IN
RYI. -dill O FERECTNS A :H’llr TN R ER CARE I3 $20,000. I¥ A
- : 3] E MONTH EARIEER BEUAUSE OF
-i‘-/«Rl MuN‘T-m‘H- 1. TRE OTATE SAVES ABOUT $1,4G0 IN THAT

DOSTUMENTED: THA l CHILDREN WITH REVIEW BOARDS WERE
£ OAKE v0 DAYS ERRLIER AND FROM
1AYS EAKLIER THAN THOSE WITHOUT REVIEW
SAVINGS oF Y. s 1.7 MIL LION DOLLARS
IU'NI-\ HAsS AL v
W BOUARD Y WAS L33 ot SN
SAVINTS o LI R
WALIYL OGN ievl, bk

50, 000 (‘hILDREN

Tl ON BEHALF

KEEP THE PROTECTICNS, KEEP THE OVERSIGHT

THE INTENT AND CLOUT OF THE 427a

5§OULD ME MATNTAINED
AN A LESS COSTLY REVIEW MECHANLISM SHOULD BE IMPLEMENTED

RNty

O HANVE P

BN
<
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OF THE 427 REVIEWS ARE STRONG INCENTIVES FOR COMMUNICATION
AND COORDIANTTON ABOUT A CHILD BETWEEN CASEWORKERS AND
JUDGES. HERE TOO THE REQUIREMENTS ENUMERATE LOGICAL PRACTICE
AND SHOULD NOT BE PERCEJVED AS AN EXTRA COST JF THE GUAL Is
TG DO THE BEST JOB POSSIBLE FOR THE CLIENT.

LERHAPS THE MOST FALLACIOUS ARGUML ™ ABOUT COSTLINESS GF
KEGUIREMENTS UNDER 427 1$ THE FAJT THAT, IN MANY STATES THE
INDEPENDENT REVIEW ASPECT 1S CARRIED OUT COST EFFECTIVELY BY
VOLUNTEERS. ALL STATES SHOULD ADOPT THIS MECHANISM AND» FREE
THEIR PAID AGENCY STAFF TO DO F1ELD WORK INSTEAD OF
CONDUCTING REVIEWS THAT ARE INTERNAL AND THEREFORE NOT REALLY
INGEPENDENT. THE BEST BLAN FOR A CHILD MIGHT BE SACRIFICED
T& AGENCY POLICY BY INTEKNAL REVIEWERS WHO ARE BOUND BY TIE
POLTTY

AT THIS TIME ONLY HALS OUR STATES HAVE CITIZEN REVIEW.
CONGRESSMAN CARDIN, GF THIS CCMMITTEE, [NTRODUCED REPORT
LANGUAGE IN THE 1994 OMNiBUS BUDGET RECONCILLIATION ACT TG
ENCOURAGE EXPANSION OF CITIZEN REVIEW. THE 1994 SENATE
AFPROPRTATIONS BILL ALSO URGES THE EXPANSION AND TRAINING OF
CITIZEN REVIEWERS BY REQUESTING HHS TO ALLOCATE ONE MILLLON
VALLARS ($1,000,0000 TO NAPCR TO BROMOTE CITIZEN REVIEW ANDL
PRAINING OF CITIZEN REVIEWERS.

TUE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF POSTER CARE REVIEWERS RECOMMENDS
THAT CONGRESS EMBRACE THE CONCEPTS OF:

CITIZENS CARING FOR CITIZENS
AND

CITIZENS HOLDING THEIR TAX SUPPORTED PUBLIC SYSTEMS
ACCOUNTABLE.

IE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FOSTER CARE REVIEWERS RECOMMENDS
AT CONGRESS INCORPORATE IN ITS PROTECTIONS FOR CHILDREN AND
ILIES, THE REQUIREMENT THAT A CITIZEN FOSTER CARE REVIEW
RD REGULARLY, PERIODICALLY MONITOR EACH CHILD, AS_LONG AS

T CHILD IS _IN THE PLACMENT SYSTEM,

F THE POLICY OF BLOCKGRANTING 1$ TO BRING DECISION MAKING T
ATES, WHO 18 BETTER ABILE THAN CITIZENS OF THE STATE TC oL
OHH SIATES ACCLUNTABLEY  WHue CAN BETTER DOCUMENT THE

FEALITIES THAN VOLUNTEEKRS WITH AJCCES. TQ THE CONFIDENTIAL
WoRKINGs GF THELR PUBLIC SYSTEMS?  WHO CAN BETTER MONTTOR
HIIAN THOSE WITHOUT VESTED INTEREST. WHG CAN BETTER CabLL, FuR
CUALITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY THAN DEDICATED VOLUNTEERS WHO
POHATE THETE TIME N FEHALF OF CHILDREN BECAUSE THEY RV
EVLERY CHILD CHOULL GROW UE N A SAFE, PERMANENT HOME:

CUVITEN KEVIEW 18 A P RCOVEN OVST EFFECTIVE MECHAMISM KASEL Yot
CHOVCLUNTERR EFFUORT

GEREVIEW BRING: OUL THE VOLUNTEER SELKLIT ANG CFEFES THE
NWITY A WAY OF HELUING CHILDKEN AND FAMILIES. o1 PTkN

R CHAG PEMONSTRATER THAT THERE AKE LARGE NUMBERS F

e WILLIN D AND CAPARLE OF VOLUNTEFRING AsS A KEViEWFR

PHOTHE GAST FIFTEEN YEARS, THE EXCERIENCE OF REVIEW KR8

EEINFGRCES THE Nol DR THAT WE MUST OPEN MORE WINDGWS CRTO i

[ ST IS KA TY L WE ARE 50 FN W IOW THREY ARE REALLY W REIN
LOTE GRANTG GFFERK AN CTTCRTUNITY FOR CITIRENS Ty BEC M

RV CINVED WETH TUR LR FRLLGW CTPI2ENS, T COLNTIFY WA

BWURE RilCR CUPEA Lk

PUENRTIFY REFVIEE g




SERVICES, TO OBSERVE THEIR TAX DOLIARS AT WORK AND TO PRESENT
THEIR LEGTISLATURES WITH UNBIASED FACTS.

WE RESPECTFULLY SUGGEST CITIZEN REVIEW SHOULD BE PROMOTED
WHEFHER T1TLES JVB & E ARE BLGCK GRANTED OR NOT.

CITIZEN REVIEW AND THE ADOPTION SYSTEM

FOME EXAMELES OF THE COST EFFEUTIVENESS AND VALUE GF ONGUING
“ITIZEN REVIEW AS [T IMPACTS ON ALOFTIUN FOLLOW.

LEARNED THAT IN STATE AFTER STATE THE
UT 18 JONSTIFATED - THE CHILIREN

O 1IN NEBRASKA, HOME GF THE DLAZEMENT FACILITY BOYSTOWN
THREE SEPARATE 5TUD 3 2. ANN COYNE UAVE CONFIRMED
iAT ko CHILL TWIZE AS LIKEL "G BE ADCPTED 1F THE
11Lis 15 BEING MONITORED bBY A CITIZEN REVIEW BOGARI:.
THING OF THE MUREY SAVED.

SINGS . A STULY OF THE
IN FANSAS IRNDICATEU
o COURT WERE REDICEDR PY
.rl[l{‘)‘s WHEN TH 3 13 SUBIEST oF A CLTIGEN
W, THI

CITIZFN REVIEW 5 BESAN TRAT
W )‘.l NG ¥ ¥

THiWE Gi HLY sAVEL .
427 REVIEWS, ACCOUNTABILITY AND SANCTIONS

SRR Y D0 INUORBGRATT {bLOTY GRAIT IPHILOSH
STY FOR RERESU - FAIL. GHAN TS
LHOULL HAVE VLE h SFINELE, 1 STANLARDS AL
: ALORG WITHE A LVRELUD b LOLLAR PENALTLES AN -
35 SH:Ur RECUIRE Tw ESTABLISH THi-
> ME. .mn.w GF CITIZEN KEVIEW THAT WILL Loctw
FHUART Wit SUCH AN ACCOURTARILITY
STAYE LEGISLATURES TR CONGRESS RNOW WHATY
ARE GETTING FOR THEIR BLOUK GRANTREL DOLLARS.

, KESIGNL T,
SHE BOSSTEINITY O
T PRY AT
WUSE VITLE IVDOAND IVE Dwild

KEVEWS WERE IOTRLY CARIGER OUT ANYY DID NOT
CUALITY THIS 18 MoT A CUNDEMNATION OF THE
P80 CATRD STARY AN CTHE Chiald NS BUREAU WO ARE SKILLED
PROFLSSTONALS 21RO, FRE Tons (THIHL THEY 011D WHAT THEY
UL

THE VALY G THE 407 FPVIEWS

s STATES Toor GG TUVR Gk TR LK
ho wWHEN - AL MO O A
ANG TR E DL LARS WERL ol 0TS

[O0 RN IR SRR S PO
Als F THLTE
ol Ay N
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BUT 427 REVIEWS WERE TOG FAk REMGVED FROM CHILDREN TO REQUIRE
ACCOUNTABILITY FUR CARRYINS QUT THE PROTECTIGNS OF THE LAW
: YHRI CHILDY. BRINGING PECLISTON MAKING CLUSER TO H ME
BRING MONITORING ANL ACCOUNTABILITY CLUSER TO
© MUST MAINTAR DABILITY TG IMIGSE SANCTIONS
VIATEGN Rbsgyy Fhagd

PUASE BY CASE

SEERPERT,

FUHDERG THE ACSOUNTABILITY MECHANISM OF CITIZEN REVIEW

RAT

Wit AN Wi
BA TN IV p (LR N N o [T
YOO METT IR LATA VA CACE ALY Wl
AL CUOHUMEPLRL b gt Al S PR
RTING THE VOLUNTFEK | FOCRTE WILL PE MINIMAL IN RELATI. N
ERMARG S GAVING bonnLsce L LLARS ANDY SAVING CHILEREN

NIRRT R WARL CF CTHE CTRTE

e
1

BocAke RV v )
TORRVIRW boi AL HINIRIn N
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Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you very much, Ms. Driver.
Mr. Cooper.

Mr. Cooprer. Of course, we endorse what she said. 1 am the di-
rector of the Maryland Citizen Foster Care Review Board office. We
have about 400 volunteers. I would like to make the point in con-
ducting these 11,000 reviews, we make a lot of—we make a lot of
difference in the compliance of the agency with the 427 review
— process, so it is important to us. It gives us the handle we need to
- have citizens get in there and hold people accountable, and we

N have results. For example, like Mr. Petit talked about, the reentry
— rate is 50 percent of the children returned home are back in the
- system in about 1 year.

: Mr. PrTiT. Forty.

Mr. Cooeer. In Maryland, that is about 16 percent. So we be-

. licve we  our review system and other things our State has done
- has brougit more quality to the system than you have when you

: have merely internal reviews of an agency reviewing itself.
We are involved in svstem advocacy that addresses what Mr.
t Henry tatked about. For example, our citizen reviewers are sup-
porting and initiating bills in this vear's legislature to make sure
- fathers are identified and contacted and that relatives are brought
"' into the process appropriately. So [ think that citizen review really
provides some assurance of the quality that the lady from New dJer-
sev, Ma Barr, talked about. And someone came here from llinois
and talked where they have caseloads, T understand, of 100 chil-
dren per worker and talked about the disasters of the program.

The question is, is it in the program design or is it in some of the

quality components that are missing from a State that doesn’t have
this kind of citizen accountabnlity,
= Charrman JoHNsoN, Thank you.

I thank the panel for your good input. These citizen review
boards, are they required or permitted by 427 reviews or is the 427
Faw silent on them?

Ms. Drivier. The establishment of citizen foster care review
boards across the country were encouraged by 427s, however, as
was mentioned earlier, New Jersey, for example, and Arizona and
South Carolina and some other States actually had citizen review
hefore Public Law 896272 came into being, However, it was a
major impetus,

Chairman JOHNSON, Have they spread, then. since 4277

Ms. Driver. They have. And about four to five States within the
. Jast 2 years, are either adopting it completely or piloting it. But 1

think that in fact only about half the States currently actually use
. citizen foster care review boards. And of those that do use them,

8 . in vvery State not every child is reviewed.
Usually, in answer to your question about what creates them,
nsually it is State law. But otherwise, it is judicial mandates, be-
eause citizen review programs sometimes are postured withim the

* vourts, sometimes are independent and are postured  diftorent
places in the system,
Chairman Joninson. Thank vou very much.
[ appreciate that elarification,
Mro Matsui, would vou like to inquire?
Dy
1657
Q
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Mr. MATsUL I will be verv brief, Madam Chairwoman. I want to
thank all six of you for being here today. I appreciate it very much.

One of the problems—and I wish Mr. Murphy was herer%ecause
I am going to refer to him, not in a negative way, but just refer
to him. One of our problems as we discuss the safety net, that is,
the child welfare programs, when you get in a trap, you then brin
up the overall problem with welfare itself and it is hard to defens
the status quo, what is going on in many of the cities.

It is very, very difﬁcu%t to talk about this issue in a very rational
fashion, unfortunately. But I would like to confine my remarks ba-
sically to the child welfare system itself because that is the purpose
of this discussion, whether we block grant it or make changes or
make major, minor adjustments is what we are really talking about
here. Perhaps, I will start with Mr. Petit.

You were up in Maine, if I am not mistaken?

Mr. PETIT. Yes, [ was.

Mr. MaTsUl. We talked, I think, it was in the 1987—1988, during
consideration of the Family Support Act. How well are these pro-
grams—and you will have to forgive me. | was at another meeting
and you may have addressed this. How well are these programs ac-
tually working? We are basically talking about foster care, obvi-
ously, adoption services, we are talking about family preservation.
Obviously, the court system has to play a significant role in all of
this. There is a mix of State-Federal money, State-Federal regula-
tions. How are these programs really working? And can we make
minor adjustments to make them work better?

Mr. PETIT. Well, in the first instance, child protection, the actual
intake and assessment process within these agencies, I-—you were
absent, sir. What I stated was overall I give the system a “D” at
best. There are literally hundreds of thousands of children known
to the system right now who are at home with perpetrators who
will be injured today, they will be raped today, and the systemn will
have a very weak ability to intervene in those kinds of situations.

In many places, people are doing very good work. But on balance,
it is a dangerous place for these kids. I cited one particular exam-
ple of 9-year-old children in jails because they have been sexually
abused because there is no place to put them.

In Sacramento County, your own county, and the agency there
is a terrific agency, we are working with them right now. But be-
cause of what has happened in th2 State of California financially
in the last few years, 24,000 cases of child protection are screened
out over the telephone. In some—6,000 are actually investigated.
We find workers who are inexperienced.

In some child protective units, 70 percent of the workers turn
over in the course of a year. We held an administrative orientation
for new child welfare dircctors and State commissioners between
1991 and 1993. We did one in both of those years. There has been
a 70-percent turnover in one or both of those top two positions in
child welfare nationally.

There arc no standards that the States are being held to. There
are an abundance of standards but they are not mandatory. So in
some I think the situation—there is a wild variation in how it is
concucted including within individual States.

{0
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We have reviewed thousands of records. We have talked with
thousands of individual workers. What we find is a lack of purpose-
fulness and focus among individual workers. They are frequently
freelancing their work.

We would strongly recommend the adoption of standards that
you condition Federal financing upon those standards and that you
further require from each one of the States how much it would cost
to come into compliance with those standards. In Texas right now,
the child welfare expenditures are $350 million a year. They have
some 10,00C or 15,000 kids in out-of-home care.

In INinois, with one half the population, their child welfare ex-
penditure is $1 billion with 50,000 children in out-of-home care. So
while everyone has been reminded of how different the States are
and the need to accord them great flexibility, the fact of the matter
is the needs of children are strikingly similar from one jurisdiction
to the next. And what we are seeing is by accident of geography,
in many instances, you are protected or not.

Some States have zero children a year who are killed. Some
States have 150 to 200 children a year that are killed. You can see
it as a function of the kind of training that workers receive, how
closely integrated the different systems are with each other. In
California, again, because we are doing a lot of work there, in San
Diego recent{; , their legal expenditures—and you raised earlier the
question of paperwork, the legal expenditures in which children
who are accorded attorneys, was $1 million a year on a $100-mil-
lion-a-year budget.

The next largest jurisdiction we have been able to find was $1.8
million in Philadelphia, which happens to be the home of the Con-
stitution where they also are concerned about due process kinds of
considerations. So you have large numbers of people who are inter-
éening in these cases who are not really laying their hands on chil-

ren.

fou know, one of the case plans that you alluded to before in
terms of the workers not recording them, in San Diego County re-
cently we ran into a situation where a mother was told the only
way she can get her three children back, is if she visits them once
a week, she gets a job, and if she curbs her substance abuse.

She curbeg her substance abuse, she got a job. On Saturdays was
the day that she tried to see her kids because she was working. All
she had was public transportation. She couldn’t travel the entire
distance because the kids were in three different homes. It was
taking her 8 to 10 hours a day just to get to where the children
were. Because she was not able to visit them consistently, the chil-
dren were denied from returnir  to her. A $2,000 or $3,000 invest-
ment in an automobile would liave permitted this woman to take
over responsibility for her family.

So I think, on balance, our view is that the situation is chaotic.
Large numbers of children are being unnecessarily killed, raped
and injured. We have saen this in every single State. There is not
a sin fe State in the country that we would hold up as a model.
Certainly, some do a better job than others. And that is reflective
of the investment.

The other thing I would tell you is that we have becn involved
with Ms. Lowry's organization, the ACLU, of which I am a card-

GU=3d/ 0 - YH - Y




PAFullToxt Provided by ERIC
g

166

carrying member, and we have gotten deeply and intimately in-
volved with the States in crafting a response to those legal actions.
One of the things that we have discovered in doing that is that a
frequent and recurring attitude among locally elected officials and
Governors and State legislators around child welfare budgets is,
don’t ask and don't tell. They literally do not want to know.

They start out with a 95-percent funding request or 103-percent
funding request, but they do not want to target it to what the
States’s administrators are specifically identifying as the need. So
that simply returns to the point that there must be a strong Fed-
eral role in this process that accords maximum flexibility, that is
a partnership kind of a function. And one of our last recommenda-
tions, and then I will cease on this one, is that you consider creat-
ing a fast-forward national panel comprised of some of the people
that were here with strong representation of the States anci) local
governments to work with you and your staffs to craft something
very quickly in dealing with this issue.

he full dimensions of this problem have yet to be defined. We
estimate that there are between 0.5 and 1 million children a year
who are being sexually abused in this country and the overall re-
sponse to that is a very, very weak one.

Mr. MaTsul. Anybody have any comments?

Ms. LowRry. Yes, if I might. In response to the question that you
started off with, Mr. Matsui, if the Federal statutes were being en-
E‘orced, truly, we would see very different things happening in the
States.

I agree with Mr. Petit about his description of the problems. But
the general framework is in the statute now. It could be more spe-
cific, as I said in my testimony. But the statute already covers a
broad range of issues which, if implemented, would protect chil-
dren. And | think that is the real shame.

We could get a better one, but we haven't even enforced the one
we have got. And that is my concern about giving up on what we
have and going to something less. Not that things can’t be im-
proved. They always can. But if we were protecting children in the
Federal child cap—I am sorry, the child abuse statute already re-
guires not specifics, but that States have systems that will protect
kids who are reported for child abuse and plans that are supposed
to assure permanence. If we were doing that in the States, if any-
body were ensuring that the States were doing these things, I
think that we would have very different kinds of statements to
make today.

Mr. Matsul. And I didn’t mean to interrupt because 1 know oth-
ers—I will be very—I think Mr. Cooper has a comment. See, that
is what is a little troubling with respect to the last panel, is the
fact that these abusers and these murderers, that the gentleman
from Michigan—or Illinois talked about, you know, there is no
law—there are laws to make sure that doesn’t happen.

Maybe-—maybe Dr. Berger wants to comment on that, because I
want a dialog here. I want to find out what the problem is. But it
seems to me an issue—obviously, the system is overwhelmed. The
system is overwhelmed and I sce the frustration. But I would imag-
ine there are laws for carly intervention in those situations that,
obviously, wasn't done in the Hlinois case.
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Ms. LowRy. There really is no accountability. There are laws.
States have very specific statutes and then the Federal Govern-
ment has general statutes, but nobody is really following it. And
as flawed as the 427 audits were, and they were, they at least at
the beginning exercised some check that the States thought might
come down on them. Then as the audits went forward and it be-
came clear that they were not rigorous at all, then I think they
came to have less weight. But I think if there was a clear message
to the States, here are the basic minimal standards, you have got
to follow them or something bad will happen, and we very much
support the fact that Congress changed the sanctions so that there
could be constructive intervention into the State other than simpl
a bang funding cutoff, then I think you might see something difY-
ferent in the States.

Mr. MaTsul. Can | have—Dr. Berger. Yes.

Ms. BERGER. Yes. | would just like to make a comment of caution
on this. There is also a wave around this country which could only
be described, the abuse of child abuse.

Mr. MaTsui. What was that?

Ms. BERGER. The abuse of child abuse. In other words, we are
using child abuse disproportionately to try to put Federal regula-
tion requirements in place. We have laws in existence that punish,
and punish severely, people who abuse children: Parents, mothers
and especially the goyfriends of single mcthers, the live-in men in
the households. Such laws are alreagy in place. I do not know what
system you want to develop whereby we have even more monitor-
ing systems to develop, and costly, in addition. I furthermore do
not see what the difference is between State laws and Federal

laws. From my point of view, the rule of thumb is: The closer to
the bottom of society, the closer to the problem, the better you have
a chance of changing and improving the situation.
Mr. MATSUIL Let me ask Ey)'ou, thoth, you don’t want the current
e

criminal justice system to the on
the issue of child abuse, do you?

Ms. BERGER. I think this is your first line of defense and we all
rely upon this. The second line of defense would be to develop gen-
eral rules. But I do not see how you can have a Federal system of
rules that can be implemented and that works.

Mr. MaTsui. But, Dr. Berger, here is what the problem is,
though. I was on the city council 16 years ago. I was on there for
7, not quite 8 years. So, I mean, even then, we had problems in
terms of our ability to really, you know, give adequate protection
to our citizens. This was back in the early seventies, midseventies.
And the system is totally overwhelmed now.

If you get a call to the police department under 911, you know,
they are going to go to the armed robbery first. They are going to
go to a violent crime, but domestic violence is still not high on the
priorit{ list in terms of the average local police department. I can
just tell you, so you can’t rely upon that to make the case.

Ms. BERrGER. I would advise everyone to sit in courts and listen
to cases whereby children are taken away from their families. Very
often the rules of child abuse are very vague and at times even
very hazardous. Let me give you an example; if you don’t provide
a regular breakfast, a warm breakfast to your children—you abuse

y one responsible, though, for
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a child. The Federal stipulations are so ordinarily chaotic that you
no longer know what is abuse or what is not abuse.

Chairman JoHNSON. We must go on to the others and then we
can come back, if you would like to.

Mr. Johnson.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. You sure?

Chairman JOHNSON. Yes. Because you have been here through-
out the testimony.

Mr. JOHNSON OF Trxas. OK. Thank you.

I agree with you, Doctor. I think it is impossible for the Federal
Government to make its will known in the States. It is also im-
proper for us to regulate it that closely. And as a matter of fact,
this last election showed that people don’t want more regulation,
they want less.

I know in Texas, for example, the State courts do handle these
systems and there are those who slip through the cracks in any
system. And I think that if a parent is abusing a child, he is going
to get punished for it under our current laws. You are absolutel
right in saying it is better conducted closer to home. And I thanK
you for that comment.

Would you like to respond?

Ms. Bercer. May | just make another comment which occurred
to me all through this morning. Everyone talks about the single
importance of highly trained and credentialed child care workers.
I know one case Ms. Lowry has been involved in. A residential
school for disabled children—the single best person dealing with
these children was a Polish peasant with 6 years of education. This
person would no longer be employed because of the new Federal
laws that require credentials.

In other words, we are depriving ourselves of good people to care
for clients like the ones you are representing. There are many good
Eeop]e in every uncredentialed community. %o if you write out new

inds of stipulations, I would like them to be much more flexible
and not apply to credentialing. No amount of education can make
you into a good child care worker, and I know a lot about this be-
cause | have done reviews at residential homes for abused children.
So I am—1 am sorry, Mr. Matsui, that I come to that conclusion.
When 1 started out 30 years ago to work on such issues, I was on
your line, as well. It has been a bitter experience and I had to
rethink many issues.

Mr. PetiT. I think that the issue is not intervening in those
kinds of situations. The problem is the State right now has mag-
num force in intervening in the lives of people and. in many in-
stances, you don’t need the police and you certainly don’t need
child protective services. Many of the garden variety kinds of ne-
glect cases could be handled well by public health nurses, by com-
munity and socialworkers, and so forth.

What is missing right now across the country is an assessment
process that allows a good analysis of what is going on within a
household, being done by mature workers that allows them to se-
lect from a menu of services and says this is what we would like
to plug this family into. The great majority of these cases don’t
need State intervention, what they need is local community inter-
vention of a nonminimally intrusive kind of a nature.

1.0
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The problem right now is that the States, most of them, because
they are so strapped for cash, and especially locally, is that they
have a triage system. They are going out on only the most severe
cases. | know of virtually no system that has the luxury of remov-
ing children from their families because of something like improper
meals. Forget warm meals. Even if they are not doing meals, in
many instances, they will not intervene in those kinds of cases. The
States are not all equal on this.

I would just note, Mr. Johnson, in Texas, with all due respect,
there are more than 100 children a year who are killed in Texas
every single year. It is not one of the stronger systems that exists
nationally. And you know, there is no basis for the Federal Govern-
ment at this point interjecting itself into those situations at a pro-
tective level.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TrEXAS. But your statement, Mr. Petit, that
there is over 100 in Texas killed, from what cause?

Mr. PeTiT. From—at the hands of parents, at the hands of family
members.

Mr. JOHNSON OF Trxas. You know, I won't believe that unl:ss
you show me the precise cases.

Mr. PeTiT. I would be very happy to show you the cases.

|The following was subsequently received:]
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Mr. JOHNSON oF TEXAc. But in spite of that, what are they
across the Nation?

Mr. PETIT. Texas has one of the highest rates.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TExas. What is the total?

Mr. PETIT. Right now, about 1,300 cases minimally believed, but
in truth, the number is probably closer to 5,000. They frequently
get put down to something else.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Actual fact, you are saying 1,300 a year?

Mr. PETIT. Inflicted. If the mother is on a fifth story of a building
and she lets a 1-year-old child go out and play in traffic, does that
constitute a child abuse death? No. It would not be so counted pres-
ently. It would just simply be a motor vehicular accident. But in
the actual hands of the parents on the child, about 1,300 a year.

Mr. JOHNSON oF TEXAS. That is not child abuse in my view, ei-
“her. That is mismanagement. That is the parent not taking re-
sponsibility of her kid but it is not abusa.

Mr. PETIT. It is a seriously neglectful situation that resulted in
the child’s death and it is exactly the kind of thing the State right
now——

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. So you are saying the United States
should get involved in that and control that person’s life and tell
each parent when and where they can let their children play,
where and when they can let them ride a bicycle, where and when
they can cross the street?

Mr. PETIT. If parents are endangering the lives of their children,
since children are completely powerless and completely dependent
upon their parents for protecting them, somebody has to intervene.
That is why the states have created those child abuse laws.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. You are absolutely wrong.

Mr. PETIT. What I am saying to you is that the child abuse laws
as administered by the States vary widely, and in some States,
they vigorously protect these children, and in other States, they
30{1’1’. protect these children and that is why so many kids are

ying.

Mr. JOHNSON OF TExas. Where in our Constitution does it say
the U.S. Government has the responsibility to take care of those
kinds of situations?

Mr. PETIT. Life

Mr. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. We are a States-rights constitution, be-
lieve it or not, and that is what we are getting back to, trying to.

Mr. PeTiT. I think the Declaration begins with life, liberty and
the protection of happiness.

Mr. JOHNSON oF Texas. It does not say protection, the pursuit
of happiness, is the quote.

Mr. PETIT. Pursuit of happiness. I would say life is the first one.
These kids are dying because nobody is intervening on their behalf,
even though they are at-risk of being killed. If that isn’t going to
be intervened by government, who else is going to do it?

Mr. JOHNSON oF TExas. I am just going to say that I do not
agree with that statement, and would close my questioning at that
point.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you.

Mr. HerGER. Madam Chairman, if T could wke 1 second to syn-
thesize that, if I could please?
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Chairman JOHNSON. Very briefly. We do have to adjourn at 2:30
and we have two more questioners.

Mr. HERGER. Madam Chair, the comments from both the panel
and from the members of the committee have asked what ought to
be the lines of defense, how do we get protection for children, We
submit, at the Children’s Rights Councill), that the first line of de-
fense for children is the family. We need to look at policies that the
Federal Government has that get in the way of families doing their
functions, policies that interfere with the things that families know
how to do, policies that prevent families from Eeing the best protec-
tion for children they can be.

Take, for example, the simple issue of paternity establishment.
Every child in this country is born with, wants, loves, and needs
two garents. We have a system right now under which the greater
number of our welfare recipients don’t even know who their dad is,
and find that their dad is actively concealed from them by a wel-
fare system that doesn’t care about that dad, except to see him as
a nuisance.

Just to give you an example of one case we publicized a bit dur-
ing this summer, not that it is any different from many other
cases, but simply one we picked out. A man and a woman with low
income had a baby out of wedlock and decided to do the right
thing. Got married, moved in together, kept their minimum-wage
jobs. What was the response of the bureaucracy? What did they say
as soon as they found those people? They said: “Dad, you must
leave. You are hurting your child by being here.”

If we care about chilydren in this country, we have got to adopt
that physician’s law, “first, do no harm.” Get overnment out of the

business of damaging families and then see what we can do to help
families as a second step.

Chairman JoHNSON. Mr. Hancock.

Mr. HANcOCK. I was just thinking about this conversation be-
tween Sam and Mr. Petit. Evidently, I am a child abuser, because
there have been times when I didn’t have my ﬁye on my child 24

hours a day. I can think of a case where a small child recentl got
run over as a result of a car being left out of gear and the {ittle
child was out in the driveway.

I know the family real weﬁ, but they were not guilty of any form
of child abuse whatsoever. So I take offense to the extent that that
was carried. And I agree with Mr. Johnson, that this is not a func-
tion of the Federal Government.

Wasn’t the reason that we are holding this hearing to decide
whether we s%ould have block grants an(i;to get the Federal Gov-
ernment out of funding these various programs? According to most
of the testimony we have heard today, you can’ enforce the law.
We have got the laws but they can’t enforce them.

Well, if that is true, then why are we spending our time trying
to write some more laws that we can’t enforce? So it would appear
to me that we need to go back to square one. We need to get back
to where we start training and educating people again, teaching
that, ycs, you do have certain responsibilities and society is going
to have to address it.

I don’t think that government itself can address this question. I
think it is much deeper than that. It is the very moral fiber of our
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society. And you are not going to be able to do it by passing more
laws. We are going to have to be able to get back to where more
volunteerism is involved.

Ms. Lowry. Can I say one more thing?

Chairman JOHNSON. T am going to move on, if I may. I absolutely
have to leave at 2:30 and I left my questions till the end, and I
want to at least give us a chance to focus a little bit more carefully,
Ms. Lowry, on your challenge to the system. And I would like you
and Mr. Petit to address the issue of, if the system is failing as
badly as it is, and we have had a lot of testimony from a lot of dif-
ferent points of view that the system is not meeting the needs of
America’s children, it is also absolutely clear and we have put a lot
of new money into this system, we have basically tripled the dol-
lars in the last 5 years. There are not many programs in anyone’s
budget, public or private sector, Federal, State or local that we
have done that with, and yet we are not addressing the problem.

Mr. Murphy in the preceding panel said you are not getting to
the cause. Mr. Petit, that is what I hear you saying. I hear you say-
ing, from my notes, that the system is crushing us with paper, that
it is not working, and you mentioned getting serious about teen
pregnancy. Get serious about child care in every school. I would as-
sume, then, that teen parents would be sure to go to school, you
would require that.

These are basically more welfare reform issues than they are ac-
tually foster care reform issues. Then you mentioned be sure to re-
quire inservice training and a good assessment process with a
much greater, more flexible approach as to whom provides services.
I would assume, you would even then allow the community-level
church groups to develop, where the family support and frankly,
the Federal level can’t reach.

How do we bring together child services so that we get at Wade
Horn'’s 25 programs? I mean, this is ridiculous. What do we put to-
gether—you may not want to be specific on this. But what are the
things that should govern it and how do we hold it accountable and
how do we get around the very real problems that Ms. Lowry has
po.nted to, though her solution actually sort of sounds to me like
more of the same. I will give you plenty of time to answer.

I may have to duck out. And Mr. Cardin hasn’t had a chance to
speak, so I will ask one of my colleagues to take over. But if I don't
get a chance to finish this with you now, I am interested in your
input in the future.

Mr. PETIT. First of all, let me say that contrary to what sounded
like in my exchange with Mr. Johnson, that I absolutely fundamen-
tally believe, in the first instance, the role of government was to
enable families to manage their own affairs in as minimally an in-
trusive a way as possible. I agree, sir, you cannot deputize half the
population to watch the other half of the population, which is what
we are moving toward right now.

So, in the Erst instance, I think it is a question of we must en-
able people to learn how to be better parents. We are not doing se-
rious parenting around this country. It is a minimal kind of a pro-
gram that is being offered only to those people who are perceived
as being abusive
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We know much more about healthy human development than we
ever knew before. All of the other Western industrialized countries
have at the local level, not at a Federal level, but at a local level,
home visitor programs to young families, especially families who
are under the age of 21 years olc%.

When we asked a survey in North Dakota recently, we just did
this for the entire State of North Dakota, 89 percent of a statewide
survey of families said they would like to have a home visitation
program, not of child protective workers but of public health nurses
working with them. We also learned from 80 percent of the par-
ents, that they said parenting was more difficult, they believed,
than when their parents were parenting, and childhood is more dif-
ficult today than when they were children as well.

I think that there are two issues here that I would urge the com-
mittee to think about, one is a mechanical issue and it is the point
Mr. Matsui raised. There are 3 million children every year being
referred to legal organizations, governments that are supposed to
examine those cases. That business of the mechanics of child wel-
fare, what happens from the point that somebody dials 911 to the
point of achieving a safe, permanent situation for children is a tre-
mendously ignored area.

There has been no court representation here today. They are
deeply involved with this whole matter, and right now, it is a very
highly legalistic process, that everybody agrees lawyers don’t put
their hands on children. We need other people to be able to do that
kind of thing. So all the steps in that process we would urge you
to take a look at.

But the other issue that is surrounding all this are the causative
factors that don’t have anything to do with the mechanics of all of
this stuff but have to do instead with the question of what is con-
tributing to this problem in the first instance. We would submit
right now that we have created a spawning ground, that will en-
sure that the country will be dealing with this for the next 20 or
30 years, unless we do much more front-end kind of work.

And in North Dakota right now, their legislature is debating a
report that we have just prepared for them. It was convened by the
legislature. It was a year-and-a-half long assessment. It involved
more than 2,000 citizens in focus group discussions, all of the State
agencies, all the local agencies trying to push decisionmaking down
as finite as possible, all geared at how can families and then com-
munities take care of their own neceds.

We believe that children do best when families are attentive to
their needs. Families do best when communities are attentive to
their needs. And the reality is the country has not adjusted to the
changing demographics in the post-World War II period, that basi-
cally has large numbers of adults outside the home with nobody
watching children. That is a fundamental consideration irrespective
of your income level.

They are going to embrace, we believe, perhaps, universal child
care in North Dakota, using junior and senior high school students
to run the child care facilities, with an appropriate adult, and with
seniors, so the kids learn what parenting is all about. There is no
role modeling going on, and to learn what a serious job it is.
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So my point is, there are legal issues involved when the kids are
brought to the system, that the courts and child welfare need to
protect children who are literally at-risk of being injured or sexu-
ally assaulted. And when you have judges say to you, and prosecu-
tors say to you, that I know that there are kids right now, we know
who they are, we believe they are at home with their perpetrator
and we don’t have the hooks legally to get our hands into them,
that is a question that I think needs to be addressed one State at
a time, with some Federal oversight and support.

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you.

Ms. Lowry, I do want you to answer this question. I want you
to answer it fully. I may have to walk out in the middle, but I will
talk with you about it later so I will hear the rest of what you said.
I think it is important for the record, it is important for the com-
mittee.

I am going to turn the gavel over to Mr. Hancock so that Mr.
Cardin will %ave a chance to question, if he cares to, or they will
have a chance to follow up, if they care to.

Ms. Lowry. Thank you.

On the question of more—whether this—what I am recommend-
ing is simply more of the same. Let me say a couple of things. The
kinds of things that Mr. Petit is talking about, different kinds of
programs, better programs, teenage pregnancy, front-in services,
all that is not contrary to what I am saying.

All I am saying is, number one, things aren’t good now but look
where they were in 1980. Nobody had an idea of what a case plan
was or the need to have a case plan. We didn’t know how many
kids there were. They were out in large institutions in the country.
There were families that would have adopted them and they
weren't being asked.

Witness the fact that after the statute passed in 1980, when we
had a population of 500,000, the population dropped to 270,000
within the next 3 years. So I am not saying that things are great
now, goodness knows, anybody who has looked at any of the law-
suits, knows that I don’t think that things are better now, are OK
now. But we need to have legally enforceable standards and they
are not standards that say how many hours a day you have to keep
your child within your eyesight. They are standards that say, as a
general matter, w{:en things get so {wad that the government gets
involved, not when somebody just walking dowr the block gets in-
volved, but when it gets so bad—and what we are talking about
really is kids who are left alone in their homes for 3 days with no
food. That is really the kind of stuff we are talking ahout and that
1s very common.

I don’t know any—just like Mr. Petit, | don’t know any system
that is worried about a hot breakfast for a kid. They are worried
about the kids dying of malnutrition because that is what we are
talking about. at I am saying is, we have got to have those gen-
eral standards and they have got to be enforceable.

You asked me, I think, Mr. Hancock, a few minutes ago, what
difference does it make, the laws aren’t being followed? Well, either
they can be followed by virtue of the Federal Government exercis-
ing some general oversight responsibility, allowing the States flexi-
bility to decide how they are going to protect kids, but then making
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sure that they have got some program that protects kids, or they
can get followed in the way that my organization, the Children’s
Rights Project becomes involved. And that is when States sink so
far below a minimally acceptable level, as happened in the District
of Columbia—which is not a State, of course, but nevertheless, was
held to the Federal standard—the kids have to get their day in
court, not on individual situations, although they form part of the
information, but when you have a system that has workers that
car('iry caseloads of 150, that is not a system that can protect any-
body.

And so that is the importance of looking at this from a systemic
perspective and from having general, enforceable standards that ei-
ther the States will follow, %ecause otherwise, the Federal Govern-
ment is going to bother them, or worse comes to worse—and, obvi-
ously, it should be the last recourse, somebody is going to make
them talk about in front of a Federal judge.

Mr. HANCOCK [presiding]. The gentfeman from Maryland.

Mr. CARDIN. Thank you.

Let me thank each of you for your testimonies today. This is, ob-
viously, an extremely important subject, and we are trying to seek
good advice as to what we should do. I guess the frustrating part
1s I haven’t yet met anyone who doesn’t think the system is in need
of significant change. Where we seem to be frustrated is what type
of change will bring about a constructive result. And we haven't
been able to come to, I think, a consensus on that. And I am hoping
that your testimony will help us to reach some agreement.

I agree with Mr. Petit, in that the welfare of our children is the
responsibility of all of us, starting first with our families, but gov-
ernment has certainly a very important role when it comes to the
welfare of our children. And I strongly believe in federalism. Sec-
tion 427 reviews have been troublesome to my State and they have
been in to see me about changes.

So I guess my question to Mr. Cooper, who has done such a won-
derful job here in Maryland: What if we were not to have Federal
standards at all? What impact do you think that would have on our
children? What response sﬁou]d the States come forward with?

Mr. CooPER. The hearing today is focused on the 427 require-
ments and, for example, the periodic review that looks at the case
plan and says are we Foing in the right direction for the child? I
think even our Federal—our State a ministrators, as well as our
citizen reviewers, would agree we should have that and we have to
have that. And if the Federal Government takes that away, we will
have to put it back in through State laws. So that is something we
need to keep.

I think we have missed a point here today, and I am just speak-
ing for myself. But the IV-E requirement, one, that pays the foster
care maintenance payment to the State, is costing States a lot of
administrative waste.

What happens? If a child comes into foster care and they are on
AFDC, or they would have been on AFDC, the Federal Government
will pay a share. If they wouldn’t have been on AFDC, maybe it
was that family Mr. Henry was talking about, where both parents
work the minimum wage. Well, we won't pay for that child. So
what happens in Maryland, we spend about $1 million a year de-
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termining whether the kid was poor enough. What does that have
to do with it and what Federal interest is advanced by making that
determination?

I think that is a significant area of paperwork reduction that we
could do, and that is not to say that we should do away with some
other requirements, like the fact that before a child is brought into
foster care, a court should have found that there were reasonable
efforts to try to help the family keep the child safe within the fam-
ily. We ought to keep that, but throw out the income redetermina-
tion.

I think we need more research into some of these issues like
when is family preservation appropriate. I think that the Federal
Government could make a real contribution there, because I don’t
think we now—I think we have to keep working on the courts.
There is a small Federal amount of money to get ﬁ'xe courts to im-
prove themselves, and I think we need to keep doing that.

Mr. CARDIN. Let me try to have you focus on Federal standards
for just one moment. Is your concern that if we were not to have
Federal standards, there would be a lack of uniformity among the
States, or are you afraid that the States would not establish ade-
quate standards in order to protect our children?

Mr. CooPER. I am particularly—I have to say from my point of
view, I am particularly afraid of the States right now that don’t
have citizen review. Because I think in Maryland, where we have
400 citizens actively now and probably 1,000 citizens that have
been through and heard cases about—Ilike Ms. Howze's case, we
would have reviews in Maryland and we would get them enforced.

I mean, the Federal Government, in putting that requirement,
made a big difference in our effectiveness in setting up, and I think
we are there now. But what about—if citizens reviewed 50,000
kids, then that is about 10 percent. What really concerns me is
that I think that—and Mr. Petit spoke about the tremendous vari-
ations that we have in child welfare. So, yes, uniformity of quality
is a big concern. And we need to—we neeti,t,o malke these—we need
to look at these requirements again to get more outcome oriented.
I am going to try to write in some suggestion about that.

Mr. CARDIN. Let Mr. Petit have a chance.

Mr. PETIT. Let me say, right now, the States are not burdened
by much in the way of stangards. There are 11 volumes of stand-
ards by the Child Welfare League. There are many volumes on the
Council of Accreditation. There are no Statcs in compliance, be-
cause they are on a volunta?' basis.

They have been around for years and years. The States have
caseload ratios that range from 15 to 1 to 20 to 1, to some in-
stances, at a practical level, 120 to 1, which is impossible to do se-
rious casework on that.

We think the States and the Federal Government, working with
private volunteer agencies ought to actually agree on what stand-
ards to hold themselves to jointly, and then based on that, ought
to create the tension within the system that everybody holds each
other accountable.

Right now, there are no real standards that arc uniformly ap-
plied, and the States are rarely, if ever, sanctioned as a result of
this. And I don’t think this is a question of Big Brother, Federal

¥er
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Government watching the States. The difficuity is with a country
as big as ours, and with much of this being done with local jurisdic-
tions with county assistance, who provides technical assistance to
the States and counties that want to do a better job in this area?

Mr. CARDIN. That was my point. You see inconsistencies within
States because of local governments?

Mr. PETIT. We see inconsistencies within States, we see incon-
sistencies within counties, and we see inconsistencies within five
socialworkers responsible to the same supervisory officer. In many
instances, they are freelancing on their own, making decisions
about who comes, who goes, what the point of intervention will be.

That is what happens when there is a lack of vigorous account-
ability, training. The States ought to be holding themselves ac-
countable, and it is very weak in many jurisdictions.

Mr. CARDIN. I will give Ms. Lowry t¥1e last 30 seconds.

Ms. LOowRrY. Thank you.

There are general standards in the Federal law now. They are
very %zeneral. And the States can do a wide range of activities and
comply. But there are standards that say there has to be a case
plan within a specified time.

The case plan has to say specific things. The plan has to work
toward permanence. The cgildren have to be in homes or facilities

that generally conform with nationally acceptable standards, hence,
Mr. Petit’s organization, standards.

Again, there is a wide range of flexibility, but it is a framework.
They can’t take a kid into care and not plan for the kid at all.

On the other hand, they can try all different approaches to tlg'

to achieve permanence for a kid. So there are some minimal stan
anls. They are not very stringent and the State really can enforce
them a lot of different ways. But taking those away and leaving
nothing, I fear, would be very, very bad for kids.

Ms. DRrIVER. May I speak to your question?

Mr. CARDIN. Sure. I would urge, though, that we look at not nec-
essarily making the Federal standards more stringent or more re-
laxed, but making it a system that can work. The current system
is not working, so we need to figure out a way in which there is
really a partnership with the Federal Government working with
the States in a realistic regulatory system.

Ms. Lowry. Right. If I may, I think one step has been taken in
that direction by changing the 427 sanctions. It used to be that if
the Federal Government reviewed a State and found that it didn’t
meet the standards, the Federal Government’s only option was to
simply cut off funds, which wasn’t very helpful to a State that was
floundering. Now, as a result of some Kegis]ation that passed in the
fall, the State—the Federal Government has an escalating series of
activities, including providing technical assistance to the State.
That is a way to, I think, work better.

Mr. CARDIN. No question, we improved it. We still have some old
issues that are outstanding.

Ms. Lowry. Without a doubt. But the problem isn’t, I think, as
Mr. Petit says, that anybody says the States were overburdened
with standards. They are very loose standards. The problem is
there hasn’t been any pressure to make them comply with even the
lovse standards that exist.




Mr. CARDIN. Thank you.

Ms. Driver.

Ms. DRIVER. Yes. In response to your question about standards
in States that don’t have citizen review, Iowa, has just—is buildin
up its citizen review system now under legislative mandate ang
they are under a trial. A case plan is, one would think, a normal
thing when you take a child from a home, and one of the things—
mind you, 98—96-272 has been in existence since 1980. You would
think that there would be case plans in every case in the State of
Towa.

And I am not trying to pick on Iowa. It is just that this is one
State where we have %een gathering some data. And the number
of children who did not have case plans was incredible, until foster
care review boards came into existence, and they have seen a
marked increase in the number of case plans.

And I would like to, on another subject, thank you for your inter-
est in the subject and the question of citizen review and oversight,
for working to get some report language in the Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act 2 years ago.

Mr. CARDIN. Thank you.

Ms. DRrIVER. Thank you.

Mr. CarDIN. Thank you for your patience, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. HANcOCK. The Chair would like to thank you for your testi-
mony and taking the time to give us some very useful information.

With that, this hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 2:45 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]

[Submissions for the record follow:|
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Benbrook Insurance Agency, Inc
901 Main Street -- P O. Box 1267
Woodward, OK  73802-1267
Phone 403 236-5766 - Fax 405 254-2605

February 6, 1995
Philiz > Moseley

Chiet of Staff, Committee on Ways and Means
U S House of Representatives

1102 Longworth House Office Building
Washington DC 20515

RE Tesumony to the Ways and Means Sub-Committee
concerning Establishment of Citizen Review of Child Placement

Dear Mt Moseley

L am volunteer reviewer on a Citizen Review Board in Oklahoma and Vice Chau
s it > Oklahoma State Review Board and | would like to communicate my
thoughts to the Sub-Committee concerning the need for citizen review

One of the first cases | reviewed involved "Rhonda”, eight, who had been
sexually abused by her mother s boy friend. She and her brother, “Jake” were
aba:.joned by their mother in 1992 when the State took custody Parental nghts
woie ierminated quickly and the children were placed in foster care

hiwrda’'s emotional problems and sexual acting out were severe Jake, a brght

five year old. did not exhibit the same problems it was obvious that adoptive

- arerits for Rhonda were going to be difficult to find  Even though it would be
rreferred to place these children together, our review board asked the court to
cens.der separate placement  An adoptive family was found for both children
vt it falled after six months  In the spring of 1993 the children were placed
together it therapeutic foster care  They receve counseling from a psychologist
0 help them recover from the failed placement

In two months this case will be three years old  Rhonda is eleven and Jake is
eight Rhionda s behavior is better. but she still acts out sexually and might be
Jescribed as a pubescent Lolita that seeks aftection sexually Jake remains an
nteligent little boy

1. ¢ poilcies and procedures of Human Services require that they make every
«ffort to place these children together This 1s commendable but very limiting for
lahe The Reviewer's job s to point out to the Court that even though the bond
te00en these childrenis very strong another failed adoption will cause great
«1ant dage to both children [t may be in Jake's best interest to place him
sepatately providing for visitation with Rhonda Rhonda will remain in foster care
m Al a separate placement for her can be found Itis unfair to use Jake as bait
su that these children can be placed together

Catizen revieve 1s mandated (o rtecommend to the court what 1s 1n the best interest
tfthe childien While courts may not have time to hear from everyone involved
vetb these childien, we communicate with foster parents, schools, physicians.
tounselors. attorneys and others to gather information about these children

We then make recommendations 1o the court thot are not constraned by
unndreds of pages of policies and procedures These recommendations reflect

thee standards and expectations of our communitics where we aid tnese children
fvr




Citizen Reviewers make recommendations to the court that onginate from a
desire to meet the needs of the child and protect society without the constraints
of agency policies or the limitations imposed by procedural rules. When Human
Services and the court work with the Citizen Reviewers as members of a team
committed to the needs of society instead of as adversaries, the collaboration
has a positive impact.

Citizen review should be required for every child in the State’s care to msure that
all children and families in the system receive appropriate services Thus
reducing the tendency to slap a Band-Aid on family problems only to see the
families reappear a short time later for another Band-Aid.

Reviewers should conduct administrative reviews every six months to ascertain
appropriatenes. and effectiveness of service plans. Such reviews would assure
that plan and court goals are being met and reduce need for semi annual court
review. Such a forum should also seek independent input from the children.
parents, foster parents, schools. physicians and other service providers that
generally do not communicate to the court or with each other. This is an
inexpensive way to reduce the stress on the court system caused by excessive
case loads while retaining the quality and appropriateness of services proviced

Uniform data gathered by review boards and compiled by the State and Nationa.
Association of Reviewers would be useful to Congress in evaluating the efficacy
of service providers, agency policies and court operation. This informatic.:
system will have a low implementation and maintenance cost This mnformation
flow would also be unencumbered by the bureaucratic infrastructure th:at
bedevils the current Juvenile and Child Welfare systems

As members of the community citizen reviewers have a unique capacity 10 s2¢
that the services received by troubled children their families are approprdie W
welcome the opportunity to serve the our children, families. commun:ties an.i
courts

Mac Benbrook

Ol Sl

Citizen Reviewer and
Vice Chair. Oklahoma State Review Board

cc by fax Donna S. Steele. Counsel
Commitiee on Oversight
202 225-9680
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STATEMENT OF ROSEMARY WINDER STRANGE
DIRECTOR OF sociaL SERVICES
CATHOLIC CHARITIES USA

Madame Chairwoman, Thank you for the opportunity to provide writien testimony regarding
block granting and 427 reviews. We oppose block granting 10 the states these federally
mandated programs as well as the climination of the requirements of section 427,

e Catholic Charities USA is the nation's largest, private, social service organization. The network
B of 1,400 agencies and institutions and thousands of concerned individuals works 10 reduce
poverty, support families, and €mpower communities in the United States.

People of all religious, national, racial, social, and ec
Catholic Charities. We provide a full range of serv
modem homes and treatment centers for children.

onomic backgrounds receive services from
ices to families and children., We operate

Catholic Charities USA promotes public policies and strategies that address human needs and
social injustices. More than 10 million people turned to Catholic Charities for help in 1993,

Three million of thosc individuals were children and adolescents who were 17 years of age or
younger,

Catholic Charities agencies have a long and
for children in need of families. Even befor

i 7 ] Catholic Charities USA) was founded, our agencies were providing quality permanent placement
- plans for children available for adoption.

undermine families.

The Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act was signed into law in Junc 1980. This

legislation (P.L. 96-272) addresses matters that pertain to both the entry and exit of children
. from care. Itincludes measures to stop the drift that characterized the tenure of many children
. in placement. The law requires that states know what is happening to children in their care, and
it redefines the relationship between federal and state government with respect to children at risk
of placement and those already in care. This is accomplished mainly through a fiscal

. restructuring that offers states incentives to accomplish the goals of the act.

Public Law 96-272, the Adoption Assistance
protection under Section 427 of the act correct
to see revisited. A whole range of services to
the family unit; and when placement is neces

and Child Welfare Act of 1980, and the child
ed many abuses of the past which we do not want
children and their parents are necessary to support
sary. to reunite the family as quickly as possible,

In 1993 Catholic Charities agencies cared for 51,403 children in
homes and foster home care. These children were from all cconomic levels who could not Jive r
with their parents for a variety of reasons including the child's treatment needs and parental
ncglect and abuse. Qur services allowed familics to stay together. Other times our services

— determined which children needed to be removed from their homes, temporarily or permanently,
This range of services is what is required by the 427 reviews, )

residential facilities, group

We acknowledge that there have been abuses in the i
reviews. In an effort to speedily return children 1o t
which are not always in the best interests of the child
views Pubhc Law 96-272 as a step in the nght direction

\lerpretation and application of the 427
heir parents, discharge plans are made
or the family. Catholic Charitics USA
while acknowledging its shortcomings,
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We too are concerned about the abuses. Residential care is sometimes the level of care a
particular child needs at a particular time, but foster care is seen as "least restrictive.” As a
result, many children are bumped from foster home to foster home and risk becoming
emotionally disturbed. These children eventually require more expensive residential care and
treatment. Some children never get a stable home. Due to funding shortages, child protective
services and other child welfare services are understaffed, and workers are poorly trained.
Eliminating any of the requirements of P.L. 96-272 and the other federal child protections would
set the field of child welfare back fourteen years and would be a detriment to the children and
families of our nation. Let's correct the abuses, but let’s not wipe out what has been
accomplished.

We fear that block granting federal child welfare services and foster care programs back to the
states will limit the funds available for these critical children's services as demands increase.
Adoption assistance and foster care are entitlements to individuals. Block granting would change
the nature of the child's right to a protective safe environment either through the foster care or
adoption system.

Thank you for this opportunity to offer testimony to The Ways and Means Subcommuttee On
Oversight,
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Courts shouid be reguired o “'.“'“’e such review informacion ip

i1 judicial reviews ol o¢n nolegal custooy.
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Federal funding agency for reg ing ro Congress on the utilization
of Federa. funds
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1 want (o express my sincere thanks to the Honorable Nancy L.
ason and the members cf Lhe Subcormittee on Cversight of the
vtee on Ways and Means for the opportunity to provide
imzny on the structure and funding of child welfare programs at
Aeval level. Your commitment to moving guickly to review and
4ress areas of federal/state relations that involve mandates and
Lage bur.dens on states 1s greatly appreciated and long overdue.

child welfare needs and costs have multiplied, federal
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cnsive, especially for a county adnministered child welfare
system such as Pennsylvania‘s. For these reasons, I am
recernending that the Title IV-B Section 427 requirements be
eliminated or, if this is not possible, that each state be able to

self cortify thﬂu it meets the requirements of Section 427.

Kext, I will address the planri "y reguirements ceorntained in
Title IV-B as amended by the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of
1493 (ORRA ’93) anc na)e a recommendation on future funding of
5tate child welfare service progranss

dud Tatle IV-B to create a new capped entitlement
for fanily support and family preservation services. OuRA
uthorites formula granis to states totaling $60 million in
deral Fiscal Year 1994 and 'ncreasxng to $255 million by Federal
sval yeur 19%8 to fund the new farmily support and family
preservation gprogram. Pennsylvania‘s share of these funds was
2360 million for Federal Fiscal Year 1994 and will be $9.755
rillion in Federal Fiscal Year 1998. While trese funds are needed
cylvania, we are concerned that the creation of ancther
“anrical program will further fragment funding and limit state
exiprlity to meet cpecific state needs.

v Y3 also uLangcd and expanded the state plan 3 ired
el‘gxo.; to receive Title IV-B funds, The new *1L]L Iv-B
~juirerents are rore extensive and prescriptive than the
v planning required by Title 1v-p. he now p]ann‘nu
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WRITTEN COMMENTS8 FROM
CAROL A. BRUNTY, COMMISSIONER
VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF S8OCIAL SERVICES FOR
THE COMMITTEE ON WAYS8 AND MEANS
S8UBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSBIGHT

February 7, 1995

Public Law 96-272, the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of
1980, was passed to provide valuable protections for children that
were at risk of out-of-home placements. Prior to this legislation,
systems among the states varied radically. It was not unusual for
children to be caught in "foster care drift" and "forgotten
children” was a descriptive term for these children. With passage
of Public Law 96-272, public policy was changed and states were
held accountable for the children in their care. Permanency
planning became the goal and services were focused on keeping
children with their birth families. Tf children had to be removed,
Public Law 96-272 sought to assure (i) return to safe birth homes,
or (ii) timely placement with adoptive families. To achieve this
goal, states were required to develop and implement automated
information systems, case reviews and service planning. Compliance
was to be determined through federal audits which were to focus on
18 specifically identified safeguards.

Virginia was one of the first states to make effective use of the
permanency planning concept. We embraced the permanency planning
philosophy, instituted a system of case review, and developed an
automated tracking system as early as 1976. Conseguently, by June
1994, there were 6313 children in foster care throughout the state,
This was 4990 (44%) fewer children in care than in 1976 when the
permanency planning concept was initiated.

Few child welfare professionals will argue with the philosophical
intent of the Act. Through implementation, the lives of children

have been positively impacted. More children are being kept in
their birth families, the length of time a child remains in foster
care has decreased, and more children are achieving adeption than
ever before.

Nevertheless, we still have a long way to go in meeting the
critical needs ot children and families. There are three issues
that merit serious consideration: accountability, flexibility, and
resources to carry out the intent of the Act.

Accountability

Although significant progress was made after the protections of
Section 427 of the Social Securit; Act were developed, the federal
approach to monitoring these requirements has focused more on
procedural requirements and checking of boxes than on quality of
service provision. For example, the focus of federal reviews has
been on the timeliness of administrative panel reviews and
dispositional hearings rather than on the service outcomes.
Similarly, the existence of a service plan has been seen as the
critical element, rather than the actual service planning process
and the services that were provided.

While this approach may have been appropriate initially to ensure
uniform compliance among states, we need to move beyond just a
paper review to a monitoring process that focuses on the true
intent ot the Act. Passage of a 427 audit, as it currently exists,
has 1ittle to do with the effectiveness of a child welfare program.
More than half of the states are involved in some kind of child
welfare litigation or ave operating under consent decrees. Many of
these states had passed 427 audits without ditficulty. The time has
come for us teo beqin looking at the appropriateness and quality of
services being provided and at the outcomes being achieved as a
result of these services,




whether monitoring continues to be a function of the federal
government or is taken over by the states, this type of monitoring
is certain to present a tremendous challenge. However, movement in
this direction is essential if we are to reform and improve the
child welfare system while building on the knowledge we have gained
in the past decade.

Flexibility

Flexibility is also an essential component of any attempt to reform
current systems. Virginia has recently redesigned its approach to
service provision. In 1992, the General Assembly enacted
legislation entitled the Comprehensive Services Act. Passage of
this act dramatically altered the administrative and funding
systems providing services to at-risk youth and families. The
purpose of the act was to create a collaborative system of services
and funding that is child-centered, family-focused and community-
based. Services and funding are consistent with the Commonwealth’s
p011c1es of prescrving families and providing appropriate services
in the least restrictive environment, while protecting the welfare
of children and maintaining the safcty of the public. Early
intervention, interagency collaboration, family involvement, public
and private partnerships, and community flexibility in decision-
making and the utilization of funds characterize this innovative
system.

With this act, an administrative structure was developed and
funding from '1vc human service agencies was combined to carry out
this initiative, Although fxndans from numerous studies indicated
that redesign of Virginia’s service system was essential and that
the proposed structure was the most effective and cost efficient,
implementation was an unnecessary challenge because of existing
categorical funding limitations. Cateqor1ca1 funding from the
federal government has inhibited Virginia’s ability to de-
categorize the needs of children and families even with our new
system.

The bottom line is that we believe we are doing some things right
in the Commonwealth. Virginia is not unique, nor is it any more
creative than other states. Given the opportunity, states have
proven their ability to develop programs and services that meet the
needs of their citizens and that are cost effective. Therefore, we
would advocate for a reduction in costly and burdensome federal
regulations and an increase in state flexibility.

current fundlnq streams limit populations that can be served,
creativity in developing services needed by local communities, and
flexibility by states to improve services to their citizens. Block
granting, which would allow more flexxbxllty and creativity on the
state level, could be advantageous in moving toward more effective
service systems. Effective block granting would include indexing
that will accommodate statc population growth, triggers that allow
"uncapping" of the block grant during times of increases in the
child welfare cascload, and incentives for states that are based on
achievement of positive outcomes, rather than punitive penalties
for not meeting process requirements.

Regsources

Although block granting has the potential for cncouraging more
creativity and tlexibidity on the state level, careful
consideration must be given to the structure of any block grant
design.

curvent ly, Title V=g, which pxuvidum states with tundinq for
aministration, training, and maintenance expenses is an open ended
entitlerent proqram.  With the ereation of bleck grants, funding
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could be capped at a level that would restrict the development of
innovative programs and services and which would preclude the

state’s ability to develop qualified resources. Observation of
those states that have undergone consent degrees, as a result of
suite being filed by the Americam Civil Liberties Union, shows that
resources are one of the most critical componente in an effective
service delivery system. with increased, qualified resources,
outcomes for children in these systems have improved significantly.

Summary

The federal government has taken an essential leadership role in
shaping the direction of child welfare service systems. Federal
427 reviews were instrumental in moving states away from antiquated
systems that encouraged foster care drift toward service systems
that resulted in beneficial outcomes for children and families.
Progress now demands that we move beyond the traditional monitoring
approach to an approach that forces states to move even further
toward positive outcomes. Block grants have the potential for
giving the states necessary and appropriate flexibility in
developing approaches that best meet the needs of thelr citizens.
Structuring of block grants must include indexing for population
growth and incentives for achievement of positive outcomes.

The challenge before us 1is structuring a funding stream that
contains the components of public accountability, flexibility for
individual states, and incentives for achievement of positive
outcomes. We believe the concepts of Public Law 96-272 are still
valid, but future measurement of state child welfare systems must
be based on achievement of agreed upon outcomes or benchmarks that
are child centered, family focused, and community based.
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